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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (“STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this Annual
Report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this Annual Report.

This Annual Report, for which the directors (“Directors”, and
each a “Director”) of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited
("Company ") collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange ("GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this Annual Report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this Annual Report misleading.

This Annual Report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company
Information” page of the website of the Stock Exchange at
http://iwww.hkexnews.hk for a minimum period of seven days
from the date of its publication and on the website of the
Company at http.//www.hangtaiyue.com.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (“Board”), | hereby present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022. During the
year under review, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$134,373,000 (2021: HK$1,799,501,000), representing a
decrease of 93% as compared with that in last year due to the
Group’s disposal of its entire interest in Concord-Linked Limited
("CL Borrower”), a former subsidiary of the Company, in
December 2021 and the Group’s deemed disposal of Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings Limited (“Walletku Disposal”) in June 2022.
The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately HK$9,925,000 (2021: HK$10,841,000).

OVERVIEW

During the year under review, the Group continued to adopt
a diversified business development strategy and the principal
activities of the Group were (i) mobile internet business; (ii)
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia; (iii) money
lending business; and (iv) assets investments business.

During the year under review, revenue generated by the mobile
internet business segment of the Group decreased significantly
due to the Group’s disposal of its entire interest in the CL Borrower
in December 2021 and the Walletku Disposal in June 2022. The
profit generated by the mobile internet business segment of the
Group improved due to the combined effects of (i) the Group's
disposal of its entire interest in the CL Borrower, which had
been loss-making up to the completion of the Forced Sale (as
defined and explained in the paragraph headed “Mobile internet
business” below) in December 2021; (ii) the disposal resulted in a
gain on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately HK$79,013,000
during the year ended 31 December 2021, which was absent
during the year ended 31 December 2022; and (iii) the Walletku
Disposal resulted in net gain on disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately HK$26,907,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERHREE

During the year under review, the Group was engaged in the
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia through its
venue located in Victoria, Australia, namely the Balgownie Estate
Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley (“Balgownie”). The revenue
generated by the Group from this business segment for the year
under review improved as compared with that in last year mainly
due to the gradual relaxation of the restrictions imposed by the
government of the state of Victoria (“Victorian Government”)
to combat the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19"). As at
the date of this Annual Report, Balgownie is allowed and has
remained open to in-house guests and the public. The occupancy
rate of Balgownie during the year under review was approximately
75%, which improved from approximately 44% in 2021. The
Group expects that the situation will continue to improve with the
government'’s decision to end the pandemic declaration coupled
with strong demand for domestic travel.

On 8 February 2021, the Group entered into two sale and
purchase agreements with certain independent third parties in
respect of (i) the business of Cleveland (“Cleveland Business”);
(i) the assets used in the Cleveland Business (except for
the stocks of wine); and (iii) the site at which the Cleveland
Business operated (collectively, the “Cleveland Disposals”),
at an aggregate consideration of AUD4,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,803,000). The Cleveland Disposals were
completed on 5 May 2021, upon which the assets and the
financial results of Cleveland ceased to be accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. Details of the
Cleveland Disposals are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 8 February 2021.

During the year under review, the share of the results of associates
was approximately HK$11,476,000 (2021: HK$21,425,000).
The decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in the
Group's share of the profit of one of the Group'’s associates from
approximately HK$24,023,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately HK$14,165,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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During the year under review, the profit of the Group decreased
from approximately HK$10,841,000 during the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately HK$9,925,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly attributable
to the combined effects of (i) the improvement in the results
of the Group’s mobile internet business of approximately
HK$63,212,000, as a result of the Group's disposal of its entire
interest in the CL Borrower, which had been loss-making up to
the completion of the Forced Sale (as defined and explained
in the paragraph headed “Mobile internet business” below) in
December 2021 and the disposal resulted in a gain on disposal
of a subsidiary of approximately HK$79,013,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2021, which was absent during the year
ended 31 December 2022; (ii) the insurance compensation which
was approximately HK$12,828,000 (2021: HK$51,172,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2022, which representing a
decrease of approximately HK$38,344,000 as compared with that
of last year; (iii) the Walletku Disposal in June 2022 which resulted
in net gain on deemed disposal of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$26,907,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022; (iv)
the income generated from the provision of administrative and
management services for a subsidiary of the Group’s associate,
which operates a laboratory in Hong Kong, which amounted to
approximately HK$16,005,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil); and (v) the TH Disposals (as defined and
explained in the paragraph headed “Assets Investments Business”
below) which resulted in an aggregate loss on disposals of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") of
approximately HK$9,034,000 during the year ended 31 December
2021, which was absent during the year ended 31 December
2022.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, as nations around the globe opened their borders
with the significant relaxation of the pandemic prevention policies,
the Group believes that the economy will recover in an orderly
manner in the coming year, which is expected to have a positive
impact on the Group'’s businesses. In order to improve its financial
performance and generate greater value for the shareholders of
the Company (“Shareholders”), the Group had completed the
Cleveland Disposals in May 2021, which would not only allow
the Group to reduce the costs required for it to run its business
in the provision of hospitality and related services in Australia,
but also enable it to redirect its resources to the development of
Balgownie, which is expected to achieve a more rapid recovery
due to its competitive advantages, such as its geographical
location, which is in an area popular among tourists.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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As Balgownie is partnering with Australia’s largest day spa brand,
Endota Spa (“Spa Partner”), for the brand new day spa in
Balgownie, more rental income will be generated from the Spa
Partner for the Group. The Group will also sell the Spa Partner’s
products and services in the spa venues to generate additional
income relating to the day spa. During the year under review,
the Group launched a new “Wellness Retreat” product/service
with the Spa Partner and is the first to provide such product/
service in Yarra Valley. The new “Wellness Retreat” was introduced
with wellness packages/experiences that include (i) nutrition and
nourishment by the provision of curated menus for a healthy diet;
and (ii) calming activities such as meditation, yoga, pilates and
gigong. Holistic or alternative healing and medical/rehabilitation
spa experiences are currently expected to be launched in 2023,
which are subject to the approval and availability of medical/
health practitioners. The Group expects to leverage on the brand
and client base of the Spa Partner and gain new visitations in the
leisure and corporate segment, and attract more customers to
Balgownie. In February 2022, the new restaurant began to accept
bookings from off-site customers in addition to in-house guests
staying at Balgownie to enjoy the dining experience. With the new
restaurant (together with the existing function centre) reaching a
maximum capacity of approximately 270 customers, the Group
will provide banquet services such as hosting weddings or events
to broaden the Group’s income stream. The Group intends to
brand Balgownie as an integrated resort based travel destination
for travelling and event-hosting resort.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
commenced the provision of administrative and management
services for Hong Kong Health Check and Medical Diagnostic
Centre Limited, a subsidiary of the Group’s associate, which
operates a laboratory in Hong Kong and generated income of
approximately HK$16,005,000.

Going forward, the Group will continue to carry on its existing
businesses by formulation and implementation of its own
business plans and strategies and leveraging its own business
model, competitiveness and strengths so as to develop, maintain
and enhance its existing businesses, which will be viable and
sustainable and will be able to create value and investment return
for the Shareholders.
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APPRECIATION 2

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all ~ AN AEZEILEKEHZMNEERF - REERE
valuable Shareholders, investors and clients for their support, and ~ FHSZFRABOHE  TEHRSEEETA
also my thanks to all the staff for their efforts and contributions to ~ ZNEBE Z AINEE Z LB M SR

the Group.

Ng Ting Ho B
Chairman BEL
27 March 2023 —TET=-F=H_”"++tH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E 5o R T

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the principal activities
of the Group were (i) mobile internet business; (ii) provision of
hospitality and related services in Australia; (iii) money lending
business; and (iv) assets investments business.

The profit of the Group decreased from approximately
HK$10,841,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$9,925,000 during the year ended 31 December
2022, which was mainly attributable to the combined effects of
(i) the improvement in the results of the Group’s mobile internet
business of approximately HK$63,212,000, as a result of the
Group’s disposal of its entire interest in the CL Borrower, which
had been loss-making up to the completion of the Forced Sale (as
defined and explained in the paragraph headed “Mobile internet
business” below) in December 2021 and the disposal resulted in a
gain on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately HK$79,013,000
during the year ended 31 December 2021, which was absent
during the year ended 31 December 2022; (ii) the insurance
compensation which was approximately HK$12,828,000 (2021:
HK$51,172,000) during the year ended 31 December 2022,
which representing a decrease of approximately HK$38,344,000
as compared with that of last year; (iii) the Walletku Disposal
in June 2022 which resulted in net gain on deemed disposal of
subsidiaries of approximately HK$26,907,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022; (iv) the income generated from the provision
of administrative and management services for a subsidiary of
the Group's associate, which operates a laboratory in Hong Kong,
which amounted to approximately HK$16,005,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil); and (v) the TH Disposals
(as defined and explained in the paragraph headed “Assets
Investments Business” below) which resulted in an aggregate
loss on disposals of financial assets at FVTPL of approximately
HK$9,034,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021, which
was absent during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mobile internet business

During the year under review, the Group’s mobile internet business
segment recorded a revenue of approximately HK$67,133,000
(2021: HK$1,755,272,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 96%, as compared with that of last year. In
December 2021, the CL Borrower failed to repay a loan in relation
to which the Company executed a share mortgage in favour of
the lender (“CL Lender"”) to mortgage, charge and assign 51% of
the total issued share capital of the CL Borrower (“CL Mortgaged
Shares”) to the CL Lender in securing the repayment obligation
of the CL Borrower under the related loan agreement (“CL Share
Mortgage”). As a result, the CL Lender exercised his rights
pursuant to the terms of the CL Share Mortgage and executed
an instrument of transfer to transfer the CL Mortgaged Shares to
the CL Lender on 14 December 2021, which resulted in a forced
sale of the CL Mortgaged Shares (“"Forced Sale”). Upon the
Forced Sale, the CL Mortgaged Shares are no longer beneficially
owned by the Company and the CL Borrower and its subsidiaries
("CL Borrower Group”) have ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company and the financial results of the CL Borrower Group
have ceased to be accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. Further details of the Forced Sale are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 27 September
2021, 3 November 2021 and 13 December 2021. The significant
decrease in the revenue generated from this segment of the
Group during the year under review was mainly due to the Forced
Sale mentioned above.

The Group commenced the operation of the retail commerce
through network media business in March 2021 after the
completion of its subscription for 10,200 ordinary shares of
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Limited (formerly known as TNG
Indonesia Holdings Limited) (“Dynamic Indonesia Holdings”),
representing 51% of the issued share capital of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E 5o R T

On 2 June 2022, Noble Tack International Limited (“Second
Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and a then controlling shareholder of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings, entered into a subscription agreement (“Subscription
Agreement”) with Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and Dynamic
Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known as TNG FinTech
Holdings Limited) (“First Subscriber”), a then non-controlling
shareholder of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Seamless Group Inc. (“Grantor”), pursuant
to which Dynamic Indonesia Holdings agreed to allot and
issue 5,000 subscription shares (“Subscription Shares”)
in five tranches (with each tranche of 1,000 Subscription
Shares) for the aggregate subscription price of US$1,000,000
("Subscription”). The Subscription Shares represent 20% of
the enlarged issued share capital of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings
upon completion of the Subscription. Pursuant to the terms of
the Subscription Agreement, the Second Subscriber decided not
to subscribe for the first tranche of the Subscription and the First
Subscriber agreed to subscribe for all the 1,000 Subscription
Shares under the first tranche of the Subscription and paid
the first tranche subscription price of US$200,000 to Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings immediately after the entering into of the
Subscription Agreement. Upon completion of the first tranche of
the Subscription, Dynamic Indonesia Holdings was owned as to
approximately 51.43% by the First Subscriber and approximately
48.57% by the Second Subscriber, respectively and therefore
constitute a deemed disposal (i.e. the Walletku Disposal) pursuant
to Rule 19.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings and its subsidiaries (including, PT Walletku
Indompet Indonesia (“TNG Indompet”)) (“Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings Group”) ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company
and the financial results of the Dynamic Indonesia Holdings
Group ceased to be accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. The Group recognised net gain on
disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$26,907,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil) upon completion of the
first tranche of the Subscription.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 2 June 2022, the Grantor also entered into an option deed
("Option Deed”) with the Second Subscriber, pursuant to
which the Grantor agreed to grant to the Second Subscriber an
option for the right but not the obligation (“Put Option”) to
require the Grantor (or its nominee) to acquire all or part of the
ordinary shares of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings held by the Second
Subscriber (“Option Shares”) and all or part of the outstanding
shareholder’s loans of approximately US$2,050,000 from the
Second Subscriber (“Shareholder’s Loans”) upon exercise of the
Put Option which is exercisable at the discretion of the Second
Subscriber in accordance with the terms of the Option Deed. The
Second Subscriber has the discretion to determine the number
of the Option Shares and the amount of the Shareholder’s Loans
to be acquired by the Grantor (or its nominee) upon exercise
of the Put Option and the Second Subscriber shall notify the
Grantor such number of the Option Shares and amount of the
Shareholder’s Loans to be acquired by the Grantor (or its nominee)
in the option notice to be served by the Second Subscriber.

Details of the Walletku Disposal are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 2 June 2022 and 21 July 2022.

On 3 October 2022 and 3 February 2023, pursuant to the
terms of the Subscription Agreement, the Second Subscriber
decided not to subscribe for the second and the third tranches
of the Subscription and Dynamic Indonesia Holdings alloted and
issued an aggregate of 2,000 Subscription Shares to the First
Subscriber at an aggregated subscription price of US$400,000.
Upon completion of the second and the third tranches of
the Subscription, Dynamic Indonesia Holdings is owned as to
approximately 55.65% by the First Subscriber and approximately
44.35% by the Second Subscriber, respectively.

Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Group is principally engaged in
(i) Walletku Digital application, which is an electronic wallet
for deposit of money as well as offline and online payment to
merchants in Indonesia; (ii) sales of products of Indosat Ooredoo
Hutchison (formerly known as Indosat Ooredoo), which is the
second largest mobile network operator in Indonesia by market
share; and (iii) Walletku E-commerce, which is an online shopping
platform in Indonesia.
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Hospitality and Related Services in Australia

During the year under review, the Group was engaged in the
hospitality business through Balgownie.

Balgownie, which is in the Yarra Valley, is a popular winery and
tourism destination in Victoria, Australia. Balgownie was (i) the
winner of “Resort Style Accommodation of the Year” awarded
by Tourism Accommodation Australia (Victoria) four years in
a row from 2016 to 2019 and in 2022; (i) the 2021 Bronze
winner and 2022 Silver Winner of “Business Event Venues” of
Victorian Tourism Awards awarded by Victorian Tourism Industry
Council; and (iii) awarded as “Hotel Bar of the Year” by Tourism
Accommodation Australia in 2022. In addition, the head chef and
Executive Chef of Balgownie's newest restaurant was the finalist
of Tourism Accommodation Australia (Victoria) for Best Chef
in 2021 and the winner of Tourism Accommodation Australia
(Victoria) for Best Chef in 2019 respectively, which ensures the
high quality of the resort’s food and beverage offerings. Balgownie
consists of a piece of freehold land of approximately 29 hectares
with a 7-hectare vineyard growing Pinot and Chardonnay wine
grapes and offers 70 luxury accommodation rooms, including a
restaurant, cellar door, conference and function facilities, health
club facilities and day spa, which could generate additional income
from the guests.

Balgownie is partnering with the Spa Partner, which has a
network of over 120 day spas in Australia and New Zealand, for
the brand-new day spa in Balgownie. Pursuant to the agreement
entered between the Group and the Spa Partner, the Group will
provide the premises and the Spa Partner will contribute the
capital required to fit out the spa. The Group will receive rental
income from the Spa Partner on a percentage of the revenue
generated by the Spa Partner. In addition, the Group will also
sell the Spa Partner’s products and services in the spa venues to
generate additional income related to the day spa. The day spa
was opened at the end of June 2022 and the Group launched
a new “Wellness Retreat” product/service with the Spa Partner
and is the first to provide such product/service in Yarra Valley. The
new “Wellness Retreat” was introduced with wellness packages/
experiences that include (i) nutrition and nourishment by the
provision of curated menus for a healthy diet; and (i) calming
activities such as meditation, yoga, pilates and gigong. Holistic or
alternative healing and medical/rehabilitation spa experiences are
currently expected to be launched in 2023, which are subject to
the approval and availability of medical/health practitioners. The
Group expects to leverage on the brand and client base of the
Spa Partner and gain new visitations in the leisure and corporate
segment, and attract more customers to Balgownie.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In June 2020, a fire destroyed Balgownie's restaurant and cellar
door. The Group had insurance coverage for rebuilding the
restaurant and the cellar door. While the reconstruction was
underway, the Group set up a temporary restaurant and cellar
door to provide dining and wine-tasting facilities to the in-
house guests staying at Balgownie. The Group opened the new
restaurant to the in-house guests of Balgownie upon completion
of the reconstruction in December 2021.

The new restaurant was also opened to the public in February
2022, which allowed more income to be generated from external
customers for the Group.

The Group intends to brand Balgownie as an integrated resort-
based travel destination for travelling and event-hosting resort.
In February 2022, the new restaurant began accepting bookings
from off-site customers and in-house guests staying at Balgownie
to enjoy the dining experience. With the new restaurant (together
with the existing function centre) reaching a maximum capacity
of approximately 270 customers, the Group will provide banquet
services such as hosting weddings or events to broaden the
Group'’s income stream. The Group believes that the ambience
of the restaurants is essential to attract customers to host lavish
events and improve their dining experience.

On 8 February 2021, the Group entered into two sale and
purchase agreements with certain independent third parties in
respect of the Cleveland Disposals, at an aggregate consideration
of AUD4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,803,000).

The Cleveland Disposals were completed on 5 May 2021, upon
which the assets and the financial results of Cleveland ceased
to be accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Details of the Cleveland Disposals are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 February 2021.

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$63,834,000 (2021: HK$37,457,000) from
its segment of provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia. The revenue of Balgownie improved to approximately
HK$63,834,000 (2021: HK$30,898,000), mainly due to the
gradual relaxation of the restrictions imposed by the Victorian
Government to combat COVID-19.

The Victorian Government has imposed on-and-off lockdown
measures from time to time depending on the latest development
of the COVID-19 pandemic. On 12 February 2021, the Victorian
Government announced a five-day "“Circuit Breaker” lockdown
with effect from 11:59 p.m. on 12 February 2021 throughout
all of Victoria, and Balgownie and Cleveland were fully closed
from 12 February 2021 and were reopened on 18 February 2021.
From 11:59 p.m. on 27 May 2021, a seven-day “Circuit Breaker”
lockdown was in place throughout Victoria, and Balgownie was
fully closed from 28 May 2021.
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The Victorian Government announced that with effect from
11:59 p.m. on 10 June 2021, the outdoor restrictions would be
removed, and the travel limit from home would be increased
from 10 km to 25 km. Nevertheless, the increased travel limit still
prevented many people from travelling long distances, so many
bookings were cancelled. Balgownie remained closed for an
additional week and reopened on 18 June 2021.

A five-day lockdown with effect from 11:59 p.m. on 15 July 2021
was imposed throughout all of Victoria and Balgownie was fully
closed from 16 July 2021 and was reopened on 21 July 2021.

The Victorian Government announced with effect from 11:59
p.m. on 27 July 2021, bookings for accommodation would be
permitted for single households, intimate partners or single social
bubbles.

From 11:59 p.m. on 5 August 2021, a seven-day lockdown was
implemented throughout Victoria and Balgownie was fully closed
from 5 August 2021. The lockdown was extended several times
and ended on 22 October 2021. Restrictions remained in place
until the state reached 80% double vaccinated status, which
occurred on 29 October 2021. Balgownie was reopened on 31
October 2021 and has remained open ever since.

All the above restrictions in 2021 have resulted in a significant
decline in bookings in tourism accommodation across the state of
Victoria, and Balgownie was also forced to remain closed for 120
days in 2021, resulting in the underperformance of the Group’s
business of hospitality and related services in Australia in 2021.

The Victorian Health Minister announced the reinstatement of
indoor density limits with effect from 11:59 p.m. on 6 January
2022, which include (i) indoor capacity limit of 1 person per
2 square metres, with seated service preferred; and (ii) indoor
dancefloors are discouraged, but not prohibited, while there is no
change to outdoor gathering settings. While the above measures
of the Victorian Government regarding COVID-19 had minimal
impact on Balgownie, as there had been an outbreak of the
Omicron variant of COVID-19 since December 2021, Balgownie
faced a temporary workforce shortage due to staff having to
isolate themselves as a result of either being infected by COVID-19
or being in close contact with COVID-19 patients, resulting in
a temporary reduction of the operating capacity of Balgownie.
Consumer confidence had also been affected, leading to room
bookings of Balgownie being cancelled or corporate event
bookings being postponed or cancelled by customers in January
2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Premier of Victoria has announced that with effect from 6:00
p.m. on 18 February 2022, the density limits in hospitality and
entertainment venues would end and indoor dance floors were set
to reopen. The decision to ease these restrictions was attributable
to the number of infected people admitted into hospitals in
February 2022 having been reduced by more than half, compared
with that in January 2022.

After the state of Victoria passed the peak of its second Omicron
variant of the COVID-19 wave, further easing of restrictions
were announced by the Victorian Government with effect from
11:59 p.m. on 22 April 2022, which include (i) close contacts of
confirmed COVID-19 cases would no longer have to quarantine if
they wear masks indoors, but they would need to avoid sensitive
settings and return five negative rapid antigen tests over a seven-
day period; (ii) the removal of mandatory masks for students from
grades three to six as well as workers in childcare, retail and indoor
events with more than 30,000 people; (iii) patrons and workers
would no longer have to prove their vaccination status or check-
in by scanning a free contact tracing QR code when entering
pubs, restaurants, cinemas and sports venues; (iv) no testing for
symptom-free international travellers on arrival, although the
testing is still recommended; (v) no quarantine for unvaccinated
travellers; and (vi) people who are infected by COVID-19 are
exempted from testing or quarantining for 12 weeks post-
infection, instead of eight weeks.

The Victorian Health Minister announced further easing on the
restrictions of face mask requirements with effect from 11:59
p.m. on 24 June 2022, which include (i) people infected with
COVID-19 must still be isolated for seven days from the day their
COVID-19 tests shown positive results, but they may now leave
home to drive a household member directly to or from education
or work without leaving their vehicles. In addition, they can
also leave home to get medical care, a COVID-19 test, or in an
emergency, including the risk of harm; (ii) the imposition of third
dose mandates in education, food distribution, meat and seafood
processing and quarantine accommodation sectors will be lifted;
and (i) the rules requiring general workers to work from home,
unless they are double-vaccinated, will be lifted. Employers will still
be able to set their own workplace conditions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E 5o R T

The Premier of Victoria announced that with effect from 11:59
p.m. on 12 July 2022, people infected by COVID-19 may now
leave home to drive a household member directly to or from
education, work and to obtain essential food, only if the transport
is essential or if other arrangements cannot be made, but the
restriction on isolating for seven days from the day their COVID-19
tests shown positive results is still in place. In addition, people
who are infected by COVID-19 are exempted from testing or
quarantining for four weeks post-infection, instead of twelve
weeks.

On 1 September 2022, the Victorian Government announced that
the work-from-home recommendation had been lifted, which
included (i) employers and staff may still consider remote working
arrangements that are most appropriate for their workplace and
employees based on individual requirements; (ii) any employee
who has COVID-19 symptoms are recommended to do a rapid
antigen test and stay at home; and (iii) businesses or organisations
with on-site operations (including home-based businesses) need to
have a "COVID Safe Plan” which is regularly reviewed to ensure it
is as up to date as possible to help keep their employees safe.

The Victorian Government announced that with effect from 11:59
p.m. on 8 September 2022, the self-isolation period for people
who are infected by COVID-19 and do not have symptoms on
day five of their isolation has been reduced from seven to five
days, excluding people who work in high-risk settings and the
requirement to wear masks on domestic flights was also lifted.

On 21 September 2022, the Victorian Government announced
that from 22 September 2022, face masks would no longer
be required on public transport or in taxis, rideshare services or
tourism vehicles, and would instead be strongly recommended, in
line with the indoor mask recommendations under these situations
such as (i) where people cannot be physically distanced; (ii) people
who have any COVID-19 symptoms and for anyone who may
be immunocompromised or vulnerable to COVID-19; (iii) people
visiting a hospital, care facility or any other indoor space that is
publicly accessible in a healthcare setting, including allied health
providers; and (iv) people who are infected by COVID-19 or are a
close or household contact of such person who are not required to
undergo quarantine.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 7 October 2022, the Victorian Government announced
that with effect from 11:59 p.m. on 12 October 2022, the
pandemic declaration would end and people who are infected
by COVID-19 are no longer required to undergo quarantine but
would be strongly recommended to do so. People who are in close
contact with people infected by COVID-19 would continually be
recommended to do a rapid antigen test, as well as wearing face
mask indoors.

As of the date of this Annual Report, Balgownie is allowed
and has remained open to in-house guests and the public.
The occupancy rate of Balgownie for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately 75%, which improved
from approximately 44% for the year ended 31 December
2021. The Directors expect that the situation will continue to
improve with the government’s decision to end the pandemic
declaration coupled with strong demand for domestic travel.
Currently, Balgownie has 70 luxury rooms, a new restaurant, and a
rebranded day spa. In order to stay competitive in the market, the
Group will regularly review and refine its products and services, the
interior design of Balgownie, enhance the hardware and arrange
refurbishment if necessary.

Money Lending Business

The Group is engaged in the money lending business in Hong
Kong through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mark Profit Finance
Limited (“Mark Profit”), which is a holder of a money lender’s
licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the year under review, the Group
recorded interest income of approximately HK$3,387,000 (2021:
HK$6,772,000) from its money lending business, and interest
income of the Group decreased mainly due to the decrease in the
loans granted by the Group during the year under review. The
Group has been paying close attention to the market conditions
and will continue to monitor its resources to strive for the
development of its money lending business with prudent credit
procedures in accepting customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E 5o R T

Mark profit grants loans to both corporate and individual
customers as its target clients. Before entering into any loan
agreement or before granting any loan extension, the Group
carries out credit assessments of the potential borrower’s or
borrower’s ability to make repayments under the loan agreement
and have due regard to the outcome of the credit assessment
in respect of affordability. In carrying out the credit assessment,
the Group considers (i) the potential borrower's or borrower’s
current income; (i) the potential borrower's or borrower’s ability to
make repayments under the loan agreement as they fall due over
the life of the loan agreement; and (iii) without the repayments
having a significant adverse impact on the potential borrower’s or
borrower's overall financial situation. In addition, the Group also
considers (i) the total amount of the principal and interest payable;
(i) the duration of the term for repayment of the loan; (iii) the
frequency and amounts of the repayments; (iv) the interest rate;
(v) purpose of obtaining the loan; (vi) the employment or business
of the potential borrower or borrower; and (vii) current credit and
financial information on the potential borrower or borrower. For
loan applications that pass the Group’s credit assessment, the loan
applications are subject to final approval by the credit committee
of the Group. Credit committee members are appointed by the
Board and the quorum of the committee is at least 2 committee
members.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Composition of the credit committee

Operation of the money lending business of the Group is overseen
by the credit committee of the Group.

As at the date of the Annual Report, the credit committee consists
of Ms. Lam Ching Yee and Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, both of whom are
executive Directors. Please refer to the section headed “Directors
Profile” of this Annual Report for their biographies.

Credit assessment process

Prior to grant of a loan to a borrower, the Group carries out the
credit assessment process on the potential borrower. The credit
assessment process comprises three components:

(a) Documents requirement

Verification of identity, income and asset, and address proofs.
All the above required documents are required to be up-to-
date which generally are issued within three months from the
date of application.

(b) General requirement

For unsecured loan, the maximum loan tenor shall be 18
months, extension of which will be subject to a new credit
assessment to be conducted by the credit committee.

For secured loan, the maximum loan amount shall be 80% of
the value of collateral with maximum loan tenor of 20 years,
whereas secured loan refers to loan which is fully secured by
real properties, listed shares, vehicles and/or any assets which
is marketable with solid value, subject to credit assessment, as
collaterals.

In addition, for individual customer, the potential customer
should be 21 years old or above.
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N\ANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
IE D—JDHHEZ *Fl'

(c) Credit requirement

For unsecured loan, the following criteria are considered
during the credit assessment:

¢ financial background of the borrower;
e income level, assets owned and repayment ability;

e other financial information and background of corporation
(if applicable);

¢ internal and external credit checking results; and
e any personal/corporate guarantee provided.

For unsecured personal loan, the affordability assessment of the
borrower's ability to make repayments should be performed in
accordance with the 15 licensing conditions for money lenders
licence as required by the Companies Registry. The following
factors are considered (where applicable) during the credit
assessment:

the total amount of the principal and interest payable;

the duration of the loan;

the frequency and amounts of the repayments;

the interest rate;

the employment or business of the borrower; and
e current credit and financial information of the borrower.

Reasonable steps would be taken to determine the amount,
or make a reasonable estimate, of the current income and
expenditure of the borrower. Under certain circumstances, the
borrower's assets such as savings would also be considered.

Sufficient information would be obtained for the aforesaid
affordability assessment. For monitoring purpose, relevant records
of such assessment are properly maintained.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For secured loan, the following criteria are considered during the
credit assessment:

¢ valuation of the to-be-pledged collateral;
e land search record (if applicable);

e acceptable and marketable title to the to-be-pledged
collateral,

¢ marketability and liquidity of the to-be-pledged collateral;

e legitimacy of the to-be-pledged collateral;

e the financial background of the borrower;

e the personal background or background of the corporation;
e internal and external credit checking results; and

e legal advice (if necessary).

Determination of major terms of loans

Terms of the loans (such as amount, interest rate and duration) will
be determined based on the prevailing interest rates offered by the
banks and money lenders in the market, the background of the
borrower (in particular, his income and assets, credit history, etc.),
the relationship with the borrower, payment record (for repeated
borrowers), the duration and amount of the loan and the security
provided (if applicable).

In general, repeated borrowers with good payment records and
sound financial background would have potentially lower default
rate, and would be granted loans with interest rates at the
relatively lower end of the range of the prevailing interest rates
offered by the money lenders in the market at the time of the
grant or renewals.

Monitoring of loan recoverability

The designated officer of the Group monitors the repayment of
principals and interests of the loans according to the terms of
the loan agreements. The Group generally does not continuously
monitor the financial position of the borrowers after the grant of
the loans, except there is default or potential default of the loan.
In case of irregularities in repayment, overdue or default of the
loan, the designated officer of the Group would follow up and
negotiate with the borrowers for the repayment, and promptly
report to the credit committee.
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Customers

Customers for the money lending business of the Group are
business partners or potential business partners of the Group or
persons introduced by the business partners, management or
staff of the Group. Nevertheless, the management or staff of the
Group are not allowed to engage in approving or processing credit
transactions or extending credit involving a customer who is his
immediate family member.

Other than an age restriction for individual customers (i.e. the
potential customer should be 21 years old or above), there are no
specific benchmark for target/potential customers of the Group.
Notwithstanding the above, potential customers and their loan
applications will be assessed on a case-by-case basis during the
credit assessment process as detailed above.

Loan portfolio as at 31 December 2022

The table below sets out the details of the loans which were
outstanding as at 31 December 2022:

I

FEBEEEFERAEAERETBHE
EEHZBHAELEBEBBH EEEHE

INEBHOAL-BENI ~EFBEERENE
IAG2EMANRETRAHERREN
SEXSREERM-

BRTHEAZERNFERRG BIETERESE
w2150 Sh AEBHBERBEERIES
HEZE-BEFELARE BEERRHEE
RERER R B £ SRRV (B B SR E 1T
REEE (Lo

HR-E__F+_HA=+—HZEHHAS

TREIIN _E__F+_B=+—HE*k
BEZENFSE

Interest rate Outstanding

per annum balance as at
Principal and repayment 31 December 2022
amount Tenure of schedule .S =
of loan Date of grant the loan FRERK +=-—B=+—H
EMAEE£EE RHBAH HFRHAR BEREER iH R E B 4G ER
(HK$) (Note 1) (HK$)
(B71) (MF5ET) (B71)
Loan 1 8,000,000 15 July 2022 1 year 10.5%; Quarterly 8,174,904
B “BIHLRA+THER 1F 10.5%; BFE
Loan 2 (Note 2) 19,000,000 19 July 2022 1 year 10.5%; Quarterly 19,393,534
B2 (Msk2) “ECHFEA+AR 1EF 105%; B=E
Loan 3 1,500,000 20 September 2022 1 year 10.5%; Quarterly 1,544,014
&3 “EFAAZHH 1F 10.5%; B=E
Loan 4 1,200,000 7 October 2022 1 year 10.5%; Quarterly 1,229,342
&4 B "F+A+H 14 10.5%; §FE
Loan 5 2,400,000 17 October 2022 1 year 10.5%; Quarterly 2,451,781
B35 "B F+A+ER 1F 10.5%; B8FE
Loan 6 2,000,000 18 October 2022 6 months 11%,; Quarterly 2,044,603
BE™6 “E2HF+A+NH 6EAR M%; BFE
Loan 7 3,500,000 8 December 2022 1 year 11%; Quarterly 3,524,260
&7 “_EBEC_HF+ZANE IE M%; 8FE
Notes: M 5T
(1) The terms of the loan commenced from the drawdown date of the (1) EXEARBIRINE R Z HEtE-

relevant loan.

(2) This loan is secured loan.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 4 borrowers which
were all individuals; and the Group’s loans and loan interest
receivable balance (net of provision) amounted to approximately
HK$37,900,000 (2021: approximately HK$49,816,000), out of
which approximately HK$19,159,000 (representing approximately
50.6% of the total loans and loan interest receivables of the
Group) was due from the largest borrower of the Group. All of the
borrowers of the loans are independent of the Company and its
connected persons (as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules), have no past business or deals with the Company other
than being repeated borrowers (as the case may be).

As at 31 December 2022, one of the loans receivables of the
Group was secured, while as at 31 December 2021, all loan
receivables of the Group were unsecured.

As at 31 December 2022, the loans receivables had a fixed term
of 6 months to 12 months (2021: 12 months), with interest rates
being charged at from 10.5% to 11% per annum (2021: 7% to
12% per annum).

The Group has recorded a provision for impairment loss on loan
and interest receivables of approximately HK$462,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$392,000).

The amount of loan loss allowance made during the year ended
31 December 2022 was assessed by an independent valuer
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards, specifically
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 9 Financial Instruments,
details of which are set out in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The amount of loss allowance was determined by multiplying
the sum of the loans and the corresponding interest receivable
balance by the relevant credit loss rate. The credit loss rates of
the loans were determined with an assumption that the market
trends and conditions where the Company operates will not
deviate significantly from economic forecasts in general and the
probabilities of defaults were extracted from public sources by the
valuer.

The Company has complied with requirements set out in Chapter
19 and/or 20 of the GEM Listing Rules when it granted the
loans to the borrowers. There was no agreement, arrangement,
understanding or undertaking (whether formal or informal and
whether express or implied) between the Company and any of its
connected persons (as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules) with respect to the grant of the loans to the borrowers.
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Assets Investments Business

During the year under review, the Group recorded a segment
loss from its assets investment business of approximately
HK$1,856,000 (2021: segment profit of HK$9,739,000), and
the change was primarily attributable to the decrease in the
Group's share of the profit of one of the Group’s associates from
approximately HK$24,023,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately HK$14,165,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL of approximately
HK$2,486,000 (2021: fair value gain on financial assets at FVTPL
of approximately HK$345,000), which was mainly attributable to
the fair value loss of approximately HK$4,146,000 resulting from
the Put Option. In addition, the Group recorded fair value losses
on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) of approximately HK$40,277,000 (2021:
HK$37,506,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022, of which
approximately HK$38,563,000 represented the unrealised loss on
investment in equity instrument designated at FVTOCI in relation
to 45,779,220 shares in LEO.

On 23 December 2022, Absolutely Talent Technology Limited, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Absolutely
Talent”), as vendor, entered into an equity transfer agreement
("Equity Transfer Agreement”) with Heals Treasury Company
Limited ("Heals Treasury”), as purchaser, pursuant to which
Absolutely Talent agreed to sell, and Heals Treasury agreed to
acquire, 159,720 series B shares of Heals Healthcare (Asia) Limited
("Heals"”), representing approximately 7.69% equity interest in
Heals (“Heals Shares”), at the consideration of US$5,120,623
(equivalent to approximately HK$39,838,000) (“Heals Disposal”).
Completion of the Heals Disposal was conditional upon the
cancellation of the Heals Call Option (as defined below),
which could not be waived by any party to the Equity Transfer
Agreement and if it was not fully fulfilled by 31 January 2023, the
Equity Transfer Agreement and the terms and conditions thereof
would immediately and automatically terminate, in which case,
no party to the Equity Transfer Agreement shall have any further
obligations or liabilities under or arising from the Equity Transfer
Agreement, save for the accrued rights or liabilities of any party
to the other party in respect of the terms herein at or before
such termination. Completion of the Heals Disposal took place in
February 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at the date of the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Group
indirectly held the Heals Shares and the right granted by Heals
to the Vendor to subscribe for up to 638,880 series B shares of
Heals (“Relevant Shares”) at a price of US$31.30 per share
pursuant to a share deed (“Share Deed"”) entered into between
Absolutely Talent and Heals dated 8 October 2021, which shall
be exercisable from 8 October 2021 to 31 December 2023 (both
days inclusive) (“Heals Call Option”), all of which were classified
as FVTPL in the consolidated financial statement of the Company
prior to the Heals Disposal. Immediately after the completion of
the Heals Disposal, the Group no longer holds any equity interest
or derivative financial assets in Heals.

Details of the Heals Disposal are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 23 December 2022.

On 3 March 2021 and 10 March 2021, the Group disposed
of 4,000 shares and 81,374,000 shares in Town Health for an
aggregate cash consideration (excluding transaction costs) of
approximately HK$3,000 and HK$22,886,000, respectively, on
the open market of the Stock Exchange via Southbound Trading
of Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect (“TH Disposals”), which
resulted in an aggregate loss on disposals of financial assets at
FVTPL of approximately HK$9,034,000 during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Details of the TH Disposals are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 March 2021.
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MANGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIE —_ruHﬂEZ *Fl'

The Directors consider securities investments with a carrying
amount that accounts for more than 5% of the Group's
total assets as at 31 December 2022 as significant securities
investments of the Group. Details of the significant securities
investments of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

EERNPEEEBRAERR T __F+_
A=+—HEERES%NESFKREATEH

WEREFRE IR

=&+ H=+—

B AEBZEREFKEFFUOT

Percentage to
the Group's
total assets  Fair value change for
Investment {h4%M@  the year ended 31 December 2022
Name Principal activity Interest held cost Fairvalue EBE#ZEz #HEZF-”ZF+ZA=1+-H
218 TEEH RS REAMK ATE BAL LEEEZAFEEY
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TR
Financial assets at FVTOC!
BAFEEBRMEERETIRZ
EHEE
LEO Manufacturing and sale of 45,779,220 282,718 91,701 15.4% Unrealised loss on investment in
industrial and domestic shares equity instrument designated
water pumps and (i.e. 0.68%) at FVTOC! of approximately
internet services HK$38,563,000. No realised gain
was recorded during the year. No
dividend income was recognised
during the year.
FIER TERFAKREER 45,779,220 EEARATERBEMZEREY
HEURBERS Rz 1D Bz RATAREZ REREEY
(80.68%) 38,563,000/ 7T ° R L EIHIS
BERWG - FALEREDR B
Ao
Financial assets at FVTPL
BAFEEBEG IR EHEE
World Biotech Regenerative Operation of a 60,650 48,821 49,455 83%  Unrealised gain on investment in
Medical Group Limited biopharmaceutical drug shares equity instrument designated
("World Biotech") development centre, a (i.e. 5.64%) at FVTPL of approximately
production plant, and a HK$175,000. No realised gain
clinical centre was recorded during the year. No
dividend income was recognised
during the year.
BRRENHEBLRREE EE-RENNEEY 60,6508 EERRATHERBRRIIRZRE
BRAH BERO—HEERE bay) TRBEEZRERWE175,000
(MBREMHKBERR) R—BBRRL (B75.64%) B RERNTRFSEERN
o FRIEEDRBUA o
Heals Operation of a healthcare 159,720 series 38,962 39,838 6.7%  Unrealised gain on investment in equity
technology platform B share instrument designated at FVTPL of
(i.e. 7.69%) approximately HK$842,000. No
realised gain was recorded during
the year. No dividend income was
recognised during the year.
Heals SERERMTE 159,720 EERRATEBREGIIRZRAE
BRI IE&%‘Z%WM&E?G&Q 000
(BD7.69%) B RERNTRFFELRN
o FRILREDR S HﬁU\ °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prospects of the Group’s significant securities investments
LEO

LEO is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, the
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002131). LEO is principally engaged in the manufacturing
and sale of industrial and domestic pumps and internet services
including digital marketing business, marketing strategy and
innovation, media delivery and execution, monitoring and
optimisation of marketing results and precise marketing, etc. Since
the listing of the shares of LEO on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
the business scope of LEO has gradually expanded from a purely
domestic pumps business in the PRC to an industrial pump
business in the PRC, covering almost all the pump products in
the entire pump industry in the country. Given that the growth of
the traditional pump manufacturing business has stabilised, LEO
has been actively seeking for a new breakthrough in its strategic
development and striving to explore growth opportunities beyond
the traditional pump industry, so as to improve its profitability and
develop new profit growth. In 2014, LEO successfully expanded
its principal business into the internet service business through a
series of acquisitions. The internet services LEO provides include
digital marketing services and digital media agency services.
In 2016, LEO formed a partnership with a private investment
institution in the PRC to establish an equity investment fund.
The fund specialises in investment in startup companies in the
internet industry as well as established private companies that are
looking to go public. Based on LEO’s announcement in relation to
its predicted annual results for 2022, it has predicted a net loss
attributable to its owners of approximately RMB377 million to
RMB437 million (2021: RMB1,019 million) for the year ended 31
December 2022, representing a decrease in loss of approximately
from 63% to 57% compared with that of the previous year. The
decrease in loss was mainly attributable to the improvement in the
pumps business and digital marketing business, as compared with
that of last year.
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With regard to the prospects of LEO based on the published
information, the Directors noted that LEO had been actively
expanding its digital marketing services through both vertical and
horizontal integrations in recent years to capture the business
opportunities arising from the new internet-based interactive
entertainment pattern, which resulted in a growth in its revenue.
The Directors noted that for LEO’s manufacturing and sale of
industrial and domestic pumps business, LEO is targeting to (i)
expand its international marketing team and explore the market
in Europe by launching new products and to establish after
sales service center; (ii) increase its investment in launching its
self-owned brand products; (iii) expand its domestic general
contracting business; (iv) explore business opportunities for water
pumps in the fields of carbon neutrality, pumped storage, clean
energy, big data centers, and supporting services, etc; and (v) carry
out continuous research and development of innovative vertical
pumps, end-suction pumps, water treatment equipment and other
core products, and carry out research on new energy pumps. For
LEO’s digital marketing business, LEO is planning to (i) undergo
organizational restructuring to further deepen the integration
of the digital marketing sector by dividing the current business
units into two separate business units, namely the integrated
marketing business units and the media agency business units,
and strengthen the coordinated development between the two
business units; and (i) continue to explore and develop new
applications of digital marketing, explore new markets, and
promote the continuous innovation and development of business
models to achieve further business growth.

MIRBEETEENRABRZARME  EF
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World Biotech

World Biotech (together with its subsidiaries, “World Biotech
Group”) are principally engaged in the operation of a
biopharmaceutical drug development centre, a production
facility and a clinical centre. World Biotech was founded in 2020
and operates its businesses under the brand BioCreatrix. On
15 October 2021, Absolutely Talent entered into a subscription
agreement (“World Biotech Shares Subscription Agreement”)
with World Biotech to subscribe for 50,000 shares of World
Biotech, representing approximately 4.65% equity interest in
World Biotech, and the investment cost of such investment was
HK$40,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received
10,650 shares of World Biotech, as part of the final dividends
for the year ended 31 December 2021 declared by Luck Key
Investment Limited (“Luck Key"), an associate of the Group.

Pursuant to the World Biotech Shares Subscription Agreement,
World Biotech guarantees (“Profit Guarantee”) that either the
average of the net profits of World Biotech for each of the two
financial years ending 30 September 2025 or the valuation of
World Biotech on or before 31 December 2025 would not be less
than the agreed amounts, failing which World Biotech shall pay
compensation to Absolutely Talent.

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate fair value of the Group's
60,650 shares or 5.64% equity interest in World Biotech and
the Profit Guarantee were approximately HK$49,455,000,
representing approximately 8.3% of the total assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2022.
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The fair value of the Group'’s investment in World Biotech as at 31
December 2022 was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out by an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group, using the discounted cash flow method and Black
Scholes Model, which are generally accepted approaches in the
industry. Assumptions used in the valuation include: (a) there is no
material change in the existing conditions which might adversely
affect the business of World Biotech; (b) the financial projection in
respect of World Biotech was prepared on a reasonable basis that
reflects estimates that have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration by the senior management of the Group; and (c) the
economic condition will not deviate significantly from economic
forecasts. Inputs including (1) the business nature and financial
reports of World Biotech; and (2) reliable sources of market data
were applied in the valuation. There was neither significant change
in the value of the inputs and assumptions from those used in the
valuation at the acquisition date nor subsequent change to the
valuation method adopted.

The following is the valuation parameters in assessing the fair
value of the Profit Guarantee:

Expiry date
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Valuation date
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Discount rate
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Total fair value of World Biotech as at 31 December 2022:
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The Group's equity interest of World Biotech 5.64%

REERRKEYRRBERERENRE

Fair value of shares held by the Group and the Profit Guarantee HK$'000 49,455
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With regard to the prospects of World Biotech based on the
information available to the Group, the Directors noted that World
Biotech has recently completed the construction of a production
plant that complies with the design, installation and operational
qualifications of the good manufacturing practice. It is currently
expected that the production plant will obtain the accreditation
in 2023, upon which World Biotech will be able to manufacture
its own clinical trail products for obtaining authorization from the
Food and Drug Administration and the Hong Kong Department
of Health for human clinical trials through an investigational
new drug application and to distribute the bi-products globally.
With the recent provisional approval of the Daycare Procedure
Centre Licence from the Hong Kong Department of Health, the
next milestone for World Biotech is the formation of an in-house
institutional review board to obtain the approval to conduct in-
house principle-investigator-initiated clinical trials, enabling it
to commence the Phase 1 personalised cancer vaccines human
clinical trial at World Biotech's oncology clinical centre, which is
currently expected to be in 2023.
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Heals

Heals (together with its subsidiaries, the “Heals Group”) are
principally engaged in the operations of a healthcare technology
platform. The healthcare technology platform provides solutions
for its users to access and manage their healthcare from doctor
searching, making appointments and keeping medical records for
claiming medical insurance.

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate fair value of the Heals
Shares and the Heals Call Option were the consideration of the
Heals Disposal of US$5,120,623 (equivalent to approximately
HK$39,838,000), representing approximately 6.7% of the total
assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022.

On 23 December 2022, Absolutely Talent entered into the Equity
Transfer Agreement with Heals Treasury for the Heals Disposal.
Both parties agreed that the completion of the Heals Disposal
was conditional upon the cancellation of the Heals Call Option,
which could not be waived by any party to the Equity Transfer
Agreement and if it was not fully fulfilled by 31 January 2023, the
Equity Transfer Agreement and the terms and conditions thereof
would immediately and automatically terminate, in which case,
no party to the Equity Transfer Agreement shall have any further
obligations or liabilities under or arising from the Equity Transfer
Agreement, save for the accrued rights or liabilities of any party
to the other party in respect of the terms herein at or before
such termination. Completion of the Heals Disposal took place in
February 2023.

Luck Key

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held 10,650 ordinary
shares of Luck Key, representing 48.33% of the equity interest
of Luck Key, the investment cost of which was approximately
HK$56,511,000. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
this investment was approximately HK$87,122,000, representing
approximately 14.6% of the total assets of the Group as at 31
December 2022. During the year under review, the share of Luck
Key's total comprehensive income of the investment attributable
to the Group amounted to approximately HK$14,165,000 (2021:
HK$24,023,000), no realised gain was recorded and the Group
received dividend income of approximately HK$36,005,000 from
this investment during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Luck Key (together with its subsidiaries, “Luck Key Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of medical diagnostic
and health check services. It has commenced its business since
2006 and has a long and well established operating history. Luck
Key Group provides a wide range of medical diagnostic and
health check services, including high-end imaging and laboratory
examinations to the customers through operation of health check
centres and laboratories in Hong Kong. As at the date of this
report, Luck Key Group has a considerable scale of operation as it
operates eleven health check centres and two laboratories in Hong
Kong under various brand names (including “Hong Kong Health
Check (F78884%) 1), with its flagship centre located in Jordan,
Kowloon.

During the year under review, the revenue of Luck Key amounted
to approximately HK$410,754,000 (2021: HK$308,956,000),
representing an increase of approximately 33%. The profit
attributable to the shareholders of Luck Key for the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$29,576,000 (2021:
HK$49,707,000). Luck Key Group has assembled a professional
and experienced group of management personnel with extensive
experience and in-depth understanding of the industry. The
management of Luck Key will strive to improve the operational
efficiency of its health check business so as to enhance its
competitiveness in the market and its profitability.

The Group will continue to hold the investments in its portfolio,
unless there are changes in its investment strategy or potential
opportunities in realising its existing investments in securities
arise, taking into account the prospects of the issuers of the
securities investments, and the Group’s objective to optimise the
returns from its investment portfolios and create value for the
Shareholders.

IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

It has been three years since the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic across the world at the end of 2019, which has caused
a material impact to various industries. Following the Victorian
Government's decision to end the pandemic declaration in
October 2022, the occupancy rate of Balgownie improved from
44% for the year ended 31 December 2021 to 75% for the
year ended 31 December 2022, which is close to the average
occupancy rate of approximately 78% for the years ended 31
December 2017, 2018 and 2019, the pre-COVID-19 pandemic
level.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, as nations around the globe opened their borders
with the significant relaxation of the pandemic prevention policies,
the Group believes that the economy will recover in an orderly
manner in the coming year, which is expected to have a positive
impact on the Group's businesses. In order to improve its financial
performance and generate greater value for the Shareholders, the
Group had completed the Cleveland Disposals in May 2021, which
would not only allow the Group to reduce the costs required for
it to run its business in the provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia, but also enable it to redirect its resources to
the development of Balgownie, which is expected to achieve a
more rapid recovery due to its competitive advantages, such as its
geographical location, which is in an area popular among tourists.

As Balgownie is partnering with the Spa Partner for the brand
new day spa in Balgownie, more rental income will be generated
from the Spa Partner for the Group. The Group will also sell
the Spa Partner’s products and services in the spa venues to
generate additional income relating to the day spa. The day spa
was opened at the end of June 2022 and the Group launched a
new “Wellness Retreat” product/service with the Spa Partner and
is the first to provide such product/ service in Yarra Valley. The
new “Wellness Retreat” was introduced with wellness packages/
experiences that include (i) nutrition and nourishment by the
provision of curated menus for a healthy diet; and (i) calming
activities such as meditation, yoga, pilates and gigong. Holistic or
alternative healing and medical/rehabilitation spa experiences are
currently expected to be launched in 2023, which are subject to
the approval and availability of medical/health practitioners. The
Group expects to leverage on the brand and client base of the
Spa Partner and gain new visitations in the leisure and corporate
segment, and attract more customers to Balgownie. In February
2022, the new restaurant began accepting bookings from off-
site customers and in-house guests staying at Balgownie to enjoy
the dining experience. With the new restaurant (together with
the existing function centre) reaching a maximum capacity of
approximately 270 customers, the Group will provide banquet
services such as hosting weddings or events to broaden the
Group’s income stream. The Group intends to brand Balgownie
as an integrated resort based travel destination for travelling and
event-hosting resort.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
commenced the provision of administrative and management
services for Hong Kong Health Check and Medical Diagnostic
Centre Limited, a subsidiary of the Group's associate, which
operates a laboratory in Hong Kong and generated income of
approximately HK$16,005,000. It is currently expected that the
demand for this service will substantially decrease due to the
expected size of operation of such laboratory.

Going forward, the Group will continue to carry on its existing
businesses by formulation and implementation of its own
business plans and strategies and leveraging its own business
model, competitiveness and strengths so as to develop, maintain
and enhance its existing businesses, which will be viable and
sustainable and will be able to create value and investment return
for the Shareholders.

Strategic Update

Entering into 2023, both regional and global markets
will unquestionably remain sensitive to geopolitical and
macroeconomic uncertainties. The Group’s focus will be on (i)
maintaining operational resilience in times of unpredictability
and challenges; (ii) remaining competitive and forward-
thinking, skillfully executing its strategy; and (iii) exploring new
opportunities, experimenting and moving steadily and boldly
towards greater success.

The Group's focus will remain on the successful execution of its
strategic plans and working together with the regulators and
other stakeholders to support the prosperity and sustainability of
the markets and communities where the Group operates. Also,
the Group’s commitment to strengthening its competitiveness will
remain a core focus in the years ahead. The Group is confident
that the efforts it has been making will position it strongly for the
next phase of its journey and generate value over the longer term.
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N\ANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$594,830,000 (2021: HK$657,894,000)
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$9,313,000 (2021: HK$10,839,000), among which
approximately 33% (2021: 49%) were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, 1% (2021: 2%) were denominated in United States
dollars, 1% (2021: 1%) were denominated in Renminbi, 65%
(2021: 39%) were denominated in Australian dollars and Nil
(2021: 9%) were denominated in Indonesian Rupiah. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had borrowings repayable within
one year (or on demand) of approximately HK$83,822,000
(2021: HK$86,827,000). These borrowings bore interest at
rates ranging from 2.9% to 11% per annum (2021: 2.9% to
10.5%), among which approximately 68% (2021: 70%) were
subject to fixed interest rates. Out of the total borrowings,
approximately 32% (2021: 32%) were denominated in Australian
dollars, the balance of approximately 51% (2021: 47%) were
denominated in Renminbi and approximately 17% (2021: 21%)
was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group had borrowing facilities to the extent of approximately
HK$123,737,000 (2021: HK$139,465,000). As at 31 December
2022, approximately HK$115,329,000 (2021: HK$134,875,000)
of the facilities had been utilised by the Group. There is no
seasonality in relation to the borrowing requirements of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated on
the basis of total liabilities to total assets) was 0.50 times (2021:
0.52 times) and its net debt-to-equity capital ratio (calculated as
the total trade and other payables, accruals and provision, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, derivative financial liabilities,
convertible loans, and lease liabilities less pledged time deposit
and cash and cash equivalents, over equity attributable to the
Shareholders) was 0.76 times (2021: 0.80 times).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$296,239,000 (2021: HK$322,726,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had borrowings of
approximately HK$115,329,000 (2021: HK$134,875,000). Certain
loans are subject to the fulfilment of covenants commonly found
in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group
was to breach the covenants, the draw down facilities would
become repayable on demand. In addition, the Group’s certain
loan agreements contain clauses which give the lenders the right
at their sole discretion to demand immediate repayment at any
time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with the
covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.
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The exposure of the Group’s borrowings is as follows: rEEZEERRBUNT .
2022 2021
—P-F | B
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAT FH7T
(Audited) (Audited)
(IR BEI%) (RE %)
Fixed-rate borrowings BIEFEMEE 78,500 94,165
Variable-rate borrowings FEAEEE 36,829 40,710
115,329 134,875
Secured Bigm 95,329 104,044
Unsecured eI 20,000 30,831
115,329 134,875
The carrying amounts of the above borrowings BT BHAEEN LiEEZ
are repayable: ARMEME -
Within one year or on demand —FREFER 83,822 86,827
In the second year - 5,322 18,663
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEELTF (BEEEMS) 26,185 29,385
115,329 134,875
Note: P -

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's
borrowings are as follows:

FrEBBEZSFERANREEUT

2022 2021
—E-C B

Effective interest rate: BRF]ER
Fixed-rate borrowings BEFEEE
Variable-rate borrowings FEMAEEE

3.65-11.00% 3.65-10.50%
2.90-6.04% 2.90-2.91%
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE

During the year under review, the Group mainly generated
revenue and incurred costs in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi,
Australian dollars and Indonesian Rupiah. The Group did not
invest in any derivative product for hedging during the year
under review. Nevertheless, the Group will keep monitoring its
foreign currency risk and when there are uncertainties or material
fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates, the Group will consider
using appropriate hedging instruments, including futures and
forward contracts in managing the Group'’s exposure in relation to
fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, certain borrowing facilities of
the Group were secured by freehold land and buildings of
approximately HK$85,450,000 (2021: HK$91,770,000) and
financial assets at FVTOCI of approximately HK$91,701,000 (2021:
HK$137,978,000).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no capital commitments
contracted but not provided for (2021: HK$Nil).

SHARE PREMIUM CANCELLATION

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 June
2022, the Shareholders approved the proposal (“Share Premium
Cancellation”) to cancel the entire amount standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company to nil with
the credit arising therefrom to be transferred to the contributed
surplus account of the Company and to authorise the Board to
apply such amount in such manner as permitted under the laws
of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-Laws”).
The implementation of the Share Premium Cancellation did not
involve any reduction in the authorised or issued share capital of
the Company, or any reduction in the nominal value of the Shares
or alteration of the trading arrangements concerning the Shares.
The Share Premium Cancellation took effect on 13 June 2022.

Details of the Share Premium Cancellation are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 26 April 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated 3 May 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DISPOSAL OF ZHIQU

On 7 December 2015, WREFEEFM (LB BRAE (in
English for identification purpose, Jixiang Information Technology
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.) (“Jixiang"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Mr. Xu lJialiang, Mr. Xu Xiaofeng (collectively,
the “Vendors”), FBEBESHER AR (in English, for
identification purpose, Shanghai Zhiqu Advertisement Co., Ltd.)
("Zhiqu") and LEO entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(as amended and supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated 11 January 2016) (“Zhiqu SP Agreement”), pursuant
to which LEO agreed to acquire, and the Vendors agreed to
sell, the entire equity interest of Zhiqu (“Zhiqu Disposal”). The
Vendors and LEO also entered into the performance compensation
agreement (“Performance Compensation Agreement”) in
relation to the adjustments to the total consideration for the Zhiqu
Disposal. The total consideration shall be subject to adjustments
("Adjustments”, each an "Adjustment”) in accordance with
the Performance Compensation Agreement in the manner as
stipulated below:

For the purpose of the Adjustments, the “Audited NOP"” is Zhiqu's
audited net operating profit after tax, after adjustments for, where
applicable, any non-recurring and exceptional gains or losses,
whichever is lower, that are not related to the ordinary business
of Zhiqu, attributable to shareholders of the parent company
of Zhiqu as deduced from the audited consolidated financial
statements of Zhiqu for the relevant financial year ended 31
December 2016 (“FY2016"), financial year ended 31 December
2017 ("FY2017") and financial year ended 31 December 2018
("FY2018") (each a "Guaranteed FY"). The Vendors severally
(but among Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, jointly and
severally) undertook to LEO that:

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 shall be not less than
RMB58,000,000 (“2016 Target NOP");

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 shall be not less than
RMB75,400,000 (“2017 Target NOP"); and

(iii) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 shall be not less than
RMB98,020,000 (“2018 Target NOP").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Vendors and LEO agreed that the amount of Adjustment
("Adjustment Amount”) for each Guaranteed FY shall be settled
by the Vendors in the following order:

(i) firstly, by the consideration shares allotted and issued to
Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, in proportion to the
consideration shares allotted and issued to them (“Xu's
Shares”);

(i) if the Xu's Shares shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, secondly, in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng in proportion to the cash consideration
received by them (“Xu’s Cash”);

(iii) if Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng have not fully
compensated LEO, thirdly, by the consideration shares allotted
and issued to the Group ("Jixiang’s Shares”);

(iv) if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash and the Jixiang's Shares shall
be insufficient to settle the relevant Adjustment Amount,
fourthly, in cash by the Group, which is subject to a cap of
RMB25,510,009 (“Jixiang's Cash”); and

(v) if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash, the Jixiang's Shares and
the Jixiang's Cash shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, finally, in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng to settle the balance.

Upon the end of each Guaranteed FY and the issue of the special
audit report of Zhiqu for FY2018, LEO shall engage qualified
auditors to conduct asset impairment test and issue a report in
respect of any asset impairment. Where the asset impairment
of Zhiqu as reflected in such report shall be more than the total
Adjustment Amount compensated by the Vendors to LEO, the
Vendors shall compensate LEO a sum equal to the difference
between such asset impairment and the Adjustment Amount then
compensated by the Vendors to LEO, which shall be settled first
by the consideration shares (the value of which shall be calculated
by multiplying such number of consideration shares with the
issue price), with payment of cash to settle the balance (if any).
All liabilities of the Group under the Performance Compensation
Agreement shall at all times be capped at the total consideration
received by it.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2016 published by
LEO on 30 August 2017, the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016
amounted to RMB32,239,594.87, which is less than the 2016
Target NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2016 shall
be RMB83,931,144.53 and shall be settled by 18,166,915 Xu's
Shares (“FY2016 Compensation”). The Group is not required to
pay any compensation to LEO in respect of the Audited NOP of
Zhiqu for FY2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As disclosed in LEO's announcement dated 31 August 2017, Mr.
Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng shall pay additional compensation
which comprises (i) an aggregate of 21,993,909 LEO’s shares to
LEO; and (ii) cash in the aggregate amount of RMB80,000,000
to Zhiqu, on or before 31 December 2017 (“Additional
Compensation”). According to LEO's announcement dated 19
December 2017, such shares were returned to LEO for distribution
to its shareholders in December 2017.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2017 published by
LEO on 14 December 2018, the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017
amounted to RMB36,689,479.02, which is less than the 2017
Target NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2017
shall be RMB126,124,504.45 and shall be settled by 3,821,856
Xu's Shares and Xu's Cash in the amount of RMB108,467,529.73
("FY2017 Compensation”) taking into consideration the
Additional Compensation. However, as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 15 March 2019, according to LEO's
announcement dated 15 March 2019, given that the 3,821,856
Xu's Shares were not sufficient to settle the FY2017 Compensation
and Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng were unable to provide
the Xu's Cash in the amount of approximately RMB108,468,000,
in accordance with the settlement mechanism above, the FY2017
Compensation shall be settled by 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares
and the Group shall also return the cash dividend in the amount
of approximately RMB506,000 received from LEO to an account
designated by LEO.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29
April 2019, on 29 April 2019, the Group received a letter from
the Shanghai International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (Shanghai International Arbitration Center)
("SHIAC") that LEO had commenced arbitration proceedings
against the Group to pursue the settlement of the portion of the
FY2017 Compensation that Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
were unable to satisfy (“Unsettled FY2017 Compensation”).
As at 31 December 2018, the Company has been preliminarily
advised by its legal advisers as to the laws of the PRC that the
Group should have a good chance to argue in such arbitration
proceeding that the demand from LEO for settlement of the
Unsettled FY2017 Compensation should not be upheld. The
hearing of the arbitration proceeding was held on 24 September
2019 before a panel of three arbitrators.

According to the announcement of LEO dated 8 November 2019,
based on the special audit report in respect of the Audited NOP of
Zhiqu for FY2018, the Audit NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounted
to RMB7,701,500, which is less than the 2018 Target NOP.
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According to the announcement of LEO dated 3 December
2019, in view of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 being
RMB7,701,500, the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 shall be
RMB402,738,466.59 accordingly. The Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 shall be settled by the Xu's Shares, and where such shares
are insufficient, by the Xu's Cash received by Mr. Xu lJialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng. Given that Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng no longer hold any consideration shares, they will be
required to compensate LEO in cash. LEO will issue a demand
notice for compensation to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
after the compensation proposal in respect of the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 has been approved by the shareholders of
LEO. If Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the
Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in full within 30 days after
the issue of the demand notice, the Group will be required
to settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 by 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares that it holds and, if such shares are insufficient,
by Jixiang’s Cash. In addition, the Group will also be required to
return the cash bonus in relation to the Jixiang's Shares that it
has received from LEO, the amount of which as determined in
accordance with the amount of compensation that the Group
is required to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such settlement, will be
required to compensate LEO in cash. LEO will seek approval from
its shareholders in respect of the above compensation proposal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 6
December 2019, on 6 December 2019, the Group received
a letter from SHIAC indicating that it has approved LEO's
application (“Application”) to make the following amendments
(“Amendments”) to certain demands made by LEO against
the Group in relation to the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017
Compensation:

(i) the transfer of 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) held by the Group to LEQ;

(i) if the Group is unable to transfer the entire 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares (instead of 23,477,822 lixiang's Shares) to
LEO, the shortfall shall be compensated to LEO by way of
cash; and

(iii) the return of the cash bonus in the amount of approximately
RMB989,000 (instead of approximately RMB506,000) in
relation to the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) by the Group to LEO.

In the Application, further to the above amendments, LEO also
demands the Group to pay LEO (i) cash compensation in the
amount of approximately RMB25,510,000; and (i) an amount
which is calculated from the date of the Application, based on
the amount of unsettled compensation due from the Group to
LEO times the one-year loan prime rate published on 21 October
2019 as authorised by the People’s Bank of China (i.e. 4.20% per
annum), as compensation for the loss suffered by LEO.

It is stated in the Application that the Amendments are proposed
taking into consideration that (i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for
FY2018 as reported in the special audit report in respect of the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounting to approximately
RMB7,702,000, is less than the 2018 Target NOP (i.e.
RMB98,020,000); and (ii) any party in breach of the Performance
Compensation Agreement shall be liable for damages caused
to the parties not in default. It is stated in the letter that the
Group shall provide rebuttal opinion on evidence in respect
of the supplemental information attached to the Application
("Rebuttal”) within five working days after the receipt of the
letter.
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N\ANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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On 10 December 2019, the Group has instructed its PRC legal
adviser to provide the Rebuttal and an objection to the Application
("Objection”) to the SHIAC. In the Objection, the Group
requested the SHIAC to reject the Application, taking into account
that (i) the Application was made too late, which would severely
affect the normal process of the arbitration; and (ii) the inclusion
of the compensation for the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 into
the amended demands under the Application would complicate
the case and cause delay to the arbitration proceedings, and
more importantly, the LEO’s claims against the Group in relation
to the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 are subject to (a) the
LEO's claims against Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng after
the shareholders of LEO have given their approval of the related
compensation proposal; and (b) the failure of Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in
full within 30 days after the issue of the demand notice by LEO.

On 19 December 2019, LEO issued a letter to Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng demanding the settlement of the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018. In response to the demand letter issued by
LEO on 19 December 2019 as mentioned above, Mr. Xu Jialing
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng informed LEO in writing on 20 December
2019 that they were unable to pay the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 due to their financial difficulties. If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in
full within 30 days after the issue of the demand letter, the Group
will be required to settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018
by way of the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares that it holds and, if
such shares are insufficient, by way of cash, which is subject to
a cap of approximately RMB25,510,000 (being the amount of
cash consideration received by the Group in relation to the Zhiqu
Disposal). In addition, the Group will also be required to return the
cash dividend in relation to the Jixiang’s Shares that it has received
from LEO, the amount of which as determined in accordance with
the amount of compensation the Group is required to pay. If there
is still a shortfall in the settlement of the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly
liable for such settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in
cash. As set out in LEO's announcement dated 14 January 2020,
LEO has sought approval from its shareholders in respect of the
proposal to repurchase and cancel the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares
held by the Group as partial settlement of the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8
February 2021, the Group received the arbitral awards (”Arbitral
Awards"”) issued by the SHIAC in respect of the demands made
by LEO against the Group in relation to the settlement of the
Unsettled FY2017 Compensation and the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018, the details of which are as follows:

(i) the Group shall transfer 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares it holds to
LEO and assist LEO with matters relating to the acquisition and
cancellation of such shares;

(i) if the Group is unable to transfer the entire 45,779,220
Jixiang’s Shares to LEO within 45 days from 5 February 2021
(i.e. the date on which the Arbitral Awards were issued by the
SHIAC (“Award Date")), the shortfall shall be compensated
by the Group to LEO by way of cash, the amount of which
shall be calculated using the following formula: Amount of
cash compensation to be paid to LEO = A x 16.17/3.5

A, being the number of Jixiang's shares in shortfall;

(iii) the Group shall pay to LEO (a) cash compensation in the
amount of RMB9,626,612.92 ("Cash Compensation”); and
(b) damages. The amount of which shall be calculated using
the following formula: Amount of cash damages to be paid to
LEO = 9,626,612.92 x 3.85%/365 x B

B, being the number of days from 4 December 2019 to the
date on which the Cash Compensation is fully paid by the
Group to LEO;

(iv) the Group shall return the cash bonus in the amount of
RMB987,523.17 to LEO;

(v) the Group shall pay to LEO RMB500,000 of the legal fees
incurred by LEO as a result of the disputes with the Group over
the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation and
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 (“Disputes”); and

(vi) the Group and LEO shall bear 70% and 30% of the arbitration
fees incurred to settle the Disputes, respectively. Given that
LEO has fully settled the entire amount of the arbitration fees
of RMB1,632,434, the Group shall pay 70% of such fees (i.e.
RMB1,142,703.80) to LEO.

The Arbitral Awards set out above are final and they shall be
performed by the Group within 45 days from the Award Date.
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On 20 October 2021, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange issued
a disciplinary action advance notification (“Notification”) to
Jixiang, Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, indicating that
(i) Jixiang, Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng had breached
Rules 1.4, 2.3 and 11.11.1 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Shares on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (November 2018
Revision)* CRIIEHFXZPIRE LMRA (2018F 11 BEET))
("Shenzhen Listing Rules”) and Rule 1.3 of the Guidelines of
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the Standard Operation of Listed
Companies on the Small and Medium-sized Enterprise Board
(2015 Revision)* CRINFEHFRZ Z A/ NEFER EH AT RELE
YE353| (2015£E185])), given that (a) Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng failed to fully compensate LEO in accordance with the
Performance Compensation Agreement; and (b) Jixiang did not
pay the compensation of RMB221 million to LEO in accordance
with the arbitration judgement made by the SHIAC, whereas
Zhigu's audited net operating profit after tax and other prescribed
adjustments for the financial years ended 31 December 2016,
2017 and 2018 were less than RMB58,000,000, RMB75,400,000
and RMB98,020,000, respectively; and (i) the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange intends to impose the disciplinary action of the
circulation of a criticism notice on Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, pursuant to Rule 17.2 of the Shenzhen Listing Rules
and Rule 27 of the Standards of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
for Imposition of Disciplinary Action on Listed Companies (for Trial
Implementation)* CRINFESRZFA LT ABLER D BHEE
(#17)).

According to the Notification, if Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng fail to submit their statements and pleadings in writing
and evidence in relation to the matters set out in the Notification
to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange by 27 October 2021, they would
be deemed to have waived their rights to make their statements
and pleadings.

As at the date of this Annual Report, no such written statements
and pleadings and evidence have been submitted by Jixiang to the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Details of the Notification are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 21 October 2021.

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In February 2023, it came to the attention of the Board that LEO
has applied to Shanghai Third Intermediate People’s Court (1=
BHE=FRRARERT), for acceptance of an application for
insolvent liquidation against Jixiang on the grounds that (i) Jixiang
has failed to settle the Arbitral Awards within 45 days from the
award day in accordance with the arbitration judgement made by
the SHIAC on 5 February 2021, in respect of the demands made
by LEO against Jixiang in relation to the settlement of the 2017
Unsettled Compensation and the Adjustment Amount for FY2018;
and (i) Jixiang would not be able to settle the Arbitral Awards
based on LEQ’s assessment of the financial position of Jixiang.

The Group is in the course of seeking legal advice on the above
matter. The Company will keep the Shareholders and potential
investors informed of any further material developments
in connection with the above matter by way of further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Details of the Zhiqu Disposal and the calculation of the
Adjustment Amount for each Guaranteed FY are set out in (i)
the announcements of the Company dated 8 December 2015,
11 January 2016, 29 February 2016, 20 May 2016, 5 July 2016,
5 September 2016, 7 September 2016, 31 August 2017, 14
December 2018, 15 March 2019, 9 April 2019, 29 April 2019,
8 November 2019, 3 December 2019, 6 December 2019, 10
December 2019, 27 December 2019, 8 February 2021 and 7
February 2023; and (i) the circular of the Company dated 11
February 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

The Group was involved in the following legal proceedings and
claims:

(a)

50

On 19 December 2017, Ever Robust Holdings Limited (“Ever
Robust”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received a writ of summons with a statement of
claim (“Writ") issued in the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong (“Court”) by Convoy Global Holdings
Limited (“Convoy”), Convoy Collateral Limited (“Second
Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities Limited (“Third Plaintiff”,
together with Convoy and the Second Plaintiff, collectively
as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other defendants, Ever
Robust (together with the other defendants, collectively as the
“"Defendants”).

Based on the Writ, the orders sought by the Plaintiffs against
Ever Robust are as follows: (i) Convoy sought an order as
against, among others, Ever Robust, that the allotment of the
shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust
on 29 October 2015, be set aside; (i) the Second Plaintiff and
the Third Plaintiff sought an order that the financing facilities
granted by them, including the loan (“Convoy Loan”) in the
amount of HK$129,000,000 granted to Ever Robust by the
Second Plaintiff on 9 November 2015, and the margin loan
("Margin Loan") granted to Ever Robust by the Third Plaintiff
which amounted to HK$67,574,473 as at 29 March 2016, be
rescinded; and (iii) the Plaintiffs sought against, among others,
Ever Robust for (a) general or special damages; (b) interests;
(c) costs; and (d) further and/or other reliefs (“Convoy
Proceedings”). As at 19 December 2017, Ever Robust had
fully repaid the Convoy Loan and the Margin Loan and did not
hold any shares in Convoy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference hearing
was held before the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris on the
Convoy Proceedings. On 9 July 2018, Ever Robust has received
an amended writ of summons and an amended statement
of claim (“Amended Statement of Claim”). Pursuant to
the Amended Statement of Claim, the reliefs sought by the
Plaintiffs against Ever Robust are amended as follows: (i) a
declaration and order as against among others, Ever Robust,
that the allotment of the shares in Convoy by Convoy to,
among others, Ever Robust, on 29 October 2015, is null
and void, or has been rescinded and set aside (as sought by
Convoy); (i) an account of profits and an order for payment
of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation to
be assessed, and/or damages to be assessed for breach of
fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful means
conspiracy, as against, among others, Ever Robust (as
sought by Convoy); (iii) an order against, among others, Ever
Robust, for an account of profits and an order for payment
of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation to
be assessed, and/or damages to be assessed for breach of
fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful means
conspiracy (as sought by the Second Plaintiff and the Third
Plaintiff); and (iv) against, among others, Ever Robust, for (a)
general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d)
further and/or other reliefs (as sought by all the Plaintiffs).

On 27 July 2018, Ever Robust received a sealed order
(“Order”) dated 28 June 2018 against, among other
Defendants, Ever Robust, in which 11 parties are ordered to
join the proceedings as additional defendants. Pursuant to
the Order, it is further ordered, among other matters, as to
between the Plaintiffs and Ever Robust (among certain other
Defendants), that the Plaintiffs do have leave to file and serve
the Amended Statement of Claim.

On 30 November 2018, Ever Robust received a copy sealed
order dated 1 November 2018 against, among other
defendants, Ever Robust, in which a party is ordered to join
the proceedings as an additional defendant.

On 10 December 2018, Ever Robust filed its defence
("Defence”) to the Plaintiff’s claim in the Convoy Proceedings
with the Court. Pursuant to the Defence, Ever Robust avers
that the Plaintiffs are not entitled to any relief against Ever
Robust in the Convoy Proceedings.

'_:,ILE Dj-DHHEZ 7|t):|'

RIZE-N\FE=ARB BN LEEMRE
%D):FD//;\\L%—TT*T#'_E:EE;E%HVDH I
—N\FtBNB > BREZELETEHN
CHREEETTRRE (REFTRERE)) °
7@?)%2“(1'5333%%’J?%/\If??%ﬁfﬁ%ﬂ’\]
BRESTUT (()—BHit (HPha#E) &
RHEREZRN _Z2—AF+HAZ+1nH
| (HPE1E) B ERRRONERK
L RABYHEHE REE WERME
K) S(INREFAEFES R—EMRERKE
B ERER/REEEE - THER
Ej] IEERHEEFERBEMmE Y (HA
B118) R EH A RS R B RIE
BFAEZEFEHER, N FTEZIE
ERENH S WEEMSXR) ;i) (E
BiE) BRBSREMEFNBERESHRA
EREEEA - ZTEER /X EEERE
R E 78 IEER REETFEBRM
BRI EFEMRIE BT E 2@ Fm
EBr/ BB FHFEZIEEHBE MER
HFEAREZREAFRSNR) ; KivitE (H
) BRI EEEBE b)
FEG OB R(dE—FT R/ HEMER
WFFBREAPRER) ©

RIE-—NFLAZ+tH EREEE—
MHEERERSEREAZLHAEAT
Z—NFRAZ+NBzEHG< (T
L) O ERBLNBSTELEAMIEWE
AMABRIZEEREF BRAERRES AKRE
B (BEEeETHMESA) BNHEMSEIE
ShrZn S NE—FTHRSBES ABEST
ﬂﬁ%&%%%@ﬂgquﬁﬁgo

R TE-NE+—A=1+H EFEEE—
NHEOEERSREAZLHARA-Z
—/\EH— A—Bz=Ha<rl4 EF

—RIBDERMIBRS AMABRK
/£1$5sz“°

RZZ— /\E—i— A+H ERMER
Dﬁu@m/fﬁfﬁ @}%L_\i}\%{EZ?ﬂ#D#%
(MAEE) - RBENEHS ERBHRS
ANBERRZHFALATPRERZTNEME
%o

ERBEBRZERBRAR | S "FFHK 51



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E 5o R T

52

On 30 August 2019, Ever Robust filed its amended Defence
pursuant to the order of Hon Harris J dated 12 July 2019.

Further details of the Convoy Proceedings are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 19 December 2017, 1 June
2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018.

After seeking the legal opinion, the Group considered that
there was no assessed monetary claim by Plaintiffs and it
is premature to give opinion on the probable outcome and
estimate the ultimate liability.

On 2 January 2018, Ever Robust received a petition
(“Petition”) issued in the Court by Zhu Xiao Yan
("Petitioner”) against, among other respondents, Ever
Robust. Based on the Petition, the Petitioner has held and
continues to hold 3,234,000 shares in Convoy since around
mid-2015, and the Petitioner sought the following orders
against, among others, Ever Robust: (i) a declaration that the
placement of 3,989,987,999 shares in Convoy by Convoy to,
among other placees, Ever Robust, and/or such placed shares
are void ab initio and of no legal effect or, alternatively, be set
aside; (ii) damages for dilution of the Petitioner’s shareholding;
(i) interest; (iv) such further or other relief and all necessary
and consequential directions as the Court may think fit; and
(v) costs (“Zhu Proceedings”). As at 2 January 2018, Ever
Robust did not hold any shares in Convoy.

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference was held
on the Zhu Proceedings, in which the Honourable Mr. Justice
Harris made an order that the Zhu Proceedings be stayed
with liberty to restore, pending the outcome of the Convoy
Proceedings.

Further details of the Zhu Proceedings are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 2 January 2018.

The Group has sought preliminary opinion on the above legal
proceedings from its solicitors (or legal adviser) in Hong Kong,
who, based on the information available as of the date of this
Annual Report, is of the opinion that:

— there is no assessed monetary claim except the Plaintiffs’
claim and the Petitioner's claims against Ever Robust for
damages to be assessed;

— it is premature to give opinion on the probable outcome;
and

— itis premature to estimate the ultimate liability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The litigation between, among others, the Group and LEO in
relation to the Zhiqu Disposal. Further details are set out in
pages 41 to 49 of this Annual Report.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, a
subsidiary of the Company (“Borrower”) had breached the
covenant of a loan (“Loan”) in the original principal amount
of RMB79,868,600 granted by Essence Securities Co., Limited
("Lender”), which is secured by certain of the listed securities.
On 17 January 2020, the Borrower received the summons
("Summons”) issued by the Lender, as plaintiff, in Shenzhen
Intermediate People’s Court (“SZ Court”) against the
Borrower as defendant. Pursuant to the Summons, the Lender
demands the SZ Court to order the Borrower to: (i) repay to
the Lender the outstanding principal amount of the Loan
in the sum of approximately RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$79,216,000); (ii) pay to the Lender interest
at the rate of 6% per annum accrued on the outstanding
principal amount of the Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$79,216,000)
from 20 June 2019 to the date of repayment; (iii) pay to
the Lender liquidated damages at the daily rate of 0.03%,
including liquidated damages on the outstanding interest
in the sum of approximately RMB1,042,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,164,000) from 16 September 2019
to the date of repayment and liquidated damages on the
principal from 19 June 2018 to the date of repayment; (iv)
pay to the Lender its legal costs in making the claims in the
sum of RMB76,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$85,000);
(v) use the proceeds from the realisation of certain of the
listed securities pledged by the Borrower (“Pledged Assets”)
through discounting, sale or auction firstly to repay to the
Lender the outstanding amount of the Loan, the interest, the
liquidated damages and the legal costs; and (vi) bear all the
litigation costs such as case acceptance fees and security fee
of this case. As per the Summons, the aggregate amount of
the claims under (i) to (iv) up to 18 November 2019 amounted
to approximately RMB85,186,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$95,187,000).
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On or around 20 November 2020, the Borrower received the
judgement (“Judgement”) issued by the SZ Court in relation
to the Summons, pursuant to which:

)

the Borrower shall within ten days after the Judgement
becoming effective, repay to the Lender (a) the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan in the sum
of approximately RMB71 million and interest on the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan (consisting of
(i) interest in the amount of approximately RMB1 million
accrued from 20 June 2019 to 16 September 2019; and
(i) interest at the rate of 6% per annum accrued on the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan in the sum of
approximately RMB71 million from 16 September 2019 to
the date of repayment); (b) liquidated damages at the daily
rate of 3/10,000 on the outstanding interest in the sum of
approximately RMB1 million payable from 16 September
2019 to the date of repayment; and (c) liquidated
damages at the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the outstanding
principal amount of the Loan (consisting of (i) liquidated
damages in the amount of approximately RMB1 million
payable from 19 June 2019 to 19 August 2019; and (ii)
liquidated damages on the outstanding principal amount
of the Loan in the sum of approximately RMB71 million
payable from 19 August 2019 to the date of repayment);

the Lender shall have the right to the Pledged Assets
as a chargee and the priority to be compensated with
the proceeds from the realisation of the Pledged Assets
through discounting, auction or sale; and

out of the litigation costs (consisting of case acceptance
fees and security fee) in the aggregate amount of
approximately RMB473,000, approximately RMB465,000
and approximately RMB8,000 shall be borne by the
Borrower and the Lender, respectively.

Save for the above, the orders the Lender demanded the SZ
Court to make against the Borrower in the Summons were
rejected by the SZ Court.

Further details of the Summons and the Judgment are set out
in the Company’ announcements dated 18 January 2020 and
20 November 2020.

The Group completed the TH Disposals on 3 March 2021 and
10 March 2021 to partially repay the Loan and the liabilities
owed to the Lender under the Loan as required by the
Judgment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(e) As set out in the paragraph headed “Business and Financial

Review” in the Management Discussion and Analysis in this
Annual Report, the CL Borrower and the CL Lender entered in
the CL Loan Agreement for the CL Loan, which was secured
by the CL Mortgaged Shares.

The CL Loan became mature on 4 September 2021 and on
27 September 2021, the Group received letters from the legal
representatives of the CL Lender that owing to CL Borrower’s
failure to repay the CL Loan and the interest accrued thereon,
the CL Lender has initiated legal proceedings (i) against the
CL Borrower and the Company for, among other things,
repayment of the CL Loan and the interest accrued thereon;
and (i) to obtain the court order/judgment for transfer of
the CL Mortgaged Shares to the CL Lender or the buyer
nominated by the CL Lender pursuant to the CL Share
Mortgage.

On 3 November 2021, the Company received a letter from
the legal representatives of the CL Lender that a hearing
in relation to the litigation is scheduled to be heard by the
High Court of Hong Kong (“High Court”) on 10 December
2021 ("Hearing”) and the orders or directions the CL
Lender intends to seek at the Hearing include, among
others, (i) the CL Borrower do pay the CL Lender the sum
of HK$31,541,095.89, being the outstanding principal and
interest calculated up to 20 September 2021 and interest on
the sum of HK$30,000,000.00 at the rate of 5% per annum
from 21 September 2021 until payment; and (ii) the CL Lender
is at liberty to sell the CL Mortgaged Shares and apply the
sales proceeds towards satisfaction and/or reduction of the
sums due under the CL Loan.

At the Hearing, the Master of the High Court determined that
the originating summons (“Originating Summons”) served
by the CL Lender as the plaintiff of the litigation to the CL
Borrower and the Company as the defendants were defective
and irregular mainly due to the CL Lender’s failure to serve
the Originating Summons to the appropriate address of the
CL Borrower and the Company respectively. Accordingly, the
CL Lender was granted leave to withdraw the Originating
Summons.

On 16 December 2021, the Group received a letter from
the legal representatives of the CL Lender that owing to the
CL Borrower’s failure to repay the CL Loan and the interest
accrued thereon, the CL Lender has exercised its rights
pursuant to the terms of the CL Share Mortgage and executed
an instrument of transfer to transfer the CL Mortgaged Shares
to the CL Lender on 14 December 2021, which resulted in the
Forced Sale.
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Prior to the Forced Sale, the CL Borrower was owned as to 51%
by the Company and 49% by the CL Lender. Upon the Forced
Sale, the CL Mortgaged Shares are no longer beneficially owned
by the Company and the CL Borrower Group have ceased to
be subsidiaries of the Company and the financial results of the
CL Borrower Group have ceased to be accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. As a result of the
Forced Sale, the Group recorded a gain on disposal of a subsidiary
of approximately HK$79,013,000.

Further details of the Hearing and the Originating Summons are
set out in the Company's announcements dated 27 September
2021, 3 November 2021 and 13 December 2021.

The Group has made provisions for the above legal proceedings
except for items (a), (b) and (e) above as the Group is not able to
reliably assess the amount of potential liabilities under the cases
in items (a) and (b) above and the Forced Sale was completed on
14 December 2021 for item (e). The Company will, in accordance
with the applicable laws, make every effort to protect the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders, proactively respond to the
above cases and defend its position vigorously. The Company will
closely monitor the development of the above matters and make
further announcements if and when there are any significant
developments in relation to each of these legal proceedings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Litigation and Claims”
in the Management Discussion and Analysis in this Annual Report,
as at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 110
employees (2021: 300). The significant decrease in the number of
employees as at 31 December 2022 as compared with that as at
31 December 2021 was mainly due to the Forced Sale. Staff costs
(including the Directors’ salaries, allowances and bonuses totaled
approximately HK$42,377,000 for the year under review (2021:
HK$1,503,898,000), of which HK$Nil (2021: HK$1,347,001,000)
was included in the cost of services. The Group continues
to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its workforce by
providing them with adequate and regular training.

Remuneration of employee is determined by reference to industry
practices and performance, qualifications and experience of
individual employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The emolument policies of the Directors are decided by the Board,
taking into account the recommendations of the remuneration
committee of the Board, having regard to merit, qualifications and
competence of the Directors.

On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to employees and the Directors by
reference to the Group's performance as well as individual
performance of such employees and/or Directors, and other
benefits including contributions to pension scheme and medical
scheme are also provided to the employees.

The Company adopted the share option scheme pursuant to an
ordinary resolution of all the then Shareholders passed on 4 June
2020, and the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion,
to grant options to eligible participants including any eligible
employee, any directors (including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary of the Company or any invested entity; any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any customer of any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the Group or
any invested entity, any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any invested entity, any professional
adviser, consultant, individual or entity who in the opinion of the
Directors has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group, and any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group. There was no share
option outstanding as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). Details
of the share options outstanding during the year under review are
set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in the
Directors' Report in this Annual Report.
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RECTORS PROFILE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, aged 38, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”)
with effect from 17 September 2021. Mr. Ng obtained his
Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Financial Economics Degree
from the University of New South Wales in 2008. Thereafter,
Mr. Ng further completed his Master of Science in Financial
Mathematics Degree from the Bayes Business School of the City
University of London (formerly known as Cass Business School
of the City University of London) in 2014. Mr. Ng is experienced
in banking and finance, and previously worked in various banks
and financial institutions. Mr. Ng was appointed as an executive
director of China Demeter Financial Investments Limited (“China
Demeter”), a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock
Code: 8120), with effect from 5 February 2016, was redesignated
to a non-executive director with effect from 16 June 2017 and
has been re-designated from a non-executive director to an
executive director with effect from 3 July 2018. He has also been
appointed as the chief executive officer of China Demeter since
1 December 2020. Mr. Ng is the younger brother of Mr. Ng Ting
Kit, a substantial shareholder (having the meaning ascribed to it
in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company, who, as at the date of
this Annual Report, beneficially owns 763,780,000 shares of the
Company (“Shares”) and the entire issued share capital of King's
Group Capital Limited (which owns 345,660,000 Shares as at the
date of this Annual Report).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lam Ching Yee, aged 41, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer (“Chief
Executive Officer”) of the Company with effect from 5 June
2019. She has been appointed as the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company since 2013. Ms. Lam
was the financial controller of the Company from September
2013 to June 2019. Ms. Lam obtained her Bachelor of Business
Administration (Honours) in Finance from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2006 and she is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Lam has more than
ten years of experience in the areas of corporate restructuring,
financial management, merger and acquisition and auditing. With
effect from 23 June 2016, Ms. Lam has been appointed as an
executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited,
a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock Code: 8018).

Mr. Fong Chak Kiu (formerly known as Fong Hing Lun), aged
42, has been appointed as an executive Director, the compliance
officer and an authorised representative of the Company with
effect from 19 August 2021. Mr. Fong obtained a Double Degree
of Commerce and Business Systems from the Monash University,
Australia in October 2004, and a Master of Finance degree from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009. Mr. Fong
has more than seven years of experience in business development.
Mr. Fong has been a business development manager of a securities
company in Hong Kong since April 2017, which is licensed to carry
out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Mr. Fong is also licensed to carry out type
1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Siu Keung, Joe, aged 58, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 15
December 2011. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of Arts in
International Accounting from the City University of Hong Kong
and a Master's Degree of Corporate Governance from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Wong has extensive experience in the taxation, accounting,
financing, audit fields and public listed companies for many
years. Mr. Wong has been appointed as an executive director of
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (“DeTai”) (Stock Code: 559), a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from 25 March 2022. Mr. Wong is also an
independent non-executive director of (i) China Water Industry
Group Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1129); (ii) Worldgate
Global Logistics Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
GEM (Stock Code: 8292); and (iii) Affluent Partners Holdings
Limited (" Affluent Partners”), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1466). He
is the chairman of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Chan Ming Kit, aged 43, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 2 September
2021. Mr. Chan has more than ten years of experience in the
compliance and legal industry. From April 2007 to August
2011, Mr. Chan worked at G2000 (Apparel) Limited and left as
a compliance officer. From April 2015 to June 2017, Mr. Chan
worked as an assistant solicitor at M.C.A. Lai Solicitors LLP, a
law firm. From June 2017 to February 2018, Mr. Chan worked
as a consultant solicitor at Chan & Ho Solicitors, a law firm.
From March 2018 to June 2022, Mr. Chan worked as a partner
at Chan & Ho Solicitors, a law firm. In July 2022, Mr. Chan
established Joseph M.K. Chan, Solicitors, a law firm, and works
as the principal solicitor. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree
in laws from University of Sheffield in the United Kingdom in
June 2005. Mr. Chan obtained a postgraduate certificate in laws
from City University of Hong Kong in July 2011. Mr. Chan was
called to the barrister in Hong Kong in April 2012 and he was
admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in March
2015. Mr. Chan has been an independent non-executive director
of Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1645), since 4 May 2020. Mr. Chan was
an independent non-executive director of Nexion Technologies
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock Code:
8420), for the period from 31 May 2017 to 2 November 2020.
He is @ member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.
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Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul, aged 85, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 10
September 2021. Mr. Tong obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1963. He went to
Yale University and obtained a master’s degree in sacred theology
in July 1971. He then furthered his studies in the University of
Cambridge, England, and obtained his bachelor's degree in arts
in June 1987. Mr. Tong was called to the barrister in Hong Kong
in 1989. Mr Tong then further pursued a master's degree in arts
in the University of Cambridge, England in February 1991. Mr.
Tong was a panel member of the Securities and Futures Appeals
Tribunal for the period between April 2009 and March 2011.
Mr. Tong was appointed as a life fellow of St. John's College,
the University of Hong Kong in 2008. Mr. Tong has been an
independent non-executive director of Ching Lee Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3728), since 10 March 2016.
He is a member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee.
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The Directors present herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022. The Management Discussion and Analysis in this
Annual Report forms part of this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
45 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year under review was derived from
its business activities carried on in Hong Kong, Australia and
Indonesia. An analysis of the Group's performance for the year
ended 31 December 2022 by operating segments is set out in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 is set out in the paragraph headed “Business and Financial
Review” in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 10
to 35 in this Annual Report.
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES FTERRE R AEERZE
Bl @R H £ AN AR
() FEWIE B RAGRRE

Risks which are relevant to the Group and its business

(i) Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

The local business risks in Australia in relation to the Group's
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia could
have material impact on the businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects of the Group’s
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia.
The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to
different and changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory
and environmental requirements at the local, national or
international level in Australia. Also, new policies or measures
introduced by the governments in Australia, whether fiscal,
tax, regulatory or environmental, or other changes taking
place which affect market competition, may lead to an
increase in the Group's operating expenses and capital
expenditures, an increase in market competition, a decrease
in the overall investment return of the Group’s businesses and
may delay or disrupt the commercial operation of a business
resulting in a loss of revenue and profit, which may adversely
affect the Group's businesses, financial conditions, results
of operations and growth prospects. The Directors expect
that the Group’s business in the provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia will continue to improve with
the government’s decisions to end the pandemic declaration
coupled with strong demand for domestic travel.
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(ii) Money lending business

The money lending business of the Group is exposed to
possible default from the customers, which involves the risk of
loss due to the inability or unwillingness of customers to meet
their contractual obligations. If the customers of the money
lending business of the Group fail to meet their contractual
obligations, the Company may need to incur additional costs
to realise the collaterals for the relevant secured loans, if any.
The risks of losses will be higher for unsecured loans in the
event of default. However, the Group has adopted prudent
credit procedures in customers’ acceptance so as to minimise
the credit risk of the Group.

(iii) Assets investments business

For the Group’s assets investments business, the Group aims
at maximising the profits of the Company for the Shareholders
and will revamp its investment strategy and explore investment
opportunities with due care and diligence. Due to the volatility
and uncertainties of the securities market in Hong Kong, the
Group may suffer losses on securities trading in the future if
the investment strategy the Group has adopted does not fit
the then market conditions. The Group will regularly review
its investment portfolio and determine a suitable investment
strategy to cater for the changes in the market conditions.

Risks which are relevant to the industry and market in
which the Group operates

The Group may face risks and uncertainties posed by local political,
regulatory and religious environments and failure to comply with
country-specific regulatory restrictions may expose the Group
to fines, penalties and liabilities. There is no assurance that the
current government policies, economic and social conditions in
the regions where the Group’s business operates will not undergo
significant changes in the future. Any new rules and regulations
introduced and implemented in the future which regulate the
business in hospitality and related services in Australia, money
lending and assets investments, may adversely affect the business,
international expansion and growth prospects of the Group. The
Group will from time to time obtain updates on relevant rules
and regulations from external professionals to review and ensure
the Group is in compliance with the applicable regulations and
requirements.
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Foreign Currency Risks

The results of the Group are reported in Hong Kong dollars but
its subsidiaries may receive revenue and incur expenses in other
currencies. Any currency fluctuations arising from the translation
of the accounts of these subsidiaries, and the repatriation of
earnings, equity investments and loans may adversely affect the
Group’s businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects. A depreciation or fluctuation in the currencies
in which the Group conducts its operations relative to the Hong
Kong dollar could adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, results of operations and growth prospects.

The Group is in the process of implementing its strategy of
achieving a diversified business portfolio to reduce its reliance on
revenue and income generated from one single major segment
or geographical location, so as to minimise the risks related to
fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates. The Group may also
consider to use appropriate hedging instruments, including futures
and forward contracts in the management of exposure caused by
fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.

Financial Instrument Risks

The Group is subject to market risks, such as those in relation
to currency fluctuations and volatility of interest rates, price
risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk in the normal course of the
Group’s business. Particulars of the nature and extent of financial
instrument risks of the Company are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

On 23 December 2022, Absolutely Talent, as vendor, and Heals
Treasury, as purchaser, entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement,
pursuant to which Absolutely Talent has agreed to sell, and
Heals Treasury has agreed to acquire, the Heals Shares at the
consideration of US$5,120,623 (equivalent to approximately
HK$39,838,000). Completion of the Heals Disposal took place in
February 2023. Further details of the Heals Disposal are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 23 December 2022.

Save as disclosed, the Directors are not aware of any significant
event after the reporting period for the Group and up to the date
of this Annual Report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the consolidated financial results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years are set out on page 324 in this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year under review are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 151. The Board does not
recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 4.9% of the total sales for the year under review,
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted
to approximately 2.8%. Purchases from the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 63.6% of the total
purchases for the year under review, and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
24.0%.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders (whom to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest at any time during the year under review
in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$5,000 (2021: HK$10,000).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group's acquisitions and disposals during the
year under review and the particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in notes 33, 34 and 45 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year under review are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 155 in this Annual Report and note 32
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had distributable reserve
of approximately HK$45,221,000 (2021: HK$46,837,000)
including accumulated losses of approximately HK$1,158,320,000
(2021: HK$1,161,684,000). Under the Company's memorandum
of association, the Bye-Laws and the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies Act”), the contributed
surplus and share premium of the Company as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 were HK$Nil and approximately HK$510,233,000,
respectively.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 June
2022, the Shareholders approved the Share Premium Cancellation.
The implementation of the Share Premium Cancellation did not
involve any reduction in the authorised or issued share capital of
the Company, any reduction in the nominal value of the Shares or
alteration of the trading arrangements concerning the Shares. The
Share Premium Cancellation took effect on 13 June 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the contributed surplus of the Company
that is distributable to the Shareholders was approximately
HK$1,203,541,000. Pursuant to the Companies Act and the
Bye-Laws, subject to compliance with the conditions stated in
the relevant provisions, the Company may make distributions
to the Shareholders out of its contributed surplus account
("Contributed Surplus Account”). The amount standing to the
credit of the Contributed Surplus Account may be used to set off
the accumulated losses of the Company that may arise from time
to time.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this Annual Report, there were no matters
required to be disclosed in accordance with Rule 17.50A(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules in relation to the changes in the information
relating to the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors who held office during the year under review and up
to the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Chairman)
Executive Directors:

Ms. Lam Ching Yee
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu
Mr. Liu Jinquan

(Chief Executive Officer)

(appointed and resigned with effect
from 11 July 2022 and 9 September
2022, respectively)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chan Ming Kit
Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul
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In accordance with Bye-Law 84 of the Bye-Laws, Ms. Lam Ching
Yee and Mr. Chan Ming Kit will retire and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

None of the Directors who are being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Each of Mr. Ng Ting Ho, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Mr. Fong Chak
Kiu, Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong
Hin Sum Paul, had been re-appointed for a term of 12 months
commencing from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (both
days inclusive).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to the requirement of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has received an annual written confirmation of his
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save for disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting
during or at the end of the year under review.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, a non-executive Director, is a director of each of
Way Union Finance Limited and Delight Sky Finance Limited, which
are principally engaged in the money lending business in Hong
Kong, that are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Demeter.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
Shareholder of the Company or their respective close associates
had an interest in any business, apart from the businesses of
the Group, which competes or may compete either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year under
review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year under review.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during or at the end of the year under review was
there any arrangement where rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouse or
minor children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had, or was deemed to have, any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by the Directors as referred to in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Substantial Shareholders — long position in the shares of the
Company
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BiERRN BABESL
IRERER, g g1 (TRe171) & B (Fy=E)
Ng Ting Kit (“Mr. Ng") Beneficial owner 763,780,000 14.31%
SEs (TRE%E)) EmEBA
Interest of a controlled corporation 345,660,000 6.48%
(Note 2)
R EE 2 #wm (EE2)
King's Group Capital Limited (“"KGCL") Beneficial owner (Note 2) 345,660,000 6.48%

REERBRAR (TF

Notes:

RERPERZ ) Em#EA A (M5E2)

1. This is based on the total issued Shares as at 31 December 2022, i.e.
5,336,235,108 Shares.

2. Based on the notices of disclosure of interests of Mr. Ng and KGCL
filed with the Stock Exchange on 6 July 2021, such Shares were held
by KGCL, which is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ng. As such, Mr.
Ng is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by KGCL by virtue
of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, there were
no Shareholders or other persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company recorded in the
register as required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the emolument policy of the Company are set out in
the paragraph headed “Employees’ Remuneration Policies” in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 56 in this Annual
Report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board is authorised, at
its absolute discretion, to grant options to eligible participants
including any eligible employee, any directors (including non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of
the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any invested
entity; any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any invested entity, any customer of any member of the
Group or any invested entity, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any invested entity, any shareholder of
any member of the Group or any invested entity or any holder of
any securities issued by any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any professional adviser, consultant, individual or entity who
in the opinion of the Directors has contributed or will contribute to
the growth and development of the Group, and any other group
or classes of participants who have contributed or may contribute
by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement to the development and growth of the Group.
Following the amendments to Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules which came into effect from 1 January 2023, the Group will
only grant options to such eligible participants which are permitted
under the GEM Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards for
eligible participants’ contribution to the Group and/or to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested
entity.

The maximum entitlement of each participant would not exceed
1% of the aggregate number of shares for the time being issued
and issuable in any 12-month period under the Scheme.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option.

The exercise price will be determined by the Directors, but may not
be less than the highest of the closing price of the shares on the
GEM on the date of the grant of the option or the average of the
closing price of the shares on the GEM for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant of the option
or the nominal value of the shares.

The Scheme shall remain in force for the period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date of the Scheme which was 9
June 2020.
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The number of options available for grant under the existing
Scheme limit as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 and
the maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 533,623,510 shares of HK$0.01 each
(representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report). During the year
ended 31 December 2022, no options have been granted under
the existing Scheme limit.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 10 years from the date of grant but subject to
the early termination of the Scheme.

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held or
no performance target which must be achieved before any of the
options can be exercised.

As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, there were no
share options outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Scheme.

Details of the Scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE LOANS

In December 2021 and January 2022, Endless Foison Limited
("EFL"), a subsidiary of the Company and an investment
holding company that holds 48.33% equity interest of Luck
Key, issued the convertible loan notes (“Convertible Notes"”)
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$7,600,000 to parties
independent of the Group, for funding general working
capital of the Group. The Convertible Notes will mature on 31
March 2024 (“Maturity Date”) and do not carry interest. The
Convertible Notes may be convertible into fully paid ordinary
shares of EFL at the option of the holders of the Convertible Notes
("Noteholders”), based on the outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Notes, the agreed valuation of the Company
and the then number of issued shares of EFL in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Convertible Notes. Based on the
outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Notes
of HK$7,600,000 and the number of issued shares of EFL as at 31
December 2022 and the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Notes, the full exercise of the conversion right of such outstanding
Convertible Notes will not result in issue of more than 5% of the
existing issued shares of EFL. The Noteholders may also request
for early redemption of the Convertible Notes by EFL at 105% of
the par value of the Convertible Notes during the period from the
first business day immediately after 31 March 2023 and the date
which is 10 business days immediately before the Maturity Date.
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There was no conversion or redemption of the Convertible Notes
during the year ended 31 December 2022. The gross proceeds
of the issue of the Convertible Notes of HK$7,600,000 received
by EFL were fully utilized as general working capital of the Group
as to HK$7,000,000 in the year ended 31 December 2021 and
HK$600,000 in the year ended 31 December 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save that the related party transactions as disclosed in notes (i) to
(iii) and (v) to note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements
constituted continuing connected transaction or connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
of the Company, the related party transactions disclosed in note
37(a) to the consolidated financial statements do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of
the Company.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Save for disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director and the Director’s connected party or
a controlling shareholder had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year under review.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to its employees.
The Group has adopted paperless systems and practices in its
daily operations, such as human resources and procurement, as
appropriate. Creating a paperless working environment not only
alleviates environmental damages but also fits the commercial
goals of the Group, which saves physical space, facilitates
information sharing via IT networks, and reduces complicated
documentation procedures for the Group. Moreover, duplex
printing and copying have become the norm within the Group,
greatly reducing paper consumption and saving costs. Data on
printing is regularly collected and assessed, in order to monitor
the efficacy of the Group’s paperless environment. Details of
the Group’s commitments and efforts are summarised in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this Annual
Report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees are valuable assets of
the Group. The Group ensures all employees are reasonably
remunerated, and continues to improve, regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. Employees are encouraged to
devote their time to participate in local fund-raising activities.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and business partners to
meet its immediate and long-term goals. Based on the Group’s
business nature, most of the customers are occasional and non-
routine. To minimise credit risk, the Group in general does not
allow credit sales for individual customers. On the other hand,
credit terms ranging from 30 days to 180 days are given to sizable
corporate customers and major customers with long-term business
relationships with the Group. The Group values the feedback from
its customers and always tries to understand their needs through
regular communication and business updates.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERES

IRIT R RIR

AEETBRRIKEEEERARRER
REBITPRANERKFE (WERA) $HE
EE IRAEMRCRF RIS - &S EAR
Z2IEIREBUAREEHE TR EFBENR
FRESNEZEREIREEXEZERRE  BEAER
RERIBERBIR TP AEEREEE -
S EEIENRERERAAER ZIBE M
o RKBDRBERER A KNEBTE
BN EE K ST B RESIEN 2 S » FEIL BRI A&
BEMCIRIBE IR REB Z R IERIEAZ
HEBMANEAERFAHEZIRE - HEREA
WG —8o

BERNEZRE

FEERHINEIRFEBZESME K&
EEROTEREEESERS TTERE

HAMREY M B AT L R BN E A ~ 155 B SR R R B
ZEHR - AEBZEESRMEF 2 HEMTS
?T)\/E@JO

AEERQEAMER BERREBBHRE
REMAEHNEIHEARRPERZER -
REAEEXBIER KHEDELHIFEE
MRIFEERR - RHEEERRE  SEE—
g ﬁ@A%ﬁLﬁﬁﬁ S—HmE &
EEERAAEREERPEFHEZI AR
EEERREIFBEFERTI0AEISORZEER
H-AEBERERZRERR BREBE
HEBREMEBEN TRERZER

ERBEBRZERBRAR | S "FFHK 75



REgORS' REPORT
ERHEE

i &

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS") 9 “Financial
instruments” the expected credit loss model requires an ongoing
measurement of credit risk associated with a financial asset.
Under this model, the Group has made an impairment loss of
approximately HK$278,000 (2021: reversal of impairment loss
of approximately HK$292,000) on accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables and an impairment loss of approximately
HK$1,330,000 (2021: Nil) on deposits and other receivables for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such
as the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”), the GEM Listing Rules, and
other applicable local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group.

In addition, the Group is subject to the requirements under various
laws in relation to its different business segments. The laws and
regulations that have significant impacts on the business and
operations of the Group are as follows.
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Business Primary legislation/regulations Implication

E3] FERR ER 2 iR

Provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia

Competition and Consumer Act 2010
(Australia)

The Competition and Consumer Act 2010 covers most
areas of the business market in Australia including the
relationships between suppliers, wholesalers, retailer, and
consumers by promoting fair trading and competition
and through the provision of consumer protections.
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Business
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Primary legislation/regulations
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Money lending business

Mobile internet business
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Mobile internet business

BB EMEETS

Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of

Hong Kong)

(REANFRED) (FEZEE

%163%)

Bank Indonesia regulation No.
22/23/PBI/2020 on the Payment
System (“PS Regulation™)

BRI 2T R 488 5822/23/
PBI/20205EENfE $R 1T 38241

(TPS#RAI)

Government Regulation No. 80
of 2019 on Trade through

Electronic Systems
("GR 80/2019")

(2019 FEFE80FEFBBEF R
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(M AT R 51 5580/20195% 1)

The Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) (i) provides for the control and regulation
of money lenders and money-lending transactions and
the licensing of persons carrying on business as money
lenders; and (i) provides protection and relief against
excessive interest rates and extortionate stipulations in
respect of loans. The Group has to carry on its money
lending business in compliance with this ordinance, such
as the requirements on entering into loan transactions
and the restriction on the interest rates of the loans.

(HBEANGRE) EBZEFF163F) (RE T REAREG
BERXHZERNREURBERBEAEZHBZ ALER
EEHZHRTE ; KiMERTXBS REFHEHiRER
WEZRTE AEBARBENROANEEEEER
MEIUERR 7 RBHIERFERZIRE

PS Regulation introduces a framework and principles for
the new Indonesian payment system regime which
shift the traditional regulatory approach for Indonesian
payment systems from being “entity-based” to
becoming more “activities and risk-based” that covers
regulations including (i) operator classifications; (ii)
licensing; and (iii) ownership/control.
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GR 80/2019 provides legal certainty for the continuous
development of electronic-based trading activities in
Indonesia, and covers, among other things, E-Commerce
parties, the general requirements and obligations for
E-Commerce, the protection of consumers and personal
data and administrative sanctions for violations of GR
80/2019.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision that meets the requirements
specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year under review. The Company has taken out
and maintained directors’ liability insurance during the year under
review, which provides appropriate cover for the directors of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this Annual Report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float under the GEM
Listing Rules as at the date of this Annual Report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws,
or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

AUDITOR

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 7 January 2021 because, as part
of their normal procedures including an annual consideration
of whether they would wish to continue to act for their audit
clients, having taken into account the level of audit fees and their
available internal resources in light of their current work flows
in respect of the professional risk associated with the audit, they
decided to tender their resignation as the auditor of the Company.
The Board has resolved that, with the recommendation of the
audit committee of the Board, to appoint McMillan Woods (Hong
Kong) CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company with
effect from 7 January 2021 to fill the causal vacancy left by the
resignation of Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited.
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McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited will retire and being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited as
the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Ting Ho
Chairman

27 March 2023
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RiE s g RERARS

INTRODUCTION

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, “Group”) adopts a diversified business
development strategy and has established its firm footing in
four business segments, namely (i) mobile internet business; (ii)
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia; (iii) money
lending business; and (iv) assets investments business during the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022").

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG
Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") initiatives, plans and performances of the Group and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

The ESG Governance Structure

The Group implements a top-down management approach
regarding its ESG issues. The board of Directors of the Company
("Board”) oversees the Group's ESG performance, sets out ESG
strategies and periodically reviews the progress of the identified
material ESG issues. The Board is also responsible for ensuring
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
controls.

The Group has designated personnel to systematically identify and
address ESG issues. The designated personnel are responsible for
collecting and analysing relevant ESG data, identifying the Group’s
ESG issues, and reporting the findings to the Board. The Board
annually reviews the ESG indicators and historical ESG data and
sets the ESG goals and targets to ensure they align with industry
benchmarks, industry trends and global practices. In addition,
the Board establishes ESG data collection methods and accurate
reporting system and sets the priority and the scope of the ESG
indicators. The Board also timely perform the analytics procedure
by comparing the ESG results to historical data and the latest
industry benchmarks. If ESG goals could not be achieved, the
designated personnel would timely report to the Board and the
Board would provide feedback and assess whether a follow up
plan and additional effort should be devoted in attaining the ESG
goals.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This ESG Report only covers the Group’s businesses in relation to
the provision of hospitality and related services in Australia, money
lending business, and asset investment business in Hong Kong.
Therefore this ESG report encompasses the operating locations of
these businesses, including the Balgownie Estate Vineyard Resort
& Spa Yarra Valley (“Balgownie”) and a general administrative
office in Hong Kong. The scope of reporting is same as that for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021 ("FY2021"). It should
be noted that, while the scope of reporting remains the same,
the scale of operations in Balgownie has recorded a significant
increase from that in the previous year. The financial year
ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022") marked an encouraging
rebound for the hotel business. Balgownie operated throughout
FY2022 with reopening of its restaurant in January 2022. Yet, it
experienced four lockdowns in its region, accumulating up to a
total of 120 days in FY2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and
the hotel was under limited operations during the remaining year
of FY2021. The data provided in this ESG Report has taken into
account of this change in scale of operations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The key performance indicators (“KPIs”) gathered and shown
in this ESG Report are supplemented by explanatory notes
to establish benchmarks. The Group will extend the scope of
disclosure when and where possible.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Reporting Guide"”) as set out in Appendix 20 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (”Stock Exchange”).

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied
the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as
follows:

e “Materiality” — The materiality assessment was conducted to
identify material issues during FY2022, thereby adopting the
confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of
this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the Board. Please refer to the sections headed
"“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” for
further details.

e "Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
quantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report to explain
any standards, methodologies, and source of conversion
factors used during the calculation of emissions and energy
consumption.

e "“Consistency” — The approach adopted for the preparation
of this ESG Report was substantially consistent with the
previous year, and explanations were provided regarding
data with changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation
methodologies.

Information relating to the Group's corporate governance practices
can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 120
to 138 of this Annual Report.

REPORTING PERIOD

This ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges, measures
taken, compliance and results of the Group during FY2022.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding its
businesses and ESG performance. To understand and address their
key concerns, the Group has maintained close communication
with its key stakeholders, including but not limited to shareholders
and investors, customers, employees, suppliers, loan and debt
holders, media, and the public, as well as government and
regulatory authorities.

In formulating its operational and ESG strategies, the Group
considers stakeholders’ expectations through a diverse range of
engagement methods and communication channels, as shown
below:

RinE2H

AEBEERFNEREYFAEREFTRLIRE
HEREARFRE BT HRRERREDN
TEMIFE AEREETERMNE (B
BRERERREAKEE - TR EE HERS-
ERAREBA FERABURBFREE
) RIFBYNBE

REESERIRE LB REGREE > A&
EEEZR2AFARBEREEERMNE
RYRAEE > 0 ERFAT

Stakeholders Engagement Methods Expectations
FzAERA A 287/ HZ
Shareholders and investors e Annual general meeting and other shareholders’ e  Sustainable economic performance
RERKEE meetings AIFENKERR
RHBFABREMBREAE e Risk management
*  Financial reports EREEE
RS *  Sound corporate governance practices
e Announcements and circulars RIFHNEEERAER
NGy e Long-term growth of the business
e Company websites ERRIER
NGIE b
Customers e Front desk manager e Good customer service
R EII=ESSES BENE R RS
o Customer satisfaction survey e Customer privacy protection
ERREERAE ERTARRE
Employees e Training, seminars, and briefing sessions e Remuneration and benefits
B8 IR G RERE i B @
e Performance reviews e Good employment practices
BUERZ REFHNEREER
e Emails e Safe and healthy work environment
B ZERERNITFRE
Suppliers e Supplier management meetings and events e Fair procurement
A& HEHEEGERES NTEREE
e Supplier audit e Sustainable development of supply chain
HAEEEZ HEEHHERRE
Loan and debt holders o Regular meetings e Regular discussions
ERAREEA THgH T Bt
e Compliant operation
BREE
Media and the public e ESG Report e Transparent information disclosure
BEER AR BE B RERRS BRNERRE

Government and regulatory authorities e Written or electronic correspondences

BRREERE SEXEFEM

e Compliance with local laws and regulations

BT ARER
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A materiality assessment in the form of surveys was conducted
during FY2022, where the Group's stakeholders evaluated the
materiality of different ESG issues of the Group based on several
criteria, including but not limited to direct financial implications
and the level of impact the Group'’s activities may have on the
environment and society. Sustainability factors that were material
to the Group’s business operations have been reviewed by the
Board, management and employees who are responsible for the
key functions of the Group.

During FY2022, the Group has developed its strategies based on

the materiality matrix as follows:

Impact on Stakeholders

High (
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i
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE - 2 EEBARS

Customers health and safety

ERRERZE

Employees’ rights and welfare
8 T#F KaF|

Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination

FERE R RIAR

Occupational health and safety
BERRELD

Employees’ training and development
BT HEHEERE

Anti-corruption
k&5
Business ethics
EEEE

Customer service and complaint management

BERRF R EE

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

Community engagement
e

S

Data and intellectual property rights protection

R R A8 EE PR o

Product quality and safety
EmEERZR

Supply chain management
HEEEE

Waste management
BEEYEIE

Climate change adaptation and risk mitigation
TR BB R B bR A%

Use of other resources

HEIRMER

Greenhouse gas emissions
RERBHIN

The Group confirms that it has established appropriate and
effective management policies and internal control systems for
material ESG issues for FY2022, and confirms that the disclosed
contents are in compliance with the requirements of the ESG

Reporting Guide.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ opinions and suggestions. You
can provide your valuable advice with regard to this ESG Report or
the Group's performances in sustainable development by writing
to 9/F, HKHC Tower, No 241-243 Nathan Road, Jordan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.Emissions

Environmental protection and sustainable development
rely on concerted and continuous efforts from all sectors
of the society. Therefore, the Group has continued to
refine and improve its mitigation policies to reduce both
direct and indirect negative environmental impacts arising
from its business operations.

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with laws and regulations relating to air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land, and the
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that
would have a significant impact on the Group during
FY2022. The said laws and regulations include but are not
limited to the Road Traffic Ordinance, the Waste Disposal
Ordinance, the Water Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the State Environment Protection Policy (Ambient
Air Quality) and the Environment Protection Act 2017 of
Victoria, Australia.

Air Emissions

Due to the Group's business nature, only an immaterial
amount of air emissions was generated from the use of
company vehicles. Description of mitigation measures of
emissions is provided in the following section — “GHG
Emissions”.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

86

A1.Emissions (Cont'd)

GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were generated
from the combustion of petrol from the use of vehicles
(Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2) and paper waste
disposal at landfills (Scope 3).

Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions

To reduce fuel usage and thus air emission, the Group has
implemented the following measures:

e Switch off the engine when the vehicle is idling;

e Plan driving routes ahead of time to optimise fuel
consumption and reduce air emissions; and

e Provide regular maintenance service for the vehicles to
ensure optimal engine performance and fuel use.

Scope 2 — Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounts for the largest indirect
GHG emissions within the Group. The Group has
implemented a series of measures to reduce electricity
consumption, such measures will be mentioned in the
section headed “A2 — Use of Resources”.

Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions

Due to the travel restrictions caused by the COVID-19
pandemic during FY2022, all business travel was
temporarily suspended and was replaced by web
conferences or teleconferences. Measures on reducing
paper waste will be mentioned in the section headed
“Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method”.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A1.Emissions (Cont'd)

GHG Emissions (Cont’d)

Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions (Cont’d)

The total GHG emissions in FY2022 has significantly
increased due to the resumption of full operations at
Balgownie, a remarkable expansion of business scale from
that of FY2021, in which Balgownie experienced various
periods of lockdown. During FY2022, the Group set a
revised target of maintaining or reducing the total GHG
emissions intensity (tCO2e/million revenue) in the next 3
years compared to that in FY2022, taking into account
that Balgownie was not at full operation in FY2021 and
FY2021 should not be taken as the baseline year.

Summary of GHG emissions performance:
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A1 HERRY) (4

BERAEGH ()
BB E EREHK (B)

HREHEEMmEZEEE ) _F
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Indicator Unit? FY2022 FY2021
BR B —_SCME T —MF
Scope 1 - Direct GHG emissions
HEN-BRAERBEHN
e Petrol and diesel consumption tCO2e 14.72 14.45
AR SRREFE W_EEREE
Scope 2 - Indirect GHG emissions
HE2-EFRERBIN
*  Purchased electricity tCO2e 1,687.89 791.55
SNEEE T MR EE
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions
HEBR-HtERRE RN
e Air travel and paper waste disposed tCO2e 5.29 4.95
at landfills
M2 iR 1T Re i B IR IR 35 R W_EEREE
iz B RV EE AR
Total GHG emissions tCO2e 1,707.90 810.95
RERBHRAEE W_ELREE
Intensity tCO2¢e/million revenue® (HK$) 25.41 18.34
BE M_EEREE/ BREA (B
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A.

88

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) A, IS5 (48)
A1.Emissions (Cont’d) A1 HERY) (48)
GHG Emissions (Cont’d) BERREHE (48)

Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions (Cont'd)
Note:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited to,
“The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG report — Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by
the Stock Exchange, the Global Warming Potential Values
from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), the
Sustainability Report 2021 issued by Hong Kong Electric and
the National Greenhouse Accounts Factors issued by the
Department of the Environment and Energy of Australia.

2. 1CO2e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

3. During FY2022, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$67,221,000 (FY2021: HK$44,229,000)
under the reported segments. This data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.

Sewage Discharge

Due to the Group's business nature, the sewage discharge
into land is insignificant. There was no significant and
unreasonable amount of sewage water discharged; used
water was discharged to the municipal sewage network to
the regional water treatment plant.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022

FE3— B AR EmEH (B
BI5E -

1. BEREFRBEZ _STHREER
F» 3 L (B RIS i 5RE JRBFZUFT K
HRIFELEIHESTHENCR
ERERERCE  CEESHERS
SHE) HRATFR T AT (MR EFBIRER
HERERKRS Wik | RIGRHRE
MISIREIRIES|) ~ — T — UF BT
RIEEEEFIZBG(PCOB ARG
HE(ARSRY T2 IKFHRERE(E) ~ BIE
EMIN(CE—FOIRFEEERS)
FOBMNIRIE B R BB S MR (B ZUR E
REFREHEER) AEE-

2. MZHRIEHEEREAM_ALHKE
o

3. RIZZ-HME AEERSDHIE
TEEEBWALG67,221,0008 T (ZF
— —BA4E 1 44,229,000 7T) © ILE IR IR
BrEstEEMERE SIS

SEIKBEL

AR AEBRNEBEE BN
WEKRL - REBTERERTE
EHSKER ; BBBIKEFRET K
75 K E MR K M (& )5 7K B TR R



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A1.Emissions (Cont'd)

Waste Management
Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the Group’s business nature, no material hazardous
waste, according to the list of waste considered as being
hazardous under the Hazardous Waste (Regulation of
Exports and Imports) Act 1989 of Australia and Waste
Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong, was generated during
FY2022.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The majority of the non-hazardous waste generated by
the Group was office paper. A policy on reducing wastage
is included in the respective Employee Handbooks of the
Group's Hong Kong head office and Balgownie. It reminds
employees to take extra care during normal duties when
handling tools, equipments, supplies and food so that the
Group can minimise its non-hazardous waste production.

In the office, a number of green measures are
encouraged:

e Use double-sided printing or photocopying;

e Print electronic correspondences only when necessary;
and

e Reuse one-sided printed paper.

At Balgownie, the Group has incorporated sustainability
measures into its daily operations by introducing a
robust recycling system. The Group has engaged one
of Australia’s largest recyclers to recycle the plastic
bottles and paper generated by the Group’s operations.
The Group is also planning on transitioning away from
single-use plastic items, and replacing them with more
sustainable alternatives in the future.
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A1.Emissions (Cont'd)

Waste Management (Cont’d)
Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method (Cont’d)

Due to the development of the data collection system, the
Group has expanded the records of different categories
of waste disposed during FY2022, therefore direct
comparison of the disposal amount is not applicable.
During FY2022, the Group set a revised target of
maintaining or reducing the total non-hazardous wastes
intensity (kg/million revenue) in the next 3 years, when
compared to that in FY2022, taking into account that
Balgownie was not at full operation in FY2021 and
FY2021 should not be taken as the baseline year.

In FY2022, the waste from cans and bottles and wasted
packaging materials has substantially increased mainly due
to the resumption of full operations at Balgownie, and the
reopening of its restaurant in January 2022. Balgownie
also recorded increase in wine sales from its vineyard.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste discharge
performance:

A IBIE (48)
A1 HERRY ()

BRYEE (8)
EEZERYEER L (&)

HRHEZETEERERY AEEE
RS- “HEREATSEEYRIE
MEREE RILtHREBEHEETE
BLEBREARER- %Flﬁmgﬁm
TEC-HETXREEEE W _T
T HMEREREAREEE R
ﬁ::%i SEBRENLETR
PEEARR=ZFRN EH T "UF
M # R REREEEEYERTE
(Fm/AaBKA) °

R_ZE__HMF BEEERERZE
B HEBN _ZT__F—HER"
MmEREERAEENEERHETA
PRIBM  EXNEFRAFUAREER
EMHEREARNBNER-

TEEEREVIRRENE

Categories of Waste Unit FY2022 FY2021
BEEMER B —SCCHME —T”UF
Office paper Kg 1,102.09 1,030.35
YRGS Fr

General waste Kg 14,880.00 47,300.00
—MREEEY) T

Cans and bottles Kg 128,700.00 119,400.00
BF AT T

Wasted packaging materials Kg 6,120.00 3,960.00
REE MK Fr

Total non-hazardous waste Kg 150,802.09 171,690.35
BREBEVES T

Intensity Kg/million revenue (HK$) 2,243.38 3,881.85
ZE FTr/EEKA (B

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A2.Use of Resources

The Group recognises its responsibility to take the initiative
in efficiently utilising finite resources and carry out its
corporate social responsibility to introduce additional eco-
friendly approaches to enhance the Group's sustainability
performance.

Water Consumption

The Group is committed to reducing water usage by
promoting and nurturing employee awareness of water
conservation. A number of green measures have been
adopted in the Group'’s business operations:

e Water collected from the roofs of Balgownie will be
reused for various purposes to reduce reliance on
external water supply;

e Effluent treatment systems are installed at Balgownie
to capture and treat all waste on-site, water is then
reused on irrigation of the vines and landscaping;

e Water-saving slogans and posters are displayed as
reminders; and

e Dual flush water cisterns in toilets and faucet aerators
in sinks are installed in washrooms.

In FY2022, water consumption recorded a notable
increase because of the resumption of full operations at
Balgownie, and the reopening of its restaurant in January
2022. During FY2022, the Group set a revised target of
maintaining or reducing the total water consumption
intensity (m3million revenue) in the next 3 years, when
compared to that in FY2022, taking into account that
Balgownie was not at full operation in FY2021 and
FY2021 should not be taken as the baseline year.

Due to the business nature, the Group did not encounter
any problem in sourcing water fit for its purpose during
FY2022.
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A IBIE (48)

A2.FRER (48)

Water Consumption (Cont’d) IKIFHFE (48)

Summary of water consumption performance: FIKRIRHE -

Indicator Unit FY2022 FY2021
15 1R B —SCCHME —“2-WHF
Total water consumption® m? 9,296.00 4,787.00
HEFEK B4 AV D7

Intensity m3/million revenue (HK$) 138.29 108.23
BE MK BERA (B

Note: PIEE -

4. Data excludes water consumption in the Hong Kong office
as water usage is included in the management fee of the
Hong Kong office.

Energy Consumption

The Group has established relevant policies and initiatives
on energy conservation to monitor and maximise its
energy efficiency. All employees are duly notified of the
implementation of such policies and measures. Regular
review is conducted on the Group’s energy objectives
for continuous improvement in the Group's energy
consumption performance. Should the energy usage in
any of the Group's operations increase unreasonably, the
Group will send reminders via email to remind relevant
departments of energy conservation.

In the office, a number of green measures have been
encouraged:

e Purchase energy-efficient equipments to replace
retired equipments;

e Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use; and

e Set all computer screens and printers to standby mode
after a certain period of idling.

4. HEALEEBMAIENIKRHEE
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A2.Use of Resources (Cont'd)

Energy Consumption (Cont’d)

At Balgownie, the Group stresses the importance of
environmental sustainability, sustainable designs can be
observed throughout Balgownie. A number of elements
have been incorporated to reduce energy usage, as shown
below:

e Power-saving devices have been installed to all units
which automatically de-activate all air-conditioning
and lighting when the units are left unattended,

e Appropriate insulation and shading to the building
have been added to optimise temperature control;

e Skylights and glazing are installed to bring more
natural light into the facilities;

e Solar heating systems are installed to complement gas
heating systems and electric efficient heat pumps; and

e Natural flow through ventilation to all units reduces
the reliance on air-conditioning usage.

In FY2022, energy consumption has significantly
increased because of the resumption of full operations
at Balgownie, and the reopening of its restaurant in
January 2022. During FY2022, the Group set a revised
target of maintaining or reducing the total energy
consumption intensity (kWh/million revenue) in the next
3 years compared to that in FY2022, taking into account
that Balgownie was not at full operation in FY2021 and
FY2021 should not be taken as the baseline year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) A 1B (48)
A2.Use of Resources (Cont'd) A2. BRER (&)

Energy Consumption (Cont’d)

BEFHFE ()

Summary of energy consumption performance: SERHFEREME ©
Types of Energy Unit FY2022 FY2021
AEREEE B —E__HE _—_Z_—MF
Direct Energy Consumption kWh 57,463.54 58,020.54
E#ReiRHE TRE
e Diesel kWh 35,042.39 50,315.91
o S FTRE
e Petrol kWh 22,421.15 7,704.63
o UH TRE
Indirect Energy Consumption kWh 1,734,953.00 878,978.83
fI#ERETRIHFE FTRE
e Electricity kWh 1,734,953.00 878,978.83
. BN TEE
Total energy consumption kWh 1,792,416.54 936,999.37
FERHFERE FTEE
Intensity kWh/million revenue (HK$) 26,664.53 21,185.18
BE TERE/BEWA (1)
Use of Packaging Material BERHEER

Though the Group owns a vineyard in Balgownie, its
wine production has been subcontracted to a third party.
Therefore, the use of packaging material for the said wine
production is not under the direct operational control of
the Group. Having considered all the reported segments,
the use of packaging material is not considered as a
material ESG aspect of the Group. The Group will consider
expanding the scope of disclosure on packaging material
when necessary.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A3.The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to minimising any negative
environmental impacts occasioned by the Group's
business operations. The business activities of the Group
do not significantly impact the environment and natural
resources. The Group does, however, continue to be
vigilant to the potential environmental impacts arising
from its business operations.

Use of Other Resources

During the procurement process for furniture
and amenities, the Group takes sustainability into
consideration and prefers procuring from organisations
that offer responsibly sourced goods. For the provision
of hospitality and related services in Australia, the
Group intends to further minimise the use of single-use
disposable items, consider the environmental impacts
and life cycle of the purchased goods and explore more
environmentally friendly alternatives.

Noise Control

The Group recognises that entertainment venue noise may
be generated at Balgownie. The Group abides by the State
Environment Protection Policy (Control of Music Noise
from Public Premises) No. N-2 which is incorporated in the
venues’ current liquor licences. Balgownie actively controls
the music level and limits loud music at the prescribed
hours to ensure that guests and neighbours will not be
severely disrupted.
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A4.Climate Change

Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation

The Group is aware of the threat posed by climate change
and is adamant in doing its part by offsetting its carbon
footprint. The Group recognises the importance of the
identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues, therefore closely monitors the potential impact
of climate change on our business and operations and
is committed to managing the potential climate-related
risks which may impact the Group’s business activities. In
accordance with the reporting framework developed by
the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures,
there are two major categories of climate-related risks,
physical and transition risks. The Group has implemented
risk management exercise in identifying and mitigating
climate-related risks.

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
events such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains, and extreme
cold or heat bring acute and chronic physical risks to
the Group’s business. The Group's productivity will be
reduced under extreme weather events as the safety of
the Group's employees is threatened and the power grid
or communication infrastructures might be damaged,
which exposes the Group to risks associated with non-
performance and delayed performance, leading to direct
negative impact on the Group's operations and financial
performance.

To minimize the potential risks and hazards, the Group has
established mitigation plans, including flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures during bad
or extreme weather conditions. The Group will explore
emergency plan to further reduce the vulnerability of
our installations to extreme weather events in order to
enhance business stability.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A4.Climate Change (Cont'd)

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision on carbon neutrality, the
Group expects evolution of the regulatory, technological
and market landscape due to climate change, including
the tightening of national policies, the emergence of
environmental related taxes, and shifting of customer
preference to an eco-friendlier resorts operation.

In response to the policy and legal risks as well as the
reputation risks, the Group constantly monitors any
changes in laws or regulations and global trends on
climate change to avoid cost increments, non-compliance
fines or reputational risks due to delayed response. In
addition, the Group has implemented solar photovoltaic
systems in Balgownie to aid the transition towards
renewable energy. The Group has set targets to gradually
reduce the Group’s energy consumption and GHG
emissions in the future.
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B1. Employment

Human resources are the cornerstone of the Group. The
Group recognises that its continued success is dependent
on its employees’ talents and their dedication.

Employment policies for each of the Group’s operations
have been established in detail, with regard to aspects
such as recruitment and remuneration, compensations,
working hours and rest periods, diversity and equal
opportunities. These policies and employment practices
are put under review periodically to ensure the Group
continues to improve its employment standards and
competitiveness against companies in a similar industry.

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
that would have a significant impact on the Group, with
reference to employment-related laws and regulations
including but not limited to the Fair Work Act 2009 and
the Workplace Gender Act 2012 of Australia, the Equal
Opportunity Act 2010 of Victoria, Australia and the
Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance,
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance and the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance of Hong Kong, during FY2022. As at 31
December 2022, the Group's operations covered in the
scope of this ESG Report had a total of 106 employees.
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Number of
Employees
EE A
Total number of employees EEMRE 106
Gender TR
Male St 48
Female 2% 58
Age Group FHeAER
Below 30 years old 30 IA T 44
30 - 50 years old 30 - 50%% 43
Over 50 years old 50m% A £ 19
Geographical region &
Australia BN 90
Hong Kong B5E 16
Employment Type E{ELEE
Full-time 2 47
Part-time R 59
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)

B1. Employment (Cont’d)

During FY2022, the Group recorded an overall turnover
rate of 79.2%, which was mainly due to staff turnover
during the COVID-19 pandemic. The breakdown is as
follows:

R s g RERBRS
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Number of
Employees
EEAH
Gender TR
Male S 84.3%
Female e 74.3%
Age Group FHhe4a R
Below 30 years old 30 AT 107.9%
30 - 50 years old 30 - 50%% 59.5%
Over 50 years old 505 Mk 52.9%
Geographical region &
Australia BN 91.5%
Hong Kong A 6.7%

Talent Attraction and Retention

The Group’s employees are recruited via a robust,
transparent and fair recruitment process based solely on
their experience and expertise, without regard to their
age, ethnicity, origin, gender identity, marital status, sexual
orientation and religion.

Employees are assessed by their abilities and potential to
fulfil the Group's current and future needs. All employees
responsible for the recruitment process will periodically
review the selection criteria to ensure that existing policies
remain relevant and that the policies do not unlawfully
discriminate. Recruitment interviews will also be carried
out by more than one person where possible.

Promotion and advancement will be based on merits
and are in line with the Recruitment and Selection Policy
that is formally documented in the Employee Handbook.
The Group will conduct an annual performance and
salary review to determine any salary adjustments and/or
promotion opportunities. Written and verbal performance
evaluations will be given to all employees at least once a
year, such evaluations are intended to give recognition of
the hard work of the employees and provide them with
comments for improvement.
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B1. Employment (Cont'd)
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Employee Rights and Welfare

The Group’s basis for remuneration is job-related skills,
qualifications and performances. Remuneration packages
include annual leave, maternity leave, compassionate leave
and community service leave, among others. Also, the
Group has formulated policies in determining the working
hours and rest periods for employees according to local
employment laws.

Compensation and Dismissal

All compensation made by the Group is given based
on the provision of Workmen’s Injury Compensation
Insurance Policy under the Workplace Injury Rehabilitation
and Compensation Act 2013 of Victoria, Australia and
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong,
which cover the rehabilitation of injured workers and
compensation in relation to injuries or deaths arising out
of accidents and diseases in the workplace.

Unreasonable dismissal under any circumstances is
prohibited. A detailed list of major offences regarded as
justifiable reasons for immediate dismissal can be found in
the Employee Handbook.

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

The Group recognises the value of diversity in its talent
pool and is committed to creating and maintaining an
inclusive and collaborative workplace culture in which
all employees can thrive. The Group prohibits any
discrimination, physical or verbal harassment based
on race, religion, colour, gender, physical or mental
disability, age, place of origin, marital status and sexual
orientation in the workplace. Deliberate acts of unlawful
discrimination or harassment are also considered serious
misconducts which may result in the termination of
contract without notice. The Group does not tolerate
sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace of any form.
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)

B2. Health and Safety

In the midst of the global pandemic, the Group has
heightened its awareness and commitment towards
ensuring a safe and healthy working environment for
its employees. A comprehensive policy on occupational
health and safety is in place to safeguard the interest of
the employees. During induction training, relevant policies
and procedures will be explained and/or provided to
the employees to mitigate the occurrence of accidents.
Relevant policies are reviewed annually, or soon after an
incident arises, to make sure that the said policies continue
to be of relevance.

In FY2022, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance that would have a significant impact
on the Group, with reference to health and safety
related laws and regulations, including but not limited
to the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 and
the Occupational Health and Safety Regulations 2007
of Victoria, Australia and the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong. During FY2022, there
were no reported cases of work-related fatalities and no
lost days due to work injury. The Group has achieved zero
work-related fatalities for the past three years (including
FY2022).

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group recognises that employees are its most valuable
assets, therefore the Group is keen on providing a safe
and pleasant working environment to retain talents and
ensure that their well-being is taken care of. Relevant
health and safety policies are indicated in the Employee
Handbook, said policies are regularly reviewed and/or
reviewed upon trigger events to ensure that the provisions
continue to provide protection to its employees. At
Balgownie, a front office training session has been held to
familiarise its employees with various emergency scenarios
such as gas leaks, wildlife or bomb threats. Uniform and/
or personal protective equipment are provided for relevant
employees.
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Safety Training and Inspections

The Group makes use of safety training and inspections
to ensure employees are aware of the importance of
complying with safety requirements. An induction training
on relevant health and safety policies specific to the
position is provided to every employee at the beginning
of the employment to minimise the likelihood of accidents
or workplace injuries. Personnel, whether employed
directly or indirectly by the Group, is required to abide by
all applicable laws, regulations and safety requirements
imposed by relevant government authorities.

Occupational health and safety meetings are held regularly
to address concerns and identify possible alternatives or
solutions in an expedited manner. Regular meetings were
held in FY2022 and minutes were taken during all of these
meetings. Meetings are considered crucial to ensure the
health and safety of guests and employees as issues are
directly dealt with and persons-in-charge are designated to
ensure that the actions or plans are followed through.

Preventative Measures on COVID-19

In response to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group has implemented a series of measures to ensure
the health and safety of its employees and guests of the
hospitality business. To reduce infection risk the Group
has complied with the public health and safety policies
set out by the HKSAR government and the Australian
Government Department of Health in FY2022. For
instance, the Group has implemented several measures
including but not limited to requiring daily health
declaration by employees to prevent the spread of the
virus and the employees of the Group to measure body
temperature before entering the office premises.
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B2.

B3.

Health and Safety (Cont’d)
Preventative Measures on COVID-19 (Cont’d)

As the Group is also responsible for the health and safety
of its guests, the Group has enhanced its health and
safety protocols and carried out additional measures in
Balgownie. Internal training regarding COVID-19 was
held in Balgownie during FY2022 to ensure compliance
with the state and federal health directions regarding
COVID-19 and train its employees with essential hygiene
practices to reduce cross-contamination. Employees of
Balgownie are asked to remind guests to maintain social
distancing at all times and to advise guests not to share
rooms with others not from the same household. Back-
to-back usage of rooms is avoided, all surfaces whether in
rooms or public areas of Balgownie are subject to rigorous
disinfection and sanitation practices.

The Group will closely monitor the development of the
pandemic and its impact on the health and safety of its
employees and customers.

Development and Training
Training and Development

Training and continuous development are indispensable
for the Group's employees to keep abreast of the ever-
changing trend of the industry. To incentivise employees
to acquire new skills and to increase their professional
knowledge, the Group has policies in place to encourage
its employees to pursue training for the advancement of
their careers that will benefit themselves and the Group.
The training cost may be borne by the Group subject to
management approval.

Training contents are regularly updated to be in line with
the industry standards and provide maximum benefit
to the employees. The training topics being covered
in FY2022 include corporate governance, accounting,
valuation, cybersecurity, global economy and ESG
management.
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Development and Training (Cont’d)
Training and Development (Cont’d)

During FY2022, the Group recorded a total of 754 training
hours. The summary is as follows:

B. & (&)

B3

B R g ()

1R /R ()

RN_E - _F > NEERSEIE
BF 0754/ NBF » EEEWN T ¢

Percentage of

Employees Trained Average Hours

(%) of Training
T2 HIRF 8K
ZillEE B2 EE(%) (NBF)
Gender 4 51
Male St 108.3% 7.60
Female 7% 108.6% 7.74
Employee Category EE5EA
Senior management SR EEE 60.0% 8.80
Middle management iR EIRE 100.0% 18.11
General —RIEE 112.0% 6.60
Labour Standards B4. % T #H|
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour B lEFE TR T

The Group prohibits the recruitment of child and forced
labour as prescribed by laws and regulations. The Group
strictly complies with local laws and shall not provide job
opportunities to those who are under the legal working
age of respective jurisdictions.

To avoid illegal employment of child labour and underage
workers, the Human Resources department of the Group
is responsible for verifying personal data such as the
identification card during the recruitment process. If
violation is involved, the Group would not provide job
opportunities to those who are under the legal working
age. No employee shall be compelled to work against his
or her will through force or intimidation of any form or
subject to corporal punishment or coercion of any type
related to work.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations of child and forced
labour, that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Child Employment
Act 2003, the Fair Work Act 2009 of Victoria, Australia
and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, during
FY2022.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Supply Chain Management

During the supplier selection process, the Group takes into
account the supplier's job references, prevailing market
price, delivery time and reputation. In addition, the Group
also considers suppliers who incorporate ESG issues into
their policies and general business development strategies.
Preferential consideration will be given to suppliers who
utilise recycled or reused materials in their production
process. Furthermore, the Group is keen on supporting
the local economies, where possible, the procurement
is sourced locally in Australia and Hong Kong. During
FY2022, the Group engaged 327 suppliers, of which 321
were in Australia and 6 were in Hong Kong. The number
of suppliers increased due to the resumption of full
operation at Balgownie in FY2022.

Procurement policy is present within the Group. Where
possible, competitive quotes should be obtained from at
least two suppliers. For procurement of a higher value,
an additional analysis should be run through beforehand,
such as its cost and benefit, presence of other alternatives
and implications if the said purchase is not made. The
Group strives not to over-rely on a specific supplier in
order to ensure the stability of the supply chain.

To monitor the continuous efforts from the suppliers in
minimising their environmental and social impacts, regular
supplier selection and assessment will be conducted on
existing suppliers to ensure compliance with the Group’s
expectations. Contracts with suppliers may be terminated
if the expectation of the Group is not met.
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The Group is committed to providing the highest quality
of service to its customers, not only because it is crucial
to the health and safety of its customers and clients,
but also for the purpose of attracting future business
opportunities.

The Group was not aware of any material non—
compliance with laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014, the
Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 of Victoria, Australia
and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong,
concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services and
methods of redress during FY2022. During FY2022, the
Group did not receive any cases of product or service—
related complaints.

Business Ethics

The Group advocates ethical practices and is determined
to mitigate any potential misconduct or poor services
in all its business segments. Therefore, the Group has
established different policies, as shown below, to better
guide its employees and nurture them the importance of
upholding ethical practices from the beginning of their
professional careers.

Product Quality and Safety

In maintaining and ensuring the quality of products
produced in the Group's vineyards, strict requirements
have been imposed on the storage environment and the
production facilities. Since wine production is outsourced,
the Group conducts quality control inspections upon
receiving wine from its subcontractor. Due to the Group’s
business nature, disclosure on product recall procedures
and number of products recalled are not applicable.
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B6. Product Responsibility (Cont'd)

Customer Health and Safety

The Group places great emphasis on ensuring customers'’
health and safety. Detailed policies and guidelines have
been in place to ensure employees provide the highest
quality and safe services to the Group's customers and
guests. In doing so, the occurrence of unfortunate
accidents or illnesses can be avoided. Disciplinary actions
will be taken against employees who participate in
activities that would threaten the health and safety of
concerned parties, their colleagues or others.

Marketing and Labelling

The Group conforms with wine labelling guidelines
pursuant to the Wine Australia Act 2013. As for alcohol
marketing, the Group abides by the requirements set
out in the ABAC Responsible Alcohol Marketing Code.
Relevant guidelines have been provided to the relevant
employees. As the Group sells its Spa Partner’s products at
its hotel to generate additional income, it requires its Spa
Partner to include sufficient labelling on all products being
sold.

Advertising Management

Guidelines on the special requirements in money lending
business advertisements are formally documented.
In addition, the Group abides by the stipulated legal
requirements that pertain to the Money Lending Licence
under the Money Lenders Ordinance.

Customer Services and Complaint Management

The Group maintains an open and welcoming attitude to
feedback and complaints from the Group's customers and
guests, as the Group views it as an opportunity to improve
its service. Procedures for handling complaints are detailed
in the Service Handbook for the reference of relevant
employees. Should the Group receive any complaints, the
Group will strive to act immediately to resolve the issue
with effective corrective actions.
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Customer Data Protection and Privacy

The Code of Conduct states that the Group's employees
have an obligation to maintain the confidentiality of
information acquired during the course of employment.
Access to sensitive data and the Group’s network
is granted on an ‘as needed’ basis. Employees are
also required not to transmit highly confidential data
through the use of electronic communications as it is
not completely private. The Group has implemented
and routinely upgraded firewall, anti-virus, and anti-
spam solutions for the Group's IT systems to safeguard
confidential information.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Policies and measures regarding the protection of
intellectual property rights are in place. For any
infringement of the Group’s intellectual property rights,
the Group will urge infringers to cease such action. The
Human Resources Department of the Group shall take
further action should such infringement continue.

Anti-corruption
Anti-corruption

The Group strives to maintain the highest standards
of honesty, integrity and fairness. Thus, the Group
takes a zero-tolerance stance on corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. Policies on the
aforementioned matters are clearly stated within the
Employee Handbook.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations of
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
but not limited to the Criminal Code Act 1995 of Australia
and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong
that would have a significant impact on the Group during
FY2022. During FY2022, there were no concluded legal
cases regarding any forms of fraud brought against the
Group or its employees.

B.

B6.

B7.
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B7. Anti-corruption (Cont'd)

Anti-money Laundering and Counter-financing of
Terrorism

As the Group engages in money lending business, the
Group may be subjected to the risk of unintentionally
engaging in money laundering and financial crimes.
Therefore, in addition to the compliance with laws and
guidelines set up by regulatory authorities, the Group
has set out guidelines to safeguard the interests of the
Group, such as conducting background investigation,
due diligence and loan approvals for loan financing
applications.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has a whistle-blowing policy in place to
encourage employees to report any suspicious fraudulent
activities. The Group intends to protect the whistle-
blower from common concerns such as confidentiality and
potential retaliation. Therefore, the employees reporting
in good faith under this procedure shall be assured of
the protection against unfair termination or victimisation,
even if the reports are subsequently proved to be
unsubstantiated.

In December 2021, the Group adopted the whistle-
blowing policy by amending its Employee Handbook
and provided the Group's employees (including directors
of members of the Group) with training on the whistle-
blowing policy and anti-corruption practices of the
Group. In FY2022, the Group hosted a training delivered
by representative from professional to the Directors and
employees of the Group in regard to anti-corruption
policies and procedures to maintain employees’ awareness
of the best practices on anti-corruption.
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Community Engagement

The Group is committed to bringing value and supporting
its community by various means of social participation
and financial contribution. As the Group endeavours to
inspire a sense of social responsibility within its corporate
structure, the Group has established guidelines on
community engagement, focusing on contributing to
society’s needs. Employees are encouraged to participate
in the Group'’s charitable activities that focus in areas such
as health and education through monetary contribution;
associated costs will be borne by the Group. The Board
also conducts a periodic review on its effort in community
engagement and believes its existing effort is satisfactory.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group temporarily
postponed organising mass gatherings or community visits
in support of social distancing guidelines in FY2022. To
strengthen the connection with society, the Group has
made charitable donations of approximately HK$5,000
during FY2022 (FY2021: HK$10,000).
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
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R s Mg RELARS

KPls Description Section/Declaration
FEHEBE -ER@
—RINBERARERIEE BB
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : B4
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous
— R 2R ERBRERERBEN KRB Bl
S REREEREEYNELEFRN
(@ BZ®R; &
b) BFTHETAREAXZENHAEER
HAIBNER -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective  Emissions — GHG Emissions, Waste
emissions data. Management
RS E IS 1RAT PE Y B LA R AE R B B e —RE RSP BEEYEIE
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)  Emissions — GHG Emissions
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume per facility).
RSB IETRAT.2 B (BE1) REREE EE2) AERE B RERBHK
g (LXﬂ@,EDJrﬁ) R (NER) ZE @
SESBEM -SBEXRKHE) °
KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Emissions — Waste Management
and intensity. Not applicable — Explained
RS A IS 1RA .3 FRELBEEREMRE CsE) KEE. IR -—BEEYER
NBER -
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in  Emissions — Waste Management
tonnes) and intensity.
RGNS 1RA1.4 FRELEEREYRE CINEE) KEE. Y -BEEYER

KPI' A1.5

BB AE IS IRALS

Description of emission target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

BT UNBERER R R AE
IRFTEREREBY 2 B o

FELEH
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPls Description Section/Declaration
TESR -EE-
—RINBERARERIEE BB

KPI' A1.6

R SRAEXETRALG

Description of how hazardous and
nonhazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

B EIE A ENESEEYN G L it
FRET LB EE B IR R A iE R S L B AR A
PRENRY A BR o

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 . EiR{EA

General Disclosure

—ARINER

KPI A2.1
B SR AR S TE1RA2.1
KPI A2.2
B SRARANIE1RA2.2
KPI A2.3

RSB ISIZEA2.3

KPI'A2.4

RS AE WIS RA2.4

KPI' A2.5

R SR AERIETRA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

ERAERMERER (BEFER  KRHEME
L BYBGE o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type in total and intensity.

REBLESNERERSEEERERES
BB

Water consumption in total and intensity.
RFEEKERBE-

Description of energy use efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

BT YN RERMmBER R AHET
5L B AR PTERERRY 2 BR

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

#371 SK BN AR 7KOR P B eI R R > UK PR
SINMAKMEERRAETESLEAR
FTEREXRY 2 BR: ©

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and with reference to
per unit produced.

K mPTAEEMEEE U E) &S
FTEBAEE-
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Emissions — Waste Management

Y —BEEMER

Use of Resources

BERER

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

BRER—BERHFE

Use of Resources — Water Consumption
BIREA—KIREFE

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

EIRER—BEREFE

Use of Resources — Water Consumption

BIRER—KREFE

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

Not applicable — Explained
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPIs Description
FTEHEBEBE-
—RIFERARERIERE R

R s g RERBRS

Section/Declaration

e L

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 : IRIFRRXAEIR
General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant

impact on the environment and natural

resources.

— AR R BERABEETAHRRERRABERENE
FERHR -

KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of

activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.
HMEBRTHHRIRERRABERNEBEARR
EREERNEEERTENITE

RE 48 RIS 1EA3.1

Aspect A4: Climate Change

[EEA4 : |IRE1L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the

issuer.

— AR B8 ER#EN REE R KO EEHBITAE
FENEARGEERSEENER
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related

issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

BB A RO EEHETAEEXSENE
ARIEHEAEE > REHITE-

B SR AE IR RAL.T

ERMERZERBRAR | —Z2 - _FF3%

The Environment and Natural Resources

RIERRAEIR

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Use of Other
Resources, Noise Control

RIBERRABR-HMERER
g & 22

Climate Change — Climate Change
Mitigation and Adaptation

RIREE—RERBREREEL

Climate Change — Climate Change
Mitigation and Adaptation

RIREE—RERBREREEL
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RiE s g RERARS

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPls Description Section/Declaration
FEHR-EE-
—RINBERARERIEE BB
Aspect B1: Employment
[EEB1 : (2%
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
— AR R ERFMNRERE -BEREH TEEE ERE
REA- FERE 2y RERFUREM
FB KRB :
(@ BUR; &
b) BTHETABEAXLENEREER
ERAE R o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type  Employment
(for example, full-or part-time), age group
and geographical region.
AR AR R FE12B 1.1 R EREEE 2BERE) - FiE ERE
ARt &3 DA ESARE -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group  Employment
and geographical region.
RA SR AR R F51%2B 1.2 ¥R FReER RMEB DHNEERKLLE BB

%o

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[BmB2 : B@FEH%ZE

General Disclosure

— BB

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

ERREZE2TIFRERREEEHRH

EMEEN:

(@) BUR; &

(b) BTHETABEAXENEREZER
ERBNE KL o
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPIs

FEHE-EE-

— AR iR B R AR A NIER

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BIE - 2 REBARS

Description

faat

Section/Declaration

e L

KPI B2.1

B B2 AR A5 1RB2.1

KPI B2.2

B B2 AR A5 1RB2.2

KPI B2.3

BSR4 5 18B2.3

Number and rate of work-related fatalities
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

BE=F (BEERERE) 8SFRITHRHA
YRt

Lost days due to work injury.

AIGEARIIERH-

Description of occupational health and
safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.

7 FT R 40 B Bl 55 (2 R B 2 2 48 7 > AR AR
AT REERGAC

Aspect B3: Development and Training

fEmEB3 : % & RKiE3l

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI'B3.1

R #R 45 RIS 1EB3.1

KPI B3.2

R 45 R F51EB3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

BERARAERERIT LIFBENMH kit
AOBER o # At FIE & o

The percentage of employees trained by
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

BN REESERN NSHREERE - PRE
2E slomxzilEEanthe

The average training hours completed
per employee by gender and employee
category.

Bt REEERZ D BREETHZ
ESRSSLSE &

Health and Safety
R Z S
Health and Safety
fepRiEZ e

Health and Safety

BREAZE

Development and Training

9=yl

Development and Training

9=yl

Development and Training

9yl

ERBEBRZERBRAR | S "FFHK
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RIE - 2 EEBARS

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPls Description Section/Declaration
FEHE -E@
—RINBERARERIEE BB

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEBA : & T 48
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

— e B8 BRAPEE T et 55 ThY - 5T AR
(@ HR; &K
(b) BTHETABEAXENERIEZER
RANEK}
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review Labour Standards

employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

A3 B X F512B4.1 MR BEEAMNERLBERET kR %I
Hlg5 Lo

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such  Labour Standards
practices when discovered.

A SR AR R H512B4.2 B TEERERBERRERERBRME HIER
B Ry BR

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EmEBS5 : HFEREIR

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management
risks of the supply chain.

— R 2R ERFEEEEENIRE TG REIEBER HEEHEE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

A 4B 5 12B5.1 BHMES o HNHEEEE - HEREIE

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging  Supply Chain Management

suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

RA 4B X I51%B5.2 HAEMERAEEENESN nERTHER HERSE
|ET§UE’JT#&F§?§§5IE MEAERITRER
Fike
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPIs

FEHE-EE-

— AR iR B R AR A NIER

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BIE - 2 REBARS

Description

faat

Section/Declaration

e L

KPI B5.3

B SR AE XI5 EB5.3

KPI B5.4

B $2 4R A5 1RB5.4

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along
the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

7t A R A R R RS E IR NIRRT Rt
2RBNIER  UAREEARITRERA
VA o

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

B EREHEEREESARRERK
ARFERVIEH] > U ABRA AT IR Ba R 5 7% o

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EmB6 : EMEE
General Disclosure

—ARINER

KPI B6.1

B SR AR X H51RB6. 1

KPI B6.2

B SR AE X35 18B6.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.

ERFREERNBRBNEREAZ S E

ERBERAEEEU SRR AN

(@ BX; &

b) BFHETABREAZENHEAEER
HEIBE KL o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.

EERNCEXERRYPRLT L EEREIE
FRMmARIWAY B DL

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

BERNERRIRBNKEFEE UKL EL
FiEe

Supply Chain Management

(33 A=$d

Supply Chain Management

HEEEIE

Product Responsibility

e
oo
it
m

Product Responsibility

EmaE

Product Responsibility

EmEE

ERMERZERBRAR | —Z2 - _FF3%
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RiE s 1B RER

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPls

TEHE-BE

— A% B R B R A NS R

Description

faat

Section/Declaration

e L

KPI B6.3
B S AR AN 15 1%B6.3
KPI B6.4
R SR AR S 151%B6.4

KPI B6.5
B SR 4E 2 151%B6.5

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : R&ES

General Disclosure

—BRE

KPI B7.1

B 92 4R A5 1RB7 .1

KPI B7.2

RE SR 45 MF51ZBR7.2

118

Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.
T 2t B A 5B R AR PE R 58 E HE R ARV MR o

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.
WL E BT BEKREmMBINRER -

Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

HOH B E B RHRE R REER » LU AR
HITRER G %o

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

BERAFG LERERE ~ #1351 « EREF R LR 880

BR;, &k

EBTHRITABREARENHBAZZERK

HAIRNER -

(@)
(b)

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.

E?IE%E,HHW‘fﬁ’fﬁ)\ﬁ,ﬁ\{gé%&iag
ENETS AR M E B K arahss

Description of preventive measures and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

H B SR IE T S R R AR T U RIT &
B P ke

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022

Product Responsibility — Protection of
Intellectual Property Rights
JXEIEIE'EE %D uﬁké*&f%ux

Product Responsibility — Product Quality
and Safety

Emaf-ExEEREZRE

Product Responsibility — Customer Data
Protection and Privacy

EmEE-EREERERNLRE

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

R&5

Anti-corruption

R&5
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and

KPIs Description
FEHEBE -ER@
—RIRBERARGRIEE it

R s g RERBRS

Section/Declaration

e L

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training
provided to directors and staff.
A SRAR R F512B7 .3 HrmMEFERETRHNRETE-

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EmEB8 : HEKRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

— R 2R BERAUHR2HERTHREEMTIHLEERE
MEREEHDTHEE BT R @K
%o

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

i B A RN HE12B8. 1 EIEREE (UBRBE - REEE - B1E
K@E~X1E-iBA) °

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to
the focus area.
RA IR 4B X I51%B8.2 AEIHBMEBAER QSR FERE)

Anti-corruption

R&5

Community Investment

HeRE

Community Investment

HtERE

Community Investment

HeRE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to achieving and upholding good
corporate governance practices that promote greater transparency
and quality of disclosure as well as more effective internal control.

During the year under review, the Company had adopted the
code provisions (“Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules then in force as its code of corporate governance. The
Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
including (a) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance; (b) reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (c) reviewing and monitoring the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; and (d) reviewing the Company’s compliance with
the Code Provisions. The Board had carried out the said corporate
governance functions during the year under review. The Company
complied with all the Code Provisions then in force throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
taking into account the recommendations of the remuneration
committee of the Board, having regard to merit, qualifications and
competence of the Directors.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors who are also the senior
management of the Group and the five highest paid individuals
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 13
to the consolidated financial statements.

TEERER

FABRBNEBRERREFZEFRERER
BURTBERZERERBRBERUREAN
ZAEEE

REBFEE > AR BRMERERZGEM L
MRBMISRISFrE 2 CEE AR E 2T
B> (TSFRIMESL)) EAEBEEARTA-EF
%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁﬁamﬁa;%%aﬁx)ﬁ

RSB A TEEAZHERER ;
H%J&? xﬁﬁzﬁ%&%ﬁ%%@&
EEREZETER ORI AEREERS
%EﬂFzFﬁ&ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ,&@@ﬁﬁ
NEHTABRX ZEBTE R - REOEFE &
EEERBRIT LM ESTABE &i_v::
F+_RA=1+—HILEFEE » ARF—HEF
A MBPT A SRR

BN

EENHEHESEEERESTTE T 25
NEEENERBRESR T2REFZER B
R BESI TR TE °

o=

EF (KRETATEESHREERE Ltk
SHMALIRBE_ZE_—_F+_-_A=+—
BilEFENMESFBERNGE M HRRME
13e
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had also made specific
enquiry of all Directors, that the Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
the Directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31
December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises six
members, one of which is a non-executive Director, namely Mr.
Ng Ting Ho, two of which are executive Directors, namely Ms.
Lam Ching Yee and Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, and the remaining three
members being independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum
Paul.

The members of the Board, who come from different
backgrounds, provide a diverse range of business and professional
expertise to the Company. The biographical details of the Directors
are set out in the “Directors Profile” on pages 58 to 61 in this
Annual Report. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
at least once every three years in accordance with the Bye-Laws.
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors. As at the date of this Annual Report, save as disclosed in
the “Directors Profile” in this Annual Report, none of the Directors
has any relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) with each other.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERERRS

EFZHRFTS

RNABERMNERESHSFR S ZI12FF)
HIZF B GEM LR B 555.485E5.6 71K
RGN TFIEE-RNEE_TE__F+_8
=+—HIEFE ARABNEEMEESEY
ERTH BEFEETRINTEERBRE
BEITE SR 2B <F~Fho

RAFRE EFTH/NNGHREAM  HH
—RRIIFRTES AIREERE MBARA
TEF IMFEL IR ERLE BFT=
BNERBIUIFNTES BIEIKBIE R
B RERSBRITE

ESENERATRAER RAATRMEEZ
FHEEBAEENR -EFBEFBHINAE
FRFSBECIBZ EEMN —H-2RESR
ARBHAEE RV E=FNERERRE
FRELHEREREERET—R-FATE
HEERBEERE NAFRAH  BFEE
WIEEMN —EANPMREEN EFRIEZ
B ARG (BB 25 KESEM
EX/BRARR) o
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Roles and responsibilities of the Board and delegation to
the management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions
and performance, and is responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. In
practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decision making
in all major matters of the Company which include approving
and monitoring all policy matters, overall strategies, material
transactions, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to
the senior executives who are responsible for implementing the
decisions of the Board, the coordination and direction of day-to-
day operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to the entering
by the Group into any significant transactions. These senior
executives provide full support to the Board in order for the Board
members to discharge their responsibilities.

Practices and conduct of board meetings

The company secretary (“Company Secretary”) of the Company
is responsible to the Board for providing Board papers and related
materials, for ensuring that all Board procedures and all applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed, and for reporting to the
Chairman on governance matters. All Directors have unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The
Company Secretary also keeps minutes of all meetings of the
Board which are available for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice given by any Director.

The Board meets regularly and held 17 board meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2022. The Directors attended
the meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-Laws. During the
regular Board meetings, the Directors discussed and formulated
the overall strategies of the Group, reviewed and approved the
annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discussed and
decided on other significant matters of the Group. All Directors
have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view
to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.
The Company will, upon request, provide separate independent
professional advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge
their duties to the Company.

EFEAGREIREERZRE

EFEaaREREEARTUARBEELRE
BZEB RBEHIRRR TESEBEE
REEBXRABEE SIBRNATERAI -
BEEL BEXECAEEARNAMEITESREHEZ
R BRELERERMEBREER BER
B BEARG EFERAMEZMHRE
BEE - ARAIZAREE - THAKESEH
BERKTEHRITHRAERE - SRITHRAER
BETESFERAR RESFTEMZEER
Bt B A RIES I A AT HEEEREE
FEBRIJUENEEXRZAERERSES
gzHE MEFERNBETEFENERER
TEZSBRITHRAER X

EFEERZERRBT

ARBZABME (RAWE)) BEERAESR
CERMEES XM RERENUKRBERER
FREESRSREFR—UERZEN R KR
Pl W EREEREFER - FAIEEFHIH
AREHMEABDWESKER KR - AF
WETIAESEERIFHERLE E
EFTAERAEERRAFHEEBNER

mE YR

EFEEMETER UNBET "
T A=+ —HLEFERTIIREFEgE-
EEREUREMMNEBREMEFEAS
HEER - EFTEHERBTHE EF
s E A E 2 BRERRE WERABBF
E-hiRFERG Uk EEEZHEME
EEFETHRRTURR -2REFTEL2EHE
RBEFRMEG —IHEBRER MR ATWEZ
BEREERE  URFRETESFEREFNFAESR
RZEH R - FEE—RANBEERR N
EFEERSRBUBERR  BAHELTAT
EiE A RTREERAEEHITRMEIBIIE
EER LB REOERTEITH
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In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial
Shareholder or a Director, such matter will be discussed through
an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict
of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict
issues. The Board committees, including the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee, have all
adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in Board
meetings for all committee meetings. If considered to be necessary
and appropriate by the Directors, they may retain independent
professional advisors at the Group's expense.

Individual attendance records of each Director at the respective
Board and committee meetings are set out in the table on page
131 of this Annual Report.

Directors’ continuing professional development

All Directors have been updated from time to time on the latest
developments and changes in the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure the Company’s
compliance and to enhance the Directors’ awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors understand the
importance of continuous professional development and are
committed to participating in any suitable training or to studying
relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills.

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, Mr.
Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum
Paul have confirmed that they had complied with Code Provision
C.1.4 during the year ended 31 December 2022 by participating
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. During the year under review, the
Company has provided trainings and relevant materials regarding
the GEM Listing Rules to the Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board, manages the
Board and oversees the strategic planning of the Group, whereas
the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the Group’s business
development and daily management generally. According to Code
Provision C.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Ng Ting Ho has become the Chairman with
effect from 17 September 2021 and Ms. Lam Ching Yee has
become the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 5 June 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERERRS

WEERTREEZERTFTERZEETES
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2),
and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review,
with the appointment of the three independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom having appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence,
and the Company considers such Directors to be independent in
accordance with each and the various guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin
Sum Paul were appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive)
and has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the Company is required to have at least three independent non-
executive Directors and has adopted a policy (“Independent
Views Policy”), pursuant to which the independent non-
executive Directors are required to, among others,

(i) keep up-to-date with the Company’s business affairs and
be involved in scrutinising the Company’s performance
in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and
monitor performance reporting;

(i)~ bring independent judgment to bear on the Company’s
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conduct,
help review some of the Board’s major decisions and the
Company’s performance in relation to corporate goals,
monitor the Company’s performance reporting; and

(i) take the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise.

BIFFNTES

REEEE KA ABEEFGEMLEHRAE
5.05(1)EQRME R ES.05A1K  ZE=Z2B L IF
WITEE HESZABERLV=92—) 'MHE
FRILD—ZATEFABEESEERT TR
MR EEEENR AR ERERBIL
FHRTESFZEEBIEBMHER MAA T
DATGEM ETH BB E5. 09K EEKREIE
IESIMs  ZEEEABILAL

BREE BB BEEERSEZTLERL
NEFHFR _E__F—H—HEstE_S
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AH12ER RECEEWNZT FHEZ
T —_F—B—HEE-_ZE-_=ZF+"AH
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Further, the independent non-executive Directors shall make
sufficient time available to discharge their responsibilities and
should not accept an invitation to serve as an independent non-
executive Director on the Board unless they can devote adequate
time and effort to the work involved. Independent non-executive
Directors sitting on multiple boards of directors of listed companies
will need to ensure that they can dedicate adequate attention to
each board and board committee.

In addition, the independent non-executive Directors shall at
least annually attend meetings with the Chairman without the
presence of other Directors to express their opinions openly. The
Company also provides the Directors, upon reasonable request, to
seek independent professional advice at the Group’s expense. The
Company will provide separate independent professional advice to
Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the Company.

The Company is required to review and has reviewed the
Independent Views Policy and its implementation and
effectiveness on an annual basis.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

During the year under review, Mr. Ng Ting Ho was appointed
as the Chairman and a non-executive Director for a term
commencing from 17 September 2021 to 31 December 2022
(both days inclusive) and has been re-appointed for a term of 12
months commencing from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
(both days inclusive).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, and the nomination
committee, each with its specific terms of reference. Their terms
of reference have been approved and reviewed by the Board and
have been posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. During the year under review, these committees have
adhered to their principles, procedures and arrangements set out
in their respective terms of reference. The respective committee
secretaries took full minutes of the meetings of these committees
and the work of these committees was reported to the Board
regularly during the year under review.

Audit Committee

An audit committee of the Board (“Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and Code Provision
D.3.3 in force during the year under review. The Audit Committee
must consist of a minimum of three members, all of whom must
be non-executive Directors, at least one of whom must have
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are mainly to review the Group's financial information,
reporting process, internal control procedures, risk management
system, audit plan, relationship with external auditors and to
review arrangements to enable employees of the Group, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in the
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Group.

From 1 January 2022 to the date of this Annual Report, the Audit
Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr.
Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe has been the
chairman of the Audit Committee during the year under review
and as at the date of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
held six meetings to review and provide supervision over the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and to review the Company’s annual report and accounts,
half-year report and quarterly reports and to provide advice
and comments to the Board as to whether such reports were
prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements. The Audit Committee also met with the
external auditors to discuss auditing, internal control, statutory
compliance and financial reporting matters of the Group before
recommending the annual financial reports to the Board for
approval.

The Group’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results for the year
under review have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee of the Board ("Remuneration
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with Code Provision E.1.2. The principal responsibilities
of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure in relation to
the remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the
Company and to review and approve management's remuneration
proposals with reference to the goals and objectives set by the
Board for the Company.

From 1 January 2022 to the date of this Annual Report, the
Remuneration Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Remuneration Committee during
the year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held three meetings and adopted the approach under
Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. The Remuneration Committee
had reviewed the policy for the remuneration of the executive
Directors, assessed the performance of the executive Directors and
had reviewed and approved the appointment letters and/or the
service contracts of the Directors and the terms thereof as well
as the remuneration and the discretionary bonus of the Directors
during the year under review. No Director was involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

A nomination committee of the Board (“Nomination
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with Code Provision B.3.1. The principal responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

From 1 January 2022 to the date of this Annual Report, the
Nomination Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Nomination Committee during the
year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee held three meetings to review the policy for the
nomination of Directors, the procedures, process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend
candidates for directorship, the structure, size and composition of
the Board, to recommend candidates for directorship and to assess
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The process for the nomination of Directors, which is on merit
basis, is led by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy (“Policy”) which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board in order
to ensure good governance.
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In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant
and applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on
ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the
Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights
and challenge that enables the Board to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively, support good decision making in view
of the core businesses and strategy of the Company and support
succession planning and development of the Board. For achieving
an optimal Board, additional measurable objectives/specific
diversity targets may be set and reviewed from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness.

Selection of candidates will be based on the Policy and will take
into account this Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the
Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing on a
single diversity aspect.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the six Directors on the
Board came from various background and bring different business
and professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service to the Company and has contributed to the diversity at
the Board. For details of the Directors, please refer to pages 58
to 61 of this Annual Report. Diversity at the Board has enabled
the Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively,
supporting good decision making in view of the core businesses
and strategy of the Company and support succession planning
and development of the Board. In the future, the Company
continues to seek to enhance the effectiveness of its Board by
embracing the benefits of diversity in the Board.

As at the date of this Annual Report, there is one female Director
on the Board, namely Ms. Lam Ching Yee.

The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender
diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices, with the
ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity.
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The Nomination Committee reviews the Policy at least once
annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions to the Policy that may be required
and make recommendation to the Board for approval. The
Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of
this Policy by conducting review of the Board’s composition
at least once annually taking into account the benefits of all
relevant diversity aspects and adhering to the Policy when making
recommendation on any Board appointments. The Nomination
Committee also ensures that Board diversity is considered as part
of the evaluation of the Board's effectiveness. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, relevant trainings were provided to
the Directors from time to time to equip themselves with the
attributes and competencies required for the Board in light of
the strategic needs of the Group and the environment in which it
operates.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the
workforce level. As at 31 December 2022, the gender ratio of the
workforce of the Group (including senior management) was 4:1
male to female.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of
the Board and its respective committees and general meeting of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 are as
follows:

Board Meeting

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
attend attend attend attend attend
HE/AER HE/AER LE/ S8R
HE/ AER HEE% & # M HERE HE/SER
&F%Eﬁ ZEEEE 2ZAREEE 2 ZEE%E ULERFEAE
Name of Directors e BERY R R R R
Number of meetings held during RHBFERRTZ
the financial year BRI 17 6 3 3 1
Non-executive Director EHITES
Mr. Ng Ting Ho SEERE 1717 0/0 0/0 0/0 171
Executive Directors RiTESR
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MEEZL 1717 0/0 0/0 0/0 1/1
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu hERRE 1717 0/0 0/0 0/0 1/1
Mr. Liu Jinquan (appointed and resigned ~ 2|& &4 (DRI
with effect from 11 July 2022 and 9 “ZFtA+—H
September 2022, respectively) R_E-__&EhANAE
ELZEREHD 02 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors B JFHITES
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BjkmEE
(Committee Chairman) (ZFELF/E) 1717 6/6 33 33 1"
Mr. Chan Ming Kit PRt 16/17 6/6 33 33 0/1
Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul mEREE 16/17 6/6 33 33 1/1

Note: Attendances of the Directors who resigned during the year ended
31 December 2022 were made by reference to the number of
such meetings held during their respective tenures.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees paid/payable
to the Group’s external auditor, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong)
CPA Limited, for the audit and non-audit services provided to
the Group amounted to approximately HK$840,000 and HK$Nil
respectively. The total amount of fees paid/payable to other audit
firm for providing audit and non-audit services for the year ended
31 December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$235,000 and
approximately HK$381,000 respectively. The non-audit service
fees incurred consist of fees for taxation services, advisory services,
and company secretarial services of approximately HK$234,000,
HK$117,000, and HK$30,000, respectively.

DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under
the GEM Listing Rules, and management will provide information
and explanations to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company’s external auditor, McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities
is included in the Independent Auditor's Report in this Annual
Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Group and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. The Company Secretary
is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board procedures are
followed and that the Board is briefed on legislative, regulatory
and corporate governance developments. During the year under
review, the Company Secretary has taken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training as required by the GEM Listing
Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the
Group's systems of risk management and internal control and for
reviewing the effectiveness of these systems. The risk management
and internal control systems are designed to meet the particular
needs of the Group and to mitigate the risks which it is exposed
to. By their nature, however, such risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide
only reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board has engaged an independent
advisor to review the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material
financial, operating and compliance controls for the year ended
31 December 2022. Such review is conducted annually. The scope
of the review has been previously determined and approved by
the Board and the Audit Committee. The independent advisor
has reported major findings and areas of improvement to the
Board. All the recommendations have been properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they will be implemented within
a reasonable period of time. The Board is of the view that the
Group's current risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective.

As might be expected of a Group of its size, a key control
procedure is the day-to-day supervision of the business by the
executive Directors, supported by managers responsible for
operations and the key central and divisional support provided by
the Group’s financial information systems and human resources.
Key elements of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group as described below have all been in place throughout
the year under review and up to the date of this Annual Report
and are reviewed regularly by the Board:

e clearly defined management structure, lines of responsibilities
and delegation of authority;

e high recruitment standards and formal career development
and training to ensure the integrity and competence of the
staff;

e regular and comprehensive information provided to
management, covering financial performance and non-
financial measures;
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procedures for the approval of capital expenditure,
investments and acquisitions;

detailed budgeting process in which top management is
involved in budget setting, constant monitoring of key
statistics and review of management accounts on a monthly
basis, noting and investigating major variances; and

e consideration of progress made against significant business
risks at monthly management review meetings, with quarterly
briefings to the Board.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

e |dentifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business
and operations.

Risk Assessment

e Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

e Considers the impacts of the risks on the business caused by
the adverse events associated with the risks and the likelihood
of occurrence of these adverse events.

Response to Risks

e Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessments; and

e Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid and mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

e Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in place
and resolve material internal control defects (if any);

e Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

e Reports the results of risk monitoring to management and the
Board regularly.
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Inside Information

e The Group has in place, as an element of its risk management
and internal control systems, a policy on disclosure of inside
information, to ensure that inside information is handled
and disseminated properly and in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations. The finance manager of the
Company and the department heads within the Group are
responsible for monitoring the changes and developments in
their respective areas of operation and report any potential
or suspected inside information events to the Board. Based
on the information obtained through internal reporting, the
Board assesses whether any of the information constitutes
inside information which needs to be released to the public.
Should public disclosure be required, the Board will determine
the scope of information to be disclosed and the timing of
disclosure. If and when appropriate, the Board may seek
independent professional advice to ensure that the Company
complies with the disclosure requirements.

The Board has considered the need for an internal audit function,
and concluded that, given the size of the Group and its risk
management and internal control systems in place, it is not
necessary at present. The Board will review this issue on an annual
basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy with effect from 1
January 2019. Dividends may be paid out by means of cash or by
other means that the Directors consider appropriate. Declaration
and payment of any dividends would require the recommendation
of the Board and will be at its discretion. In addition, any
dividends for a financial year will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders. A decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of any dividends, depends on a number
of factors, including the financial performance and future funding
needs of the Company and other factors the Board may deem
relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject
to compliance with the Bye-Laws and the laws of Bermuda.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period.
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OVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with the Shareholders is given a high priority by
the Company. The Company aims to provide the Shareholders
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency
through the publication of annual, interim and quarterly reports,
announcements and circulars made through the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange.

The Board also maintains an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and use general meetings to communicate with
the Shareholders. The Company encourages all the Shareholders
to attend general meetings of the Company which provide a
useful forum for the Shareholders to exchange their views with
the Board. The Chairman and members of the relevant Board
committees and senior management of the Company are also
available to answer the Shareholders’ questions in the general
meetings.

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially independent issue
at general meetings of the Company, including the election
of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings of the Company will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting of the Company.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of its shareholders’ communication policy during the year under
review.

The Company has established different communication channels
with the Shareholders. Shareholders may raise their enquiries in
general meetings. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company held the annual general meeting of the Company on
10 June 2022 which were attended by members of the Board and
the Company’s auditor to answer questions from the Shareholders
attending the meeting.

B ERIBE

FABBEEREARRNBE - AATEBE
KRB FAOEETEFE FRTE
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KRB FHIERE -

EFgTEREARRFENS LA ARR
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HRERREmD RERN TABRMEEKRE
YEE (BEERENES) RRERE LR
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R BRERRZGERBRARBDERRKRG
FERBEART) R B3P A8 U5 LTI E -
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In addition, the Company endeavours to disclose all material
information about the Group to its Shareholders as effectively
and timely as possible, including the publication of annual,
interim and quarterly reports, announcements and circulars,
notices of general meetings, monthly returns on movements in
the Company’s securities for each month, and terms of reference
of the committees of the Board. Shareholders may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent such
information is publicly available. Shareholders may also at any time
send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing to the
Company Secretary at the Company’s office in Hong Kong.

In view of the above, the Company considered its shareholders’
communication policy effective.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing Shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no
significant change in the Company’s memorandum of association
and the Bye-Laws.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a general meeting

Pursuant to Bye-Law 58 of the Bye-Laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERERRS

ESh » RAB RN BRI ERFA MM B ERER
REFFAEEBAEENEANGK  aETISF
E-PHkFERS A RBER RRXE
BE -ARACREHANESFEHABRKURES
ZEENRELE - RRABRFRINAATZ
ARPEER - RETIBEHFENEEFEN
BN EHFEESATEAMER * 15T
ANEMEWR

i X A ATRAEREBERERS
L

REERE

RABDRURERKREE 2% > WANREIR
ERREKREEREEZBR - AREHRE
E-FNERARANTIRERR AEFTH
RABMEHZEHRHLFERATNREELZ
FTEEEMEL-

BHE_ T+ A=+—HILEFE &R
B2 B ERR KA R AE B B A Hf o

AR ERHEA]
REBHERRAE 2R

IRIRAR S 581F » (B — U EREZEK
BEFEARLRERBDHERE ERER
BIRRAE LREZEN) + 22 —HIRRR
EARREEEBOESTTNADWSEL
EEEX EXEZGARARRFRIRE KL
RIEFMERTPIERNEMER BZARGE
RIESEREREMERRRIT-HIEZ%
“t+—QNEBRN-EFERBEERKRG RIE
EERALEARBRBER74MEZIFXE
TERARE-

ERBEBRZERBRAR | S "FFHK 137



0

ORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEARS

N/

>

Such written requisition (i) must state the object of business
to be transacted at the meeting; (i) must be signed by the
requisitionists; and (iii) must be deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong in hard copy form for the
attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The requisition
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of the requisitionist(s).

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

Save for the procedures for the Shareholders to convene a general
meeting as set out above and for the Shareholders to nominate
a person for election as a Director pursuant to Bye-Law 85 of the
Bye-Laws, there are no other provisions allowing the Shareholders
to put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company
under the Bye-Laws or under the laws of Bermuda. Shareholders
may follow the procedures set out above to convene a special
general meeting of the Company for any business specified in
such written requisition.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. Questions about the procedures
for convening or putting forward proposals at an annual general
meeting or a special general meeting of the Company may also be
put to the Company Secretary by the same means.

ERZEEERNRYBARE LREEZEE ;
(VRREZZRATHRE ; Ki)BUNETE I
EEEXRTEBTEEEME  HHREST
WATME W - ZRAI U HE TR
fHAER ME M XHRR—RRULIEZ2EK
AEEZE-

RIRRAELR2ESR

Br EXFra IRER AR KRR ARG KRR IR HAM
RISESSIRIE R ABRIEEE 2 EFI ) RiRA
AR B REER TEAME S AFFRE
RERBREARG LIREEZ -REAIKR L
X PRERAE R LA R = E 2 R 5 R ERA
FEARAABRERFRIRE -

IREREF

RERAIRREZBEHDFTEERRBD ZEBE
BEFEME FAATWENR BRABRE
G -EHARARRRRBFAGRREILS
AREHNARE LIREEZRZEFZEH T
BIBBR—TTEFR T ARME -

138 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HANG TAI YUE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and re-domiciled and
continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 151
to 323, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN R S S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined the matters described below
to the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. The
key audit matters we identified are:

(i) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables;

(i) Provision for litigations;

(iii) Determination of the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"); and

(iv) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment
relating to the provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter
FAREZEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIIZHBENREE

FETEIZEIR (B)

(i) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and other

receivables

FEUWARTR B E R R F B e R MR IE Z R E B

Reference is made to notes 4(bb), 5(d) and 5(e) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and
notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements
for further information.

FH2RG ST FRKRMIE4(bb) ~ 5(d) & 5(e) ¥ HHEA & 51
B HET Rt 2 IR BE RSB BRRMEF21R222%#
— B

The net carrying amounts of the Group's accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and
other receivables were approximately HK$2,989,000,
HK$37,900,000 and HK$39,417,000, respectively, as at 31
December 2022.

N_E__F+_A=+—H> SEERBWERR EI
EREABE - REREMBWREBEZ REFED AL
2,989,000/ 7T ~ 37,900,000/ 75 5%39,417,00078 7T ©

During the year, the Group recognised allowances for
impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables and deposits and other receivables of
approximately HK$208,000, HK$70,000 and HK$ 1,330,000
respectively, in accordance with HKFRS 9.

FR> BEEEREEBMHREERFIRERD A
LR WL AR R~ PRI E SR A F) B DA Rz 42 <& e EL th FE WK IR
SHR Z BB R #49208,0008 7t ~ 70,0004 75 52 1,330,000
HIT e

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
of allowance for impairment on accounts receivable,
loan and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables included:

LB IR B RURN - RINE R R F] B~ 2% R H At
FEUWGRIR Z BB R E TG RPIRITHREFaE

— Obtaining an understanding of control and
procedures over the allowance for impairment on
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables,
deposits and other receivables and evaluating the
historical accuracy of the impairment estimation by
management, including revision of the purchase
orders from customers and loan agreements,
the controls over the approval, recording and
monitoring of accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables and
assessment of the collectability of the debtors and
the borrowers;

— TEREBYERD - BB RF] B2 REMER
B BEBENGIERER LT L EIEER
EE LAV BT (BIREST 2R B E P AVEREES]
B EM i B E o R BRI FRURERR ~ B
WE R B~ 1 K B FE Wk IR AY 128 6l DU
SHGER ARV AT EIM) 2 ZEREM ;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the Group's
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) models,
including the model input, model design, model
performance for significant portfolios. We assessed
the reasonableness of the Group’s criteria for
impairment by assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk that allowances
for impairment of loan and interest receivables,
deposits and other receivables should be measured
on a lifetime ECLs basis. We also assessed whether
historical experience is representative of current
circumstances and of the recent losses incurred in
the portfolios and assessed the reasonableness of
forward-looking adjustments;

— Mt EEEBEHREEGE (FHREEBE)) 2
ANEEY > BEEE2MASNEH AR R
et B RE - HMTHE SEBEPTANBIEE
AIRSEE AanttEERRES ARSI
m> MBERKER TS 12 E K 5 FE UK
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN R S S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)
REZFE (@)

(i) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and other

receivables (Cont’d)

FEURRTR  FEIRE R R F B~ e R EMBWRIEZ HERE (B)

The measurement of allowance for impairment loss, based
primarily on ECLs, requires the application of judgement
and estimation by the management. The Group’s policy
for recognition of allowance for impairment on accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables is based on the evaluation of recoverability,
ageing analysis and on management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
the debtors and the borrowers.
FERERBEERBETREGERBENGEEXE
EREERYE kst BEEEARMEWIR - BREMN
KA B~ RE R EMBUTRIEZ B EREREDBERTE
PEPTUR [BI14E 5T 4 ~ BR B D AT e B IR FE HI Ef T 28 E © FT 78
REHE AIEEF ARMERANREEE BTG
izl

For this reason, we have identified the allowance for
impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables as a key audit
matter.

EIE > AR EUERR - BIRE A B R R HME
WRRIEZ BEREY RRAREZEE
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Assessing the basis of management's assessment
of recoverability of accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables
with reference to the management’s evaluation of
the debtors or borrowers’ creditworthiness, debtors
or borrowers’ credit history including default or
delay in payments, debtors or borrowers’ settlement
records, subsequent settlements from debtors or
borrowers and ageing analysis of each individual
debtor or borrower; and

L BEIRE R RUER - BIRER R BT K
HEWRIE 2 ol B W (R SR B % T 2
ZEEEBHEFANERANEE -BHANE
MAWEEC ik (BEHRIEIRIR) ~EFA
HERANGEELRR  BEHEARBERANEEBLE
BB FIEEFHERNIRE DT IEL 2571 ;
Y4

Recalculating the amount of the allowance for
impairment under ECLs approach on accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits
and other receivables and assessing the sufficiency
of the allowance for impairment as at 31 December
2022.
RIEFEREEBEAZENtERBERN UL
ERMEAE e RAMBWREBEZ RERES
oUW _E__F+_A=+—HHRIE
BEESEH-
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)
FREZEE (@)
(ii) Provision for litigations

A ER

Reference is made to notes 4(cc) and 5(h) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and
notes 26 and 38 to the consolidated financial statements
for further information.

BHR2EGE P HREM 5EA(cO)R5(h)E B sHEER  F
B st 2 B RS MR RN 260 M382 E—F &
Ko

As at 31 December 2022, the Group was involved in several
litigations (“Litigations”) either in Hong Kong or the PRC.
RIBEZ_Z_HF+”ZRB=+—H> S&£EEREBERTH
EpE ek (TaFsEh)) ©

Included in the carrying amount of the Group'’s trade and
other payables, accruals and provision were provision for
litigations of approximately HK$52,666,000 (“Provision
for Litigations”), as at 31 December 2022.
RIBEZ—F+ZA=+—H FiE#%352,666,0008
7o (TEREREE) st A EEEE S REMBENRIE Bt
ERMEHEZIREIE

The measurement of the Provision for Litigations
requires the application of judgement and estimation by
management. The Group’s policy for recognition of the
Provision for Litigations is based on the prior experience,
legal advices and management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the possible
outcome of the Litigations.

A BERECEEERA RMEHETHE 85
EAERFLAEERIBRERBTIER EZEERR
EEEHETMETE - sHEFaAr ERIRNERB2/FH
REFIf -

For this reason, we have identified the Provision for
Litigations as a key audit matter.

FIt > FFIER A B AR BEEZEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIIZHBENREE

FETEIZEIR (B)

Our procedures in relation to management's assessment
of the Provision for Litigations included:

EEEH AR G RAIRTHEFERE

— Discussing with management and the Company’s
legal advisors to understand the updated status
of the Litigations and the possible outcome of the
Litigations;

— HEERER EABREREBETm U TH#
FrER B ERATIBE I A e sR PI SE LB IRAVAE R 5

— Reviewing the related correspondences between
the Group and its legal advisors as well as
correspondence with the courts (including but not
limited to obtain and review legal opinions from its
legal advisors);

— BR BSEEHEEZZEEZMERERERMUK
BLA BT 91 2R A5 B (B35 B A PR 7S JE BRI 25 B 2K
BEAEBREEERR) ;

— Performing legal search to ensure the completeness
of the legal cases involved by the Group as at 31
December 2022;

— ETEAREFAEURRFRSA BEERRZZE"C
+ZR=+—BRESNREEREH;

— Understanding and observing in practice the actions
that management has taken in response to the
Litigations; and

— BERTBKEREEBHFARIMAITE , &

— Challenging and recalculating the amount of the
Provision for Litigations and assessing the sufficiency
of the Provision for Litigations as at 31 December
2022.

— BRKENMSERLEESR THFEHER-F
_THF+ZA=+t—HBNFREEESEN-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN R S S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)
REZFE (@)

(iii) Determination of the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL

BRATEZEBERIIRZEMBEEZATEERE

Reference is made to notes 4(k) and 5(f) to the consolidated
financial statements for the disclosures of the related
accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes
23 and 42 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information.

FE2RGE M B IRRMEA(K) K5 E BRI & 5TER ~ A
B st 2 B RG S FHRERNF23IR2Z2E—TE
Kto

As at 31 December 2022, included in the carrying amount
of the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL were unlisted
investments and derivative financial assets with carrying
amount of approximately HK$102,271,000 measured with
unobservable inputs.

R_E__F+"A=+—H> EEERATESESE
BmilkzeMEERTDEE R REE4102,271,000
BT AURTTHERBARBSENFFLETRERITES

RBE-

The fair value measurement of these financial assets are
determined by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group.
ZEEMEEZ ATFESENHEA
BB EXLERMEE

EEBETEREL

We identified the determination of the fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL is a key audit matter due to a higher
degree of complexity and the significance of management
judgment that unobservable inputs involves in the fair value
measurement.

KPR EAFTEEZEBETDIIRZEMEEC A TEERE
JIRARERER RAAEEMEERSHAETER
MARRA S R A AR EA BB 2 AT ESEFHERA
i
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Our procedures in relation to the determination of the
fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL included:
MEATFEEAEBRIRZEMEEZ A TEEE
BMIRITHIZF &

Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation approach
and methodology;

BEIRfE KB ERS w7 R E R A R
THRVEZE ;

Evaluating the independence and competency of the
independent valuer;

LB I L ERPRYE LT R BETT

Challenging the management and the independent
valuer on the reasonableness of the assumptions
and estimations adopted in the valuation;
MEERRANBER R EFTESEEEEBEERE
FIBILAEEED ;

Checking and challenging the independent valuer
the relevance of the comparable publicly listed
companies selected for valuation;

Bz BB EM T EFTER B LR AR
LEHABINAERY ;

Working with the auditor’s valuation specialists to
review the valuation methodology, approach, the
accuracy of the calculations in the valuation model
and inputs used in the fair value measurements; and
Bz EEEREF BEREGERE &
B EEREPHAEREZERIER A TESE
FRERAZ @A B 5 &

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosure in

the consolidated financial statements.
EBEEGEUBERKRFMFINERTES
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)
FREZEE (@)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIIZHBENREE

E‘a fﬁ = 4(? % I/E\ (11\5)

(iv) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia

BL0 TR 1R LB TS B ARRA AR TS B BBV 3 « R B R ik th Z iR B 5T A

Reference is made to notes 4(aa) and 5(a) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for further
information

BH2REEE M RERM 5T4(aa) K 5(a) B ERE st EER ~ #
B S b5t 2 IR B R G S M BIRRNF 142 E—DER -

Included in the carrying amount of the Group's property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$156,771,000
as at 31 December 2022 were freehold land and buildings
with carrying amount of approximately HK$85,450,000
attributable to the provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia (collectively, “Estate Resorts”).
RIEZ_F+"A=+—H> EEEYME -BEKR
% Z BRE{EAY156,771,0008 75 > & P EIEFRMNIRHE
JE R AEREIARFS P 2 KA E R T MR IBF (RTE TRt E
Ef+]) 2 BRE{E4V85,450,0007% 7T ©

Our procedures in relation to management's impairment
assessment of the Estate Resorts included:

TEIRE S B EE RN ZREF G RANITRE
FEE

— Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation approach
and methodology;

— HEEE MBI GEM U T BEER AR
TRy R |

— Challenging the management and the independent
valuer on the adoption of the assumptions and
estimations in the valuation;

— BLERRANRE RMGsHEREIERE RE LG
EAM ;

— Challenging the independent valuer to ensure
proper comparables were used,;

— BREBIGEMUAERRBEENIBELLRY
R

— Evaluating the objectivity and competency of the
independent valuer;

— MBI EETNEREREN
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)
REZFE (@)

(iv) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia (Cont'd)

BL0 TR 1R LB TS B ARRR AR TS B BBV 3 « R B R sk 1R Z IR (BTG (48)

For the purpose of assessing the recoverable amount of the
Estate Resorts, the management engaged an independent
professional valuer to perform a valuation (“Properties
Valuation”) regarding the Estate Resorts based on
management’s assumptions. Significant management
judgement was used to determine the key assumptions
underlying the Properties Valuation, including (i) recent
market prices of the Estate Resorts; (ii) locations of
the Estate Resorts; and (iii) types of the Estate Resorts,
such assumptions and the valuation technique involves
significant unobservable inputs.

R LEMERERNZAKREEEE EEEEZE—%
B REGEN BBREEEZBRMEMEERNE
TEE (MEGE) EEEFUERFEUEEME
HEFMAZTE2R/E E(EMERERBRN ZITHAHE ;
(IWEHEEBRNZMUE; MiiEERBNZEE 2%
R RAEERMS RERT A EEH AR -

For this reason, we have identified the determination of
the recoverable amount of the Estate Resorts as a key audit
matter.

Mz RAREMEREBN Z I WEIESBEEINR
AR EIZEIR
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Checking with the comparable data through internal
or external sources, on a sample basis, the relevance
of (i) the recent market price of the Estate Resorts;
(i) locations of the Estate Resorts; and (iii) types of
the Estate Resorts; and

iR B EZE 2R 5 A ER a3 ERAY E B B EA()
BiEBE RN ZEHRTE (i) Bt EERNZ U
B KiNEHhEE RN ZEENOEREMY ; &

Recalculating the amount of the impairment on the
Estate Resorts and assessing the sufficiency of the
impairment as at 31 December 2022.
EMERMEERN ZBETRETER ZE
_THE+ZA=t—HZRBEREMK-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the
Company’s annual report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

ERMERZERBRAR | —Z2 - _FF3%

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN R S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

RN B IZ AR S MR RAK
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT'D)

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIIZHBENREE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN R S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT'D)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number — P06633

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

27 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reBmkEMEER@E R

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE—E_ —fF+ _H=1—HILFE

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B = FAT FHEIT
Revenue WA 7 134,373 1,799,501
Cost of sales 5 & A (75,790) (1,618,739)
Other income and gains HAUR A R Wz 7 30,883 61,912
Administrative expenses ITERS (104,218) (294,472)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment  FEWBRFN « FEWWE T K
loss on accounts receivable, loan and FEZ (RERHE)
interest receivables A EEIE RS O] 21(0) (278) 292
Impairment loss on deposits and RERAEMEWRIEZ
other receivables EE1E 22 (1,330) -
Impairment loss on goodwiill e O RERTE 16 (1,736) =
Gain on disposals of property, HEME BB REE WS
plant and equipment - 2,844
Written off of property, plant and MEEYZE ~ R st
equipment - (278)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA B W= FER 34(b) - 76,699
Net gain on deemed disposal of RIELENB ATz Wz /F 58
subsidiaries 34(c) 26,907 -
Loss on disposals of financial assets HERAFEEBEGYR
at fair value through profit and loss (MR AFEBEBRIERIIER)
("FVTPL") ZEMEE IR - (9,034)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets A (EFHEBEIE@IR 2 S/
at FVTPL BEZATE EBB) MWa (2,244) 345
Fair value gain on derivative financial TETmEaE 2 A FEFEKRTE
liabilities 28 73 -
Share of results of associates paNlat A—/NSIE 18 11,476 21,425
Finance costs B A 9 (9,238) (28,428)
Profit before tax PRI BT R T 8 8,878 12,067
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfiigse () 10 1,047 (1,226)
Profit for the year KEE#HF 9,925 10,841
Other comprehensive income, Hith2mas o HARIRIE
net of tax
Items that may be reclassified HENKBEEHRATSEEN T
subsequently to profit or loss in FHRmZHEE
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences arising on translation 2 & /85N & A B B 75 R &
of financial statements of overseas EEXZERELE
subsidiaries 2,416 1,422
Reclassification of translation reserve REERB AR RENFE
upon disposal of subsidiaries VE GO E = 5,682
Reclassification of translation reserve RAEEHENB AR RENR
upon deemed disposal of subsidiaries faPE R 459 -
Item that will not be reclassified to  FFEEM P EERZZHEE -
profit or loss:
Fair value loss on financial assets BATEZAHEMEE NG
at fair value through other HER (MRATEBEEH M
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") EEWRETIR) 2ERMEE
ZAFERIE (40,277) (37,506)
Other comprehensive income AEEHEHMEEE
for the year, net of tax MNBRIRIE (37,402) (30,402)
Total comprehensive income for the year AN E 2 EU 488 (27,477) (19,561)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

m R EMEE @

I\T I:I

For z‘he year ended 31 December 2022
BE_E -+ _F=+—HIFE

2022 2021
ZEIZE | T
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FH7T
Profit for the year attributable to: THALTEEEFEEEF :
The shareholders of the Company ZNNEIE S 12 11,205 55,699
Non-controlling interests RS (1,280) (44,858)
9,925 10,841
Total comprehensive income TIHALTEEEEEZT
for the year attributable to: Yz 4R%E -
The shareholders of the Company RABIRRE (25,985) 25,937
Non-controlling interests JEER T (1,492) (45,498)
(27,477) (19,561)
Earnings per share SkEH
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARREE B 12 0.21 1.04
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
l\\7l_ /| /E\ZI-%&%;R%

At 31 December 2022

R CE_HF+H=1—H

2022 2021
—EICHF B —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
5T FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ R e 3R 14 156,771 159,699
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 7,518 11,898
Goodwill S 16 - 13,339
Other intangible assets HihmAEE 17 = =
Investments in associates RBERTZKE 18 118,914 126,885
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFTEEBEMEZE NG
FER S RE E 19 3,185 6,759
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEEBEB@IES
TRIEE 23 49,455 79,456
Deferred tax assets IR IBE 29 1,170 1,245
Total non-current assets JEREEERE 337,013 399,281
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories =8 20 4,435 6,023
Accounts receivable, loan and FEWRR T RN E R K F B
interest receivables 21 40,889 56,877
Prepayments, deposits and SEANESER Tﬁ%&ﬁ@
other receivables e P 22 43,309 37,301
Financial assets at FVTOCI B2/ EF{ELLHTJ@EEH&M
FER Y SR E E 19 91,701 137,978
Financial assets at FVTPL BN EEBIERYRY
TMEE 23 68,170 9,595
Cash and cash equivalents REMERRETEH 24 9,313 10,839
Total current assets TMENE EAEE 257,817 258,613
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Contract liabilities BH8E 25 8,146 7,467
Trade and other payables, B 5 REMBEALRRIE
accruals and provision fEst &R R A 26 101,501 114,798
Lease liabilities HEadE 15(b) 3,428 3,406
Interest-bearing bank and SFEIBITRAEMMEE
other borrowings 27 83,822 86,827
Derivative financial liabilities TTEEREE 28 402 438
Tax payable FE(ITRIE 57,683 64,364
Total current liabilities MENE{E4BREE 254,982 277,300
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBIEE (AR) 3% 2,835 (18,687)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BELERREEE
LIABILITIES 339,848 380,594
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B
At 31 December 2022
K-E-—#4+-F=+—H

2022 2021
T HF —EC—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000
B 5T FHET T8
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Interest-bearing bank and SHRIRITREMBES
other borrowings 27 31,507 48,048
Convertible loans AR ER 28 7,715 6,584
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(b) 4,721 8,151
Total non-current liabilities ErREaEiEzE 43,943 62,783
NET ASSETS BEEFE 295,905 317,811
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B A B it
Share capital fig 30 53,362 53,362
Reserves R 32 242,877 269,364
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE IR FE(L 2R
SHAREHOLDERS 296,239 322,726
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS JEIERR S (334) (4,915)
TOTAL EQUITY dErER 295,905 317,811

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors (the
"Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”) on 27 March 2023

and signed on its behalf by:

Ng Ting Ho

BiE
Director

EF
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TRt tHMERRENE WA T

PIANETHREE

Lam Ching Yee

MEFE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

l\\7l_ /| *ﬂﬁﬁ:&m < @J%

For the year ended 31 December 2022
E_E T A=+ —HILFE

Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company

FAFRRME
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets
at FvTOCI Non-
Share Share  Contributed  Translation Other (non-  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* surplus® reserve* reserve* recycling)* losses* Total interests equity
RATEE
BEMRE
WGk
SHMEEZ
ATERE
(-2 RVEE  RERR ER kb Hitfife  (FAIBE)*  RitisE: @ FERER L 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TR TR FET TR TR TR FET TR
At 1 January 2021 53,362 510,233 693,308 (13,617) 7,304 (175,050) (776,682) 298,858 (38,813) 260,045
Profit for the year - - - - - - 55,699 55,699 (44,858) 10,841
Other comprehensive income AEEEMEERE
for the year:
Exchange differences related to overseas  SLE 5N B AT ARG
subsidiaries EREDR - - - 2,062 - - - 2,062 (640) 1,422
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHRBAR - = = 5,682 = = = 5,682 = 5,682
Fair value loss on financial assets RATERBHMEERTIIRZ
at Fv10C! EHEENATERRE - - - - - (37,506) = (37,506) S (37,506)
Total comprehensive income FEEZERGEEE
for the year - - - 7,744 - (37,506) 55,699 25,937 (45,498) (19,561)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEMBAR - - - - - - - - (5,310) (5,310)
Change in ownership interest REANEHIEEEL
in a subsidiary that does not —EHBABIMAER
result in a loss of control - - - - 502 - - 502 4,499 5,001
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - (2,571) - - (2,571) 80,207 77,636
At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022 53,362 510,233 693,308 (5.873) 5,235 (212,556) (720,983) 322,726 (4,915) 317,81
Profit for the year - - - - - - 11,205 11,205 (1,280 9,925
Other comprehensive income Kﬁrﬁﬁi@ﬁuiﬁ :
for the year:
Bxchange differences related to overseas ~ ELESMN B AT BRI
subsidiaries ERES - - - 2,628 - - - 2,628 (212) 2,416
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RIELERBAR - - - 459 - - - 459 - 459
Fair value loss on financial assets BRATERBEMEERGIIEZ
at Fv10C! EMEENATERE = = = - - (40,277) = (40,277) = (40,277)
Total comprehensive income FEEREREER
for the year - - - 3,087 - (40,277) 11,205 (25,985) (1,492) (27.477)
Disposal of investments in listed equity ~ HERATEBBEMEZEREIIRZ
securities at FVTOCI LHERAESRE - - - - - 21,251 (27,251) - - -
Change in ownership interest REEHIEEEL
in a subsidiary that does not —BHBABMARRREE
result in a loss of control - - - - (502) - - (502) (4,499 (5,001)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RIEELERBAR - - - - - - - - 10,572 10,572
Transfer in contributed surplus due to R RN G EBREBHRE
cancellation of share premium - (510,233) 510,233 - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2022 RIB--#+-A=+-A 53,362 - 1,203,541 (2,786) 4733 (225,582) (737,029) 296,239 (334) 295,905

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of %

approximately HK$242,877,000 (2021:

HK$269,364,000)

the consolidated statement of financial position.

ERBEBRZERBRAR | S "FFHK
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_E -+ _F=+—HIFE

2022 2021
ZEIZE | T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FH7T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REKEXBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax PRAR AT E A 8,878 12,067
Adjustments for: LR AIEB B REE
Bank interest income IRITH S WA 7 (1) (198)
Finance costs BLE A A 9 9,238 28,428
Amortisation of other intangible HthmA & E#H
assets 17 - 264
Depreciation of property, ME--BERRIBINE
plant and equipment 14 8,157 25,204
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERESERE 15(a) 3,971 36,292
Share of results of associates DMEHERABIES 18 (11,476) (21,425)
Loss on disposals of HER AT EEBBGRS
financial assets at FVTPL RZEMBEZEHIE - 9,034
Fair value loss/(gain) on BATEEBBETYIRY
financial assets at FVTPL TMEEZATE
518 (W) 2,244 (345)
Fair value gain on derivative financial TTEEmats
liabilities NEEWER 28 (73) -
Impairment loss on goodwill e 7 RERE 16 1,736 -
Impairment loss/(reversal of FEURBRAR ~ IR B M
impairment loss) on accounts MEZRERE
receivable, loan and interest AT 2Ei=E{Cl)
receivables 21(c) 278 (292)
Impairment loss on deposits and B REMEBWRIEZ
other receivables BEEE 22 1,330 -
Gain on disposals of property, HEME -BEKREZEZ
plant and equipment Wz = (2,844)
Written off of property, WEEYZE ~ RS e s
plant and equipment 14 - 278
Net gain on deemed disposal RIEHERBABZ
of subsidiaries W e H 8 34(c) (26,907) -
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR ZWmFEE  34(b) - (76,699)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GLEIRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F - —#+ o —HIEE

2022 2021
—EICHF B —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
5T FET FAET
Operating cash flows before EETEEAIZ
working capital changes ?%%ﬁ%uu% (2,625) 9,764
Decrease in inventories FaREb 230 2,845
Increase in contract assets BHBEELMN - (134,194)
Decrease in accounts receivables, FEWBR T BN E R ke
loan and interest receivables ) 2o 12,684 35,040
Increase in prepayments, FETFRIE ~ IR IE &
other receivables and other assets HAh& EEm (13,276) (77,659)
Increase in contract liabilities BHBEEM 1,143 1,724
Increase in trade and other payables, B 5 hkEMEARRIE
accruals and provision FEST & B R g 0 19,079 39,076
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BERATEBEBBEmYR
ZEMEE (8,956) (78,962)
Proceeds from disposal of HERATEFEBIERYR
financial assets at FVTPL ZEMEEMERIE 1,077 22,889
Cash generated from/(used in) EFTS/ (PR¥E) 2HR%
operations 9,356 (179,477)
Income tax: FTiEiR -
— Overseas tax refunded —R[E]8IMRIE - 2,699
NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) IREEBFRTS (FRFE) IR
OPERATING ACTIVITIES MEFEE 9,356 (176,778)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REKREFHNZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEEVE BEAREBER
plant and equipment 14 (15,356) (88,374)
Bank interest received BUWERITH] B 7 1 198
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RN BRI IRITER - 13,000
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEVE -BERKEZ
plant and equipment k== - 23,714
Proceeds from disposal of financial ﬁ’iﬁ’&quﬁi_i_ﬁﬁiﬁ
assets at FVTOCI WmFRz EHMEEZ
Frig§I8 1,690 —
Capital injection to investments mEEABRELTE
in associates - (18,305)
Dividend received from an associate WEERE AR 2 IR E 18 27,184 —
Net cash outflow from acquisition WRENBA AT Z
of subsidiaries IRE ML FEE 34(a) - (7,460)
Net cash outflow from disposal HERBATZ
of subsidiaries REMH P EE 34(b) - (42,967)
Net cash outflow from deemed BIEHERBARZ
disposal of subsidiaries REmEFEE 34(c) (543) =
NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED) IN KREIEEFE (FTFE) R
INVESTING ACTIVITIES MR 12,976 (120,194)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_E - H=+—HILEE

2022 2021
T HF —EC—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000
B 53 FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING KEMEEHZ2HRERE
ACTIVITIES
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BEFRIRITREMBES
and other borrowings 34(e) (32,240) (61,705)
Interest paid BT 34(e) (8,077) (22,490)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEEZERED 34(e) (3,275) (40,386)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BfHEEZF B 34(e) (502) (4,338)
Inception of interest-bearing bank and 1 uﬁ%fﬁﬁ&ﬂfﬂfﬂg
other borrowings 34(e) 19,950 339,253
Proceeds from issue of convertible loans  ZX{T R G EHPREHIE 28 600 7,000
NET CASH FLOW (USED IN)/FROM RO EEN (FR¥E) FRISIRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REPEE (23,544) 217,334
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERZERREEB Z D
CASH EQUIVALENTS HEE (1,212) (79,638)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MRENZRERER
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR R&EEE 10,839 89,480
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE X EE
RATE CHANGES (314) 997
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MREXRZRERER
AT END OF YEAR R&EE 9,313 10,839
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERERREIEB &GN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & KIR1T4SER 24 9,313 10,839

158 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was redomiciled and
continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited
liability. The registered office of the Company is located at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.
The principal place of business is 9/F, HKHC Tower, No.
241-243 Nathan Road, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The
Company's shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”); Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKAS"”); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange ("GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws
of Hong Kong). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are discussed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for
the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
l\\ﬂ— =} /\j%Q#E%M—J EI_I:E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_E -+ _F=+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

160

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
(March 2021) beyond 30 June 2021
Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Project Standards 2018-2020

Amendments to Accounting Merger Accounting for Common
Guideline 5 Control Combinations

The application of all new amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONT'D)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not applied any new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2022. The new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 -
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 -
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 —
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 8 —
Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred
Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities
Arising from a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKFRS 16 - Lease
Liability in a Sales and Leaseback
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2024

To be determined
by the HKICPA

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

1 January 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_E -+ _F=+—HIFE

162

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONT'D)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont’d)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—E_ —fF+ _H=1—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESSTHER (@)

(CONT'D)

(a) Consolidation (Cont'd) (a) ZAEAKR (8

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if
the holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’'s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between the non-controlling shareholders and
owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_E -+ _F=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(a) Consolidation (Cont'd)

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the Company.

(b) Separate financial statements

164

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received or
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

4. F

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(c) Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and
any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs
are incurred and the services are received. |dentifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the sum of the consideration transferred is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the
consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_E -+ _F=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(9]

Business combination and goodwill (Cont'd)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs") or groups of CGUs that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

(d) Associates

166

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible,
including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential
voting right contributes to significant influence, the
holder's intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right are not considered.

4. F

(9]

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(d) Associates (Cont’d)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values as at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_E -+ _F=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(d) Associates (Cont’d)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration
of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that associate and (ii) the Group’s entire carrying amount
of that associate (including goodwill) and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture, the Group continues to apply the equity
method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(e) Foreign currency translation

168

(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (“functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company's
functional and presentation currency.

4. F

(d)

(e)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESSTHER (@)
(CONT'D)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Cont’'d)

(e) SMEIAE ()
(i) & BRI FRETIIX G RAZE

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that
are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Cont’'d)

170

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of
the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

4. TBEEHR (@)

(e) SMIBIRE (B)

(iii)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual value over its estimated useful life on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings 40 years

Leasehold improvements The shorter of remaining
lease term and useful life

Plant, machinery and 3 to 10 years

equipment
Office and other equipment 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 10 years

Motor vehicles and yachts 5 to 6 years

r e B HRRME
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

()

(9)

172

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

4. F

()

(9)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEEFTHE @)
(CONT'D)
(9) Leases (Cont'd) (9) HE (&)
(i) The Group as a lessee (Cont’d) (i) ZEEELEA (B)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is EHEEXRCE HEABY T

initially recognised at the present value of the lease HEARN MG B IRE RS

payments payable over the lease term, discounted WEAEERRESHF IR 5

using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that MM EE LK ZETE  AlEAME

rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant I EERA K - RIBSES T

incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be HEEREHNBEENMRIRE A

made under reasonably certain extension options are BENGFER NGB HERE A

also included in the measurement of the lease liability. EaGEREHENATE MAEH

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured S ARRAEBRN AR -

at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated

using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an REBCRRIEEH A XN EHEE

index or rate are not included in the measurement IRt ABEEENFE FIt

of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit REEENS AR BEEINR
or loss in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the REBTEREGERIE KEH !

Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing e TEOIAEIBR T ERAER A
received by the individual lessee as a starting AREEBZE=ZFTMEAE
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing BHFHABRURIRBERS
conditions since third party financing was B FRMBLURR B KRG 2 &
received; g ;

e uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk- o FREMZE Ef‘ﬁ#%l@ﬂ
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases FIFBEHEZEERR (R
held by the group companies, which does not jt’_”“_ﬁnﬁéf) ﬁ%?ﬂi\ﬂf&ﬂﬂ
have recent third-party financing; and IS

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, e ETHRTENHEEZRE AWM
country, currency and security. HARR X~ B8 K338 o
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(g) Leases (Cont'd)

174

(i) The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to
the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a
starting point to determine the incremental borrowing
rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

4. F

BEEER (8

(o) FAE (4
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESSTHER (@)

(CONT'D)
(9) Leases (Cont'd) (9) 1HE (&)

(i) The Group as a lessee (Cont’d) (i) ZEEEBEFAN (B)

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are any
rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In
such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and
recognised the change in consideration as if it were
not a lease modification.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(g) Leases (Cont'd)

(i) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

176

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their useful lives are as
follows:

Wine membership 5 years
Copyright 10 years
Domain name 15 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.
If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

4. F

(9)

(h)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

()

()

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECL") in accordance with the policy set out in
note 4(bb) and are reclassified to receivables when the
right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognizes the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial

178

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

4. F

(k)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial

)

instruments (Cont’d)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial
assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONT'D)

)

180

Financial assets (Cont'd)
Debt investments (Cont’d)

— fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") — recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

— FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer's perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of
whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.

4. F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(m) Accounts receivable and other receivables

(n)

(o)

(p)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flow. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(q) Convertible loans

(r)

(s)

182

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert the
loans into equity instruments, other than into a fixed
number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion price,
are regarded as combined instruments consisting of a
liability and derivative components. At the date of issue,
the fair value of the derivative components are determined
by using an option pricing model; this amount is carried
as derivative liability that is subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds
is allocated to the liability component and is carried as
a liability at amortised cost using the effective interest
method until extinguished on conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs, if any, are apportioned between the
liability and derivative components of the convertible
loans based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and derivative components on initial recognition. The
portion related to the derivative component is expensed
immediately.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

4. F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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==

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESSTHER (@)
(CONT'D)

() TEERMIARYHNEIE

(t) Derivative financial instruments and hedge

accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting
period.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid
contract that also includes a non-derivative host — with
the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined
instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone
derivative.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with a financial
asset host within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated.
The entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently
measured as either amortised cost or fair value as
appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with hosts
that are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9
are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the
definition of a derivative, their risks characteristics are not
closely related to those of the host contracts and the host
contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

If the hybrid contract is a quoted financial liability, instead
of separating the embedded derivative, the Group
generally designates the whole hybrid contract at FVTPL.

TTETERSTUTTETAESHNERY]
TRAFEES ﬁfﬁﬁ’?%%ﬁi/ﬁﬂﬂi
B ATEEHH B

BRAXTTELEARAESH (FE1EIE
TEFEN) NERI D HEEAS
HITENBRIREREUABUNEIL
TETENAFEH -

BRARBBU RS ZERFREREA
%%Eiééﬂ‘:*ﬁ’]ﬁéé?’]ﬁ’]ﬁilﬁ

TEHEY -BEESGHOREH
ﬂ$%’2ﬂzfﬁ GER) DRI HE

D‘I’%O

ERAFEHN WIEEBH RS ZEL
FORBEANNERMEE) WEEGEN
NITETERESTETIAENEERZ H

JR B 4 1 B 3 S A9 B R B S A e
t)]%fH% Eié\?’]jﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ\@i@
BasrtE2R ZETETERRAR
_LT/T/:_EIEO

MRBEEENEERENEMER
FEEBEREERESENIEERE
NFEFEEEBETYIR MIFFETR AT
TTETHBREY

ERBEBRZERBRAR | S "FFHK 183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Z'i" PAN
759y =

AR R MY 51

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_E -+ _F=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(u) Revenue recognition

184

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the promised
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

() Mobile internet business

Provision of IT services

Revenue from rendering of IT services is recognised
over time using an input method to measure progress
towards complete performance of the services,
measured by reference to the proportion of work
completed to date to the estimated total work of the
relevant contract.

4. F

(u)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESSTHER (@)

(CONT'D)

(u) WAFESR (B)
ERESHIBA (8B)
() BEOBHHEFEE (&)

(u) Revenue recognition (Cont'd)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

(1)  Mobile internet business (Cont’d)

Maintenance services

Revenue from provision of maintenance services is
recognised over the maintenance period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group. Advances are normally required before
rendering the services.

Retail commerce through network media

Revenue from retail commerce through network
media is recognised at a point in time when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the promised consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

(i) Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

Revenue from hotel accommodation and other
ancillary services is recognised over time in the
accounting period in which the control of the products
or the services are transferred to the customer because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as it
performs.

Revenue from sales of hotel supplies and food and
beverage in hotel business and food and restaurants
operation is recognised at a point in time when the
control of the products or the services is transferred to
the customers, being when the products are delivered
to the customers, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customers’ acceptance of the
products and the customer has obtained the physical
possession or the legal title of the products and the
Group has present right to payment and the collection
of the consideration is probable. The Group controls
the products in these transactions and, therefore, the
Group is the principal and revenue is recognised on a
gross basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(u) Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

(v)

186

Revenue from other sources
Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised at the time when the
shareholders’ right to receive the dividend have been
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all
of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when it made contribution to the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in future years.

4. F
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESSTHER (@)

(CONT'D)

(v) Employee benefits (Cont'd) (v) BEEF (&)

Pension scheme (Cont’d)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") are
required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years.

The employees of the Company’ s subsidiaries in Australia
are entitled to benefit from the employee’s complying
superannuation plan on retirement, disability or death.
These subsidiaries are responsible for making contributions
to the plan at a certain percentage of employees’ wages
or salaries. The subsidiaries’ legal or constructive obligation
is limited to these contributions, which are recognised
as an expense as they become payable. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future years.

The Company’s subsidiary in Indonesia provides defined
post-employment benefits to its employees in accordance
with Indonesia’s local labour law No. 11 of 2020 on Job
Creation. The liability recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position in respect of the defined
benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less
the fair value of plan assets (if any). The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method. The present
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of government bonds that are denominated
in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and
that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms
of the related pension obligation. Actuarial gains and
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions charged or credited to equity
in other comprehensive income in the period in which
they arise and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Past-service costs and net interest on the defined benefit
liability are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Gains
or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined
benefit plan are recognised in profit or loss when the
curtailment or settlement occurs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(v) Employee benefits (Cont’d)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

(w) Share-based payments

188

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(w) Share-based payments (Cont’d)

(x)

(y)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or, if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(y)

(2)

190

Borrowing costs (Cont'd)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to
the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during
the period, other than borrowings made specifically for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asses. Any specific
borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset
is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESSTHER (@)

(CONT'D)

(z) Taxation (Cont'd) (z) MI1E &B)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax
credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(2)

192

Taxation (Cont'd)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESSTHER (@)

(CONT'D)
(aa) IFERAE ERIE

(aa)Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that
are not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment
and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as
an expense through the consolidated statement of
profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being
measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
first against the goodwill of the unit and then prorate
amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by
changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment.

(bb)impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, contract assets
and bank and cash balances. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(bb)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The
expected credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,

including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition (stage 2) or credit-
impaired (stage 3). However, if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to

12-month ECL (stage 1).

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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